
(TENTATIVE) BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

 

June 20, 2023 – 5:00 PM 

Effingham County Administrative Complex 

804 South Laurel Street, Springfield GA 31329 

 

The Georgia Conflict of Interest in Zoning Action Statue (O.C.G.A. §§ 36-67A-1 et seq.) requires disclosure of certain 
campaign contributions made by applicants for rezoning actions and by opponents of rezoning application.  A rezoning 
applicant or opponent of a rezoning application must disclose contributions or gifts which in aggregate total $250.00 or 
more if made within the last two years to a current member of Effingham County Planning Board, Board of Commissioners, 
or other Effingham County official who will consider the application.  The campaign contribution disclosure requirement 
applies to an opponent of a rezoning application who publishes his or her opposition by appearance before the Planning 
Board or Board of Commissioners or by any other oral or written communication to a member or members of the Planning 
Board or Board of Commissioners.  Disclosure must be reported to the Board of Commissioners by applicants within ten 
(10) days after the rezoning application is filed and by opponents at least five (5) days prior to the first hearing by the 
Planning Board.  Any person knowing failing to comply with these requirements shall be guilty of a misdemeanor. 
 
“Individuals with disabilities who require special needs to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have 
questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities should contact the County Clerk at 912-754-2123 
promptly to afford the County time to create reasonable accommodations for those persons.” 

**PLEASE TURN OFF YOUR CELL PHONE 
 

Agenda 

Watch us live on our YouTube page: 

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UC9wRzS6f2pHHZG3IgRk3OUQ 

I. Call to Order 

II. Roll Call 

III. Invocation 

IV. Pledge to the American Flag 

V. Agenda Approval - Consideration of a resolution to approve the agenda. 

VI. Minutes - Consideration to approve the June 6, 2023 regular meeting minutes  

VII. Public Comments - Comments shall pertain to the agenda items only.  Should you wish to 
make remarks, clearly state your full name into the microphone before commencing to 
speak. 

VIII. Correspondence - Documents from this meeting are located in the Clerk's Office and on the 
Board of Commissioner's website. 

IX. Consent Agenda - This section shall include all routine items for which there will be no 
discussion.  Should a need arise for a debate, the item can be moved to the appropriate area 
of the agenda. 

1. [2023-313 Agreement] 

Consideration to renew the Intergovernmental Agreement between the Effingham 
County School District, Effingham County BOC and the Effingham County Sheriff’s Office 
for FY24 

 

1

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UC9wRzS6f2pHHZG3IgRk3OUQ


(Tentative) Board of Commissioners Regular Meeting Agenda – June 20, 2023 

2. [2023-314 Agreement] 

Consideration to approve to renew  the Fire Services Agreement with The City of 
Springfield for a one year period 

3. [2023-315 Agreement] 

Consideration to approve to renew Fire Protection Services Agreement with the City of 
Guyton 

4. [2023-316 Letter] 

Consideration to approve a Lease Termination Letter to the City of Guyton for the use of 
the Guyton Fire Building 

5. [2023-317 Agreement] 

Consideration to approve to renew the agreement with Tarheel Medical Billing dba 
Colleton Software, Inc for EMS Billing Services 

6. [2023-318 Agreement] 

Consideration to approve to renew the Agreement with the City of Port Wentworth for 
the use of an inmate work detail  

7. [2023-319 Task Order] 

Consideration to approve to renew the Task Order with Thomas & Hutton for 
Professional Consulting Services for Program Management 

8. [2023-320 Job Description] 

Consideration to approve and publish a Job Description for a Field Training Officer for 
Emergency Medical Services  

9. [2023-321 Appointment] 

Consideration to approve to appointment Rebecca Boston to the Coastal Regional 
Commission Council 

10. [2023-322 Appointment] 

Consideration to reappoint Bruce Peth to the Department of Family and Children 
Services (DFCS) Board 

11. [2023-323 Appointment] 

Consideration to approve to reappoint Gussie Nease to the Department of Public Health 
- Board of Health Board  

X. Unfinished Business - Contains items held from a previous agenda. 

1. [2023-300 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve a Second Reading of an application by Randy Hadden, Jeremy  
Nease, & Chuck Hildebrant to rezone 102.67 acres located on US Highway 80 from AR-
1 & B-3 to I-1, to allow for warehouse development Map# 354 Parcel# 21,21B,21C in  
the First District (this item was postponed 06/06/2023) 

2. [2023-312 Sketch Plan] Chelsie Fernald 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Randy Hadden, Jeremy 
Nease, & Chuck Hilderbrant for approval of a Sketch Plan located on US Highway 80 

2



(Tentative) Board of Commissioners Regular Meeting Agenda – June 20, 2023 

for "HWY 80 Warehouse," zoned AR-1 & B-3, proposed zoning I-1 Map # 354 Parcels # 
21, 21B, & 21C, in the First District (this item was postponed 06/06/2023) 

3. [2023-308 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by Jay Maupin as Agent 
for Oleg Mitnik for a conditional use located on Highway 21 South to allow for an 
automotive export yard in I-1 zoning Map # 465 Parcel # 1A in the Fifth District ( this 
item was postponed 06/06/2023) 

4. [2023-310 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by Jay Maupin as Agent 
for Oleg Mitnik for a variance from Section 3.4 to reduce or eliminate required buffers 
between I-1 and B-3 zoned parcels Map # 465 Parcel # 1A in the Fifth District (item 
postponed 06/06/2023) 

5. [2023-314 Sketch Plan] Chelsie Fernald 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Jay Maupin as Agent for 
Oleg Mitnik for approval of a Sketch Plan located on Highway 21 South for "Dickey 
Tract," zoned I-1, Map # 465 Parcel #1A in the Fifth District (this item was postponed 
06/06/2023) 

XI. New Business 

1. [2023-324 Ordinance] 

Consideration to approve the First Reading to amend Article VIII, Chapter 30 - Timber 
Ordinance of the Code of Ordinances of Effingham County and Resolution# 023-009, to 
amend and restate the timber operations ordinance for effective date and for other 
purposes 

2. [2023-325 Ordinance] 

Consideration to approve the First Reading to amend Part II, Appendix C,  Article II - 
Definitions, Article IX - Amendments to Map or Text and Article XI - Zoning Appeals of the 
Effingham County Code of Ordinances 

3. [2023-326 Resolution] Mark Barnes 

Consideration to approve Resolution# 023-010 to amend the Schedule of Fees 

4. [2023-327 Resolution] Mark Barnes 

Consideration to approve Resolution# 023-011 to set the 2023 sanitation fees  

5. [2023-328 Resolution] Mark Barnes 

Consideration to approve Resolution# 023-012 to set the 2023 fire fees 

6. [2023-329 Contract] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve to award Contract 23-ITB-031 for the EMS and Prison 
Maintenance Building Construction Project to McWright LLC 

7. [2023-330  Purchase Order] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve a Purchase Order with Custom Truck and Body Works, Inc. for 
the purchase of a Type III Ambulance 

 

3



(Tentative) Board of Commissioners Regular Meeting Agenda – June 20, 2023 

8. [2023-331 Agreement] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve Amendment 2 for the Agreement with The City of Pooler for 
the use of an inmate work detail  

9. 2023-332 Agreement] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve Amendment 2 to the Agreement with The City of Guyton for 
the use of an inmate work detail 

10. [2023-333 Agreement] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve Amendment 2 for the agreement with The City of Rincon for 
the use of an inmate work detail 

11. [2023-334 Agreement] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve  Amendment 2 to the Agreement with The City of Springfield 
for the use of an inmate work detail 

12. [2023-335 Agreement] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve Amendment 1 to the Old Augusta Road Water and Sewer 
Development Agreement between Effingham County and Cowan Investments, LLC 

13. [2023-336 Annexation] Stephanie Johnson 

Consideration to approve an Annexation Request from the City of Rincon for a property 
located along Old Augusta Road South, consisting of 5.08 acres Map# 475 Parcel# 57A  

XII. Reports from Commissioners & Administrative Staff 

XIII. Executive Session - Discussion of Personnel, Property and Pending Litigation 

XIV. Executive Session Minutes - Consideration to approve the June 6, 2023 executive session 
minutes  

XV. Adjournment 

4



Staff Report 
 

Subject: Consideration to renew the intergovernmental agreement between the 
Effingham County School District, Effingham County BOC and the Effingham County 
Sheriff’s Office for FY24. 
Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent  
Department: Purchasing / ECSO 
Meeting Date: May 16, 2023 
Item Description: Consideration to renew the intergovernmental agreement between the 
Effingham County School District, Effingham County BOC and the Effingham County 
Sheriff’s Office for FY24. 
 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends renewal of the intergovernmental 
agreement between the Effingham County School District, Effingham County BOC and 
the Effingham County Sheriff’s Office for FY24 
 

Executive Summary/Background:  

 Unfortunately school violence is a key issue in today’s society. There is a need for 
proactive planning for preventing future school violence. This agreement shows 
the commitment to collaboration between government entities to help protect 
children.  

 The Agreement commenced in 2018 and allows for annual renewals from July 1 
to June 30 each year unless 60 days written notice if given by either party. 

 The FY24 budget is $1,154,911.00 for 13.7 SROs (mix of FT and PT) 
a. BOE share 75%= $866,183.00 
b. BOC share 25% = $288,728.00 

The amount billed is based on actual expenses, so this number could fluctuate if 
there are open positions in the department.  

 The agreement has been previously reviewed and approved by the County 
Attorney. 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Board approval to allow the intergovernmental agreement between the Effingham 
County School District, Effingham County BOC and the Effingham County Sheriff’s 
Office to renew for fiscal year 24.  

2. Do not renew the intergovernmental agreement between the Effingham County 
School District, Effingham County BOC and the Effingham County Sheriff’s Office for 
fiscal year 24. 
 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: Purchasing / ECSO 

Funding Source: Department 17. 
Attachments: Agreement 

5

Item IX. 1.



6

Item IX. 1.



7

Item IX. 1.



8

Item IX. 1.



9

Item IX. 1.



10

Item IX. 1.

fcharleton
Typewritten Text
XXXXXXXX

fcharleton
Typewritten Text
XXXXXXXXXX

fcharleton
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Typewritten Text
XXXXXXXXXX

fcharleton
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Typewritten Text
XXXXXXXXXX

fcharleton
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Sticky Note
One year periods - starting July 1 and ending June 30 annually unless 60 day notice of non-renewal is provided by either party



11

Item IX. 1.

fcharleton
Typewritten Text



12

Item IX. 1.



Staff Report 

 
Subject: Renewal of the fire services agreement with The City of Springfield for a one year 
period. 
Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent & Clint Hodges, Fire Chief / EEMA Director 
Department: Purchasing / Fire 
Meeting Date: 06-20-23 
Item Description: Consideration to allow the Fire Services Agreement with the City of 
Springfield to renew for a one-year period. 
 
Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends renewal. 
 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 In 2015, the County completed a comprehensive review of its fire protection services. 
One of the recommendations of the study was the consolidation of County Fire Services 
with the City of Springfield’s Fire Services.  The term of the agreement is July 1, 2015 to 
June 30, 2018 with automatic renewals for successive one (1) year terms unless 90 
days written notice is given by either party prior to a new renewal period. 

 The Agreement outlines the terms under which Effingham Fire Rescue provides fire 
protection within the corporate limits of The City of Springfield. 

 Effingham County will no longer submit Service Delivery fire payments to The City of 
Springfield. 

 Effingham County will collect fire fees from properties within The City of Springfield. The 
fire fees will be collected at a rate equal to the fees charged in unincorporated Effingham 
County. 

 The Agreement has a 90 day prior to renewal termination clause. 

 The County Attorney has previously reviewed and approved to form the agreement. 
 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approve renewal of the Fire Services Agreement with the City of Springfield for one year from 
July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2024. 

2. Do not approve renewal of the Fire Services Agreement with the City of Springfield, and issue 
a non-renewal letter. 

  
Recommended Alternative: 1 
 
Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review: Purchasing & Fire 
 
Funding Source: Fire fees 
 

Attachments:  
Fire Service Agreement 

13

Item IX. 2.



14

Item IX. 2.



15

Item IX. 2.

fcharleton
Sticky Note
EFFECTIVE DATE - 1ST JULY 2015



16

Item IX. 2.



17

Item IX. 2.



18

Item IX. 2.



19

Item IX. 2.

fcharleton
Sticky Note
3 YEARS FROM 07-01-15 is 06-30-18 then AUTORENEW INDEFINITE 1 YEAR TERMS UNLESS 90 DAYS NOTICE GIVEN



20

Item IX. 2.



21

Item IX. 2.



22

Item IX. 2.



Staff Report 
Subject: Consideration to renew Fire Protection Services Agreement with the City of 

Guyton 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent; Clint Hodges, Fire Chief  

Department: Fire Department 

Meeting Date: June 20, 2023 

Item Description: Renewal of the Fire Protection Services Agreement with the City of 

Guyton 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval to renew the Fire Protection 

Services Agreement with the City of Guyton 

 

Executive Summary/Background:  

 The Fire Protection Services Agreement was entered into on September 17, 

2019 by Effingham County and the City of Guyton, with a term to terminate at 

midnight on June 30, 2020.  

 This agreement shall automatically renew for successive one (1) year terms, 

annually, unless either party notifies the other in writing at least ninety (90) days 

prior to the termination date of the then-existing term, of its intent not to renew. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Board approval for the renewal of the Fire Protection Services Agreement with 

the City of Guyton. 

2. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

 

Other Alternatives: 2 

 

Department Review: Purchasing, Fire Department 

 

Funding Source:  

 

Attachments: Fire Protection Services Agreement 

 

23

Item IX. 3.



24

Item IX. 3.



25

Item IX. 3.



26

Item IX. 3.



27

Item IX. 3.



28

Item IX. 3.



29

Item IX. 3.



30

Item IX. 3.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of Lease Termination Letter to the City of Guyton for the use of the 

Guyton Fire Building 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: Fire Department 

Meeting Date: June 20, 2023 

Item Description: Approval of Lease Termination Letter to the City of Guyton 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends Approval of the Termination Letter to 

the City of Guyton for the Guyton Fire Building Lease  

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 Effingham County currently has a lease agreement in place with the City of 

Guyton to lease a portion of the building located at 505 Magnolia Street as a 

temporary fire station. This lease is currently month-to-month. 

 Construction of Fire Station #13 is now complete, and the lease is no longer 

needed.  

 City of Guyton personnel have agreed to terminate the lease effective June 30, 

2023.  

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of Lease Termination Letter to the City of Guyton  

2. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: Fire Department 

Funding Source:  

Attachments:  

1. Termination Letter 

 

 

 

 

31

Item IX. 4.



June 20, 2023 
 
City of Guyton 
310 Central Blvd. 
Guyton, GA 31312 
 
 
Mayor and Council: 
 
The Effingham County Fire Department has completed the construction of the new Fire Station #13 
located at 91 Springfield Ave., Guyton, GA 31312. Pursuant to provisions contained in the CITY OF 
GUYTON, GEORGIA FIRE DEPARMENT RENTAL/LEASE AGREEMENT by and between Effingham County, GA 
and its Board of County Commissioners and City of Guyton, written notice is hereby given to your Council 
that the Board of Commissioners of Effingham County shall terminate said lease agreement as of June 30, 
2023. 
 
 
 
 
The Board of Commissioners would like to thank you and wish you continued success. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Wesley Corbitt 
Chairman 

32

Item IX. 4.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval to renew the agreement with Tarheel Medical Billing dba Colleton 

Software, Inc for EMS Billing Services 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: EMS  

Meeting Date: June 20, 2023 

Item Description: Agreement Renewal with Tarheel Medical Billing dba Colleton 

Software, Inc for EMS Billing Services 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 EMS utilizes the services of a third-party vendor to process payments from 

individuals who use emergency medical services. This agreement was approved 

by the Board of Commissioners beginning July 1, 2019.  

 Staff is requesting to continue with the agreement. This agreement has been 

previously approved to form by the County Manager.  

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval to ratify the renewal of the proposal from Tarheel Medical Billing dba 

Colleton Software, Inc.  

2. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: EMS, Finance, Purchasing 

Funding Source: EMS Budget 

Attachments: Executed Agreement and Addendum 

 

 

 

 

33

Item IX. 5.



AGREEMEI~tT FQR EMERGENCY MEDICAL BILLING SERVICES 

IS AGREE~r1ENT FOR C7ViF.RGENCY MEDICAL RlLLI1~IG SCRVIGES (the 
" Zreemetrt"} is made and etrtered into this  1st day of July 2019  (the 
" ective Date', by and between Tarheel Medical Billing, Inc. dba as Colleton 

` ware, a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Nexth 
lira (`rflletB"}, and Eflirrgham County F.rnerg+errcy 11►fedicat Services —a departanent 

o he County of E#l'rngham, a badtr politic of the Stage of ̀C~neorgia (tlie "Client"}. In the 
re cinder of this Agreement, 'TMB and Client shall be referred to individually as a 
"PMarty" and collectively as the "Parties." 

WHEREAS, TAB is itt the business of providing medical billing and collec~ron 
~viCes t0 the health ~ rt~stry; and 

WHEREAS, Client desires to obtain billing and collection services from TMB to 
as$ist in the coUedion of accounts receivable; and 

WHEREAS, TMB wishes to provide billing and collection services for Clier~ 
the terms and conditions self forth in this ,A► -

~~~4~~~~ 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the covenants and- promises contained 
the receipt ~ su~ca?zecy of whidr are Ia+reby acknowledged, the Parties 
agree to the following temps and condition: 

1. PURPOSE, The Parties hereby acknowledge and agree that during the 
Term (as hereir►after defined} of this Agreement, TMB will be the sole and exclusive 
prpvider of medical billing a~ collection services for Client {coIle+Kiv~y, the 

iacs'~. Client under;~ands, adanowleclges and. agrees they tyre gray be a000rnus 
igned to TMB pursuant to taus Agreement for which TMB c~termines, in its sole 

di retion, that collection services are not warranted. in the event that TMB makes such 
a about as account, TMB will return the arx~nrutt to the Client, sd advise 
C in writing, and TMB will have no obligation to perfor~<rr arry collection. services 
w~h reg~tad to the returned acoormt_ An}r addiitiwral services regrre~ted by Client of TR+IB 
nOt explicitly defined within this Agn nt will be eonsr~ed to be separate and apart 
frpm this Agreement and subject to negotiation and additional fees: for services rendered, 
p~tavided nD such additional fees shalt be r.~rge+d tv ~ incurred by Client withoag 
C~ierrt~s additior~l writtea cast. 

F r the purpose of this contract, a caUectible is deFi~d as the receipt of all information 
aired in order to properly submit the claim to the appropriate payment source. 

(A} 

Cliert represent and warrants m TMB as follows: 

That all accounts. referred to TMB for collection pursuant to this Agreement 
(i} have been timely referred to TMB, 
(ii} have ~t been charged offor otherwise redireed to a zero belanee, 
(iii} were generated in the orditrary course of busirres~, 
(iv} have been properly coded, 

1'gtge l of 1$ [ ~~ 

34

Item IX. 5.



(v) are c:olleetibie, revenue-generating accounts and 
(vii) have not. been art to Z'MB far account pnoaessing ~ any other type 

a~' administrative-type ~viae, with the exception of ~ninis~tive-type services that are 
i~cidemal to perfOtmimg cxfllection Services on res~nc~e-generating counts; 

(B) by entering into this Agreement and/or performing its obligations 
Client will not be in breach of any obligation ta, ~venant not to compete ar 

ve coverasnt ~ any third party; and 

(C) All amounts (including without limitation fees, costs and charges) 
included in all s nrferced to TMB for collection pursuant tc> this Amt {i) are 
p~rz3itted and are collectible ands: aIi fiedetal, state and kcal lava:, totes and cegulatio~ 
a~ptir..tbde to Ct'tetn, Clieart's business and `FMB and (ii} will be either (a) ex slY 
authorized by the agtcaetneltt creating the debt ar (b) permitted by law 

2. TERM OF AGREEMENT. The initial term of this Agreement shaft be 
a period of _3_ year(s~, ort the 1st day of iuhr ~ 20t9 , 
terraitta~ing ~ I I:59 p.m. ~ the  30th datr of .fume ,?022  (the 

'ti : T ")-

' Upon the ~ of the Ittitiat. Tee, figs Agre~u~ will ably renew 
f+¢r ~ to TWO (2) year geaiod {the `Renewal Tenn;'" the Trifler `Perm oral the Reneucrai 
'Krim, if exercised, are her+einaflker collectively referred to as the ""Ferm'~, an the same 
t and conditions set forth herein, unless Client delivers to TMB written notice 

U) 
(ll'j 

of termination or 
of Gltem's desire to renegotiate the terms of thcs Elm, at least 
n~+ely (90) days prior to the e~  of the th~a current Term.. 

3. TMB'3 RIGHTS, DUTIES & OBI.IG~i►TIONS. IC is hereby 
a~icti~vledged and agreed by the Pattie4 that, during the Term of this Agreett~ettt, TArIB 
~ provide the Serves for Client, ~ to the fal~wing c~ditians: 

(A} A.cxount.s Receivable Management Services, TMB will provide 
Client the following insurance filing and additional patient billing services: 

(i) I~ Filing. Claims for reitnbursexmertt ar p~  for 
a~rtbulance or whe+elcl~aur traaspmtation provides by the Client will be ~~ Ley 

carriers' by TMB after TMB receives the necessary data to Efts the claim via 
e the Electronic Patient Care Reporting Software. If the insurance claim remains unpaid 

nwne ihann Early-five {45~ days or TMB class not receive notifica#ian from the 
i mce cx y as to or refuse! of the claim thereat; TA~iB will, in `fMB's 
sole discre:tiaa, institute tte ry procedures to cantittue +collection of the aK:caunt as 
1`MB deems necessary. Accounts with outstanding balances remaining after the insurance 
cpmpany and/or third-party payor determines benefits payable wilt be billed directly to 

tote patietrtlguararttcx by ̀ C'N:B ar as dictated by the Client. Medicare and Medicaid claims 

v~ritl be filed bo the apprcHxiate stage and cx federal agency within S hours' receipt via 

"e 2 of 18 [nifials 

35

Item IX. 5.



{ 

(3~t~ eway ED[ intercha~age and will be ~aces~+d by TMB until all revenue resources are 
couected ar eligibility and payutc~t options ar+e exhausted. 

(ii) Direct Patient Billins~. At the direction and instniction of 
Cl ent, 'TMB will mail an initial statement of account to all patients/guarantors without 

and to patientlguarantor after nereipt of denial ar prattial ~ frtmr the 
company ar third-patty payer. Billing will only aacru after TMB re+eeives ttre 
billing dada via Fd'CR. After the initial ~ataneM, the It wit[ 6e ec~er+ed 

in ~ a thirty (30) day billing cycle. After an account reaches ninety (90) days without 
ac ~ vity that account balance will be cleared and TMB will no longer bill the account with 
tlr~ following exams: 

I'a~i~nts ace bitted by ̀1`14+1B as follows 

the call is received via EPCR from the company, TMB will send the patient a letter 
at~ fact stating that TMB is billi>~ the primary payer source (when uvaitablej far the 

ent and the call conducted by the cagy. 

P. lent P: Accounts 
patients without any additional sea3ndary source of payment, TMB will send. the 

pa~ient a bill and s~enueni on 3U days, 64 days and 9f1 days u . Faai+~ts that 
cc~ncmuticae a~titional iaforinati~n with TMB will cx~inue to receive monthly 
statements as long as the t is actively collecting funds ~ cammunic;ating new 
information. 

y patient tlmt request to pay the h~a{auce of their aoco~t. over a s~paciftc time frame 
El cacainue to reoeatve monthly staff to te~ct p~rymenls made an theme acdo~ 
once. 

C~meniat h~ and Medicare 
Afar we receive payment fcYxtr a primary payer souroe, TAriB will then M1t the patient 

b~alacrcx the exist an the a~urt. T1vtB vritt hilt the patient at 3t1 days, (~f1 days acrd 
9q-day intervals ar until the account balance is settled. Patients that request for a payment 
pl#n will be handled on a case by case basis. Statements will be sent monthly to patieNs 
paging balances aver time. 

d 
P,+ Medicaid law, TMB cannot legally bill the balance of the account. Medicaid under 

Carolina law, requires the biller to accept the Medicaid as payment in full and does 
allow f~ the patient to be billed for additionaal funds. 

Pie 3 of 18 Initial 

36

Item IX. 5.



(B} Provided Matenats. TMB will furnish and provic~ ail material 

n for biilirtg amts, includmg bud amt limited tv i~ claim farms, patient 
hers, paper supplies and postage_ 

(C) Deposits. TMB will mail all deposit and payments received by 
fl~+iB to of the Client. TMB will have na aw~thority curer any acaaunts maintained by the 
C"tecmt. 

(D} Accounts Receivable 1~ianagement Reports. TMB wilt provide the 
C em with accounts receivable management reports en a monthly basis. The reports will 

saelxnitted to the Client no iate~r thane the 1 tY" day of the following monffi via en~il ~ 
~t ~ fivm which T11olB receives the ePCR data. Tire reports shall include the 
fa►jlowittg inforama~ticru: 

(i} Monthly financial report reflecting the rn,onth-to-month and 
-ta-date ~Ytion stamnaries, including befit ntc~t limited to amrre~s belled, paid and 

t~nteatts; 

3 (ii) Check registry reports reflecting $ list. of revenues received 
ae~l totals; acrd 

(B} Return of Nan-Collectal~e Acrn~. T'MB avill pr+a►vide the C'tierrt 
w~h a mot~hly rst of all that TlbfB wilt rre longer bill and will return ati 
d umentation regarding such accounts to the Client simultaneously with the 
cx~resPonding aeccmnts receivable en~agerneat report 

(F} gatr-(Contra. TMB may, in its sohe dis~eietian, subeantraet any 
rk that it deems appropriate or necessary to third parties. TMB ageees to assume ail 

nsibilities for the work of the subcontractor and the fees charged by the 
see~contrador. 

(G} Discl»dmear of Waer~rties. R►'rth the exce~ion of the e!cpresx 
represerrtations and warranfies set forth in this Agreement, TMB disclaims without 
liipitation any and all promises, representations and warranties (express, implied, andlor 

cry} pertaining to any bi[lirrgJcolhectioet services itemished tue~zeeurdet. Additicxralty', 
makes no represeattatian or v+~rrattty as to the timing or to the amount ofcollectians 

be realized in connection the perform~tce of billing/colie,~tian services hereunder, acrd 
does not guarantee a specific collection percentage. 

P~gc ~# of 1$ Initials 

37

Item IX. 5.



(li} TMB mill proves all Medicare, Medicaid and cotrttnercial 
ins~umxx P~  trquited to receive the clis~ct's PTAd~! ~d NPI numbers and connect 
thgse mtmbers to any and all electronic submission requirements that TMB uses to 
submit Client's claims. The Medicare PTAN numbers and change of address requests for 

billing services tray take up to 60-90 days to be pt+o~ssed by ibe appro~iate 
iVi~dicaz~e soutrees. After the PTA1V numbers or change of address is received TMB will 

the paperwork W Client's PT"A~Y mta~er Ito TMB's s~mitter ID in cider 
to . ubmit all claims electrorticalIy and this process may take up to an additional 15 days. 
M • 'care payments are received via direct deposit to Client's account approximately 14 

aliter the call atx! all wag paperwork are submitted to T`MB. 

a. cL>~~rl~s R>rc~, Dcr~l~s ~ asL~c~~tal~l~. ~ ~ Term 
of this Agreement, Client agrees that TMB will be the sole and exclusive provider of 

ices for Client and Client wilt rtat er r into any other aygr~rrtents ar arrsngemants 
~. erring the billing and/or collection of ttceciicxdd ~ nor use self +~ ire-hc 

«, s an withotct TMB's written caot>settt tlxrcta, not tube ably vrit~d. T6ia 
is subject to the following conditions: 

(A} Provide ltcfannation. Client agrees to pmvide all necessary 
daeutnentatian for bi!li~, and claims prac~sing includ'mg, but not limited to, the 
fallowing: 

(i} All information as required from time tv time by TMB to 
accounts for services rencieted by the Client; 

(n') Lfieat w~i~ sad a BSO S or otltrr 
agreed ntron ePCR and wa! snbmft a~ reuaested iaforneatioa to TMB vis F..SO 
SQLUTIONS or otber stereed uuoa ePCR in a timelt+ manner. 

iii) Clierd agteces to keep a!! neoess~ry information to saupq~ort 
th~rc! batty claims, Medicare vetivers„ and medical autltori~atiotc rele~es on file in 
accordance with state and federal regulations. 'The Client also will norify TMB in the 
event signatures ace not obtained with each data file submission; 

(iv) Client shall retain and be re~onsib~ for ciazif}ing or 
obtaining any additiot~! information cry andlcMr legally fc~ billiccg 

1 ' ~ s/patients which shall include scanned copies of hospital records and other 
i ~ otmation provided by third parties including but clot limited to insurac~e documents 

patient in.~tnenents. htl'ormratia~ io be provided i~ndudes but is not limited to 
[~aqucied by the saRware, Man's sites  and do('tik''S signatures 

appliEcable; 

{v} Client shall promptly notify TMB of any change in the 
tioemagement of Client; 

5 of 18 Initial 

38

Item IX. 5.



{vi) Client alt promptly notify TMB of any changes to 
C~'uart?s inventory of vehicles, either through the addition of new vehicles or through the 
di~spas~ition of vehicles; 

(vii) Client shalt promptly notify TMB of any_change of address 
f~ (:bent; aced 

{viii) Any additional infomnttion reyuested by TMB rti ly 
and/or legally needed to p~/support a claim. Any such information will be submitted 
bT Client to I MB within ten (1 Q) clays of written request by TMB to the extent possible, 
aAd otherwise as prom~ty as pos~bM ther~eatlex. 

Gliem acknowledges and agc+ees that TMB shall have no obligatiem to commence 
c, llection activities on an account until Client has.provided to TMB all of the information 

aired pursuant to this Section 4(A). TMB may, in its sole discretion, elect to 
col~ian activities on an aacav~ prior to receiving ail of the info~ion 

ands this Section 4(A). 

{B) Transmission of Data. Client agrees to email all data collected by 
R within seventy-two {72) homes of receipt. "1'lte Client. shall immediately notify TMB 

the h~ission of the data be delayed far the CliercYs corntcol 
with the projected time is which the data will be tr~smitted. 

(C) Limited Power of Attorney. Client _hereby grants to TMB power of 
rney coupled with an interest for the lnupose of giving TMB peivnissian to sign on its 
fall forms and dnctmn~s nay for reimbuisem~t to the Clcea~t. TMB is 
inted ~: the of Client under this Agt~eement steely for the expuess p<apaa~es of 

t ~ s Agreement relatung to billing surd receiving Pa7'm~ ~ related rail, r+eoeiving and 
s ~ +ring documents, and communicating, with hospitals and other entities to facilitate its 
dpies. TM8 shall have no a~hcuity to pledge ~4  contuact, ~ uth+erwise act on behalf 
of Client eaaept as ~y ss~ forth hex+eein or a~roved in wYit;ng ht7eaft+er by Client 

i {l)) Achtress Changes.. Client agrees. tt? make. or allow TMB to make 
necessary address changes in order than payments and correspondence relative to billing 
activities may be sent directly t~+ TMB's mailing address. 

~ {E} Sigining of Forms. Cl~ agr+ees to sign alt forms that acre n~quir+ed 
b Medicare, Medicaid,. Champus and any other insurance carriers or payers necessary 
fc~r TMB to perform the Services. 

9 

{F) DELL t'h'13 To adhere to Fr+eecicm~ of Information Act 

(G} Copyrighted Matc~riaLS_ Client agrees and understaurds that TMB 

r;tains all o ship merest aind art rights W the all applicable software owned by TMB. 

b of t $ lnitial~ ~~~

39

Item IX. 5.



in the event of iermiaation, expiration or breach of this Agtrerr~nt, Client agrees to 
i lately return any sotlarane provided under the terms of this Agreement to 'TMB, but 
in event within thirty (30} days. Client shall rxtt make any espies of soti~vare provided 
b TMB. 

(lt} Pcrforma~e. Both patties usxltxsta~ and agree that ilte obligation 
the other parry to perform under this Agreement is conditioned upon th~r own timely 

ptianee with its terms and conditions. In the evert either party breaches any such 
or condition, or causes any such term or condition to be breached, the obligations of 

non-breaching party to perform under this Agreement shall automatically terminate, 
ar#1 that party shall have rx> further liability or obligation to the breaching party. 

(l) lteimbcuaemer~. Client shall reimburse TMB for reasonable casts 
arld expenses that TMB incurs to search, restore, compile, photocopy or otherwise 

uce and deliver information, data or documertts pertaining to Services provided 
er this Agreement a~rhettrer reque~ed by the Client, its agem and ~tatives, the 

for whom lx:althcare services mere provided, the r ib#e party an the referred 
ac~aunt, the U.S. Ckparirnr,~rrt of Health and Human Services ar any other petsao or entity 
er;titted to such infonnadan by operation of law or contract when sueh regroduciian 

i wires resources or effort that exceed what is necessary to provide commonly requested 
rarmafion. All reimbursements shall be maae within thirty (3i1} days of Client's receipt 

off' invoice far same from TMB. TMB shall exercise its best efforts to limit the casts 
cried with, and will seek the prim written approval of Client before, undertaking any 

a ivities under this provision for which TMB may seek reimbursement fmm Client, and 
e:~cepi to the extent any such activities are legally required to be taken by TMB, Client 
shall not be charged for or incur any ~ associated with reimbursing TMB for sutch 
activities if not pre-approved by Client. in the event that scrch activities are legally 
required to betaken by TMB, TMB will provide notice to the Client. 

(J) Non-Salicita#ian. During the term of this Agreement, sad for a 
period of taro (2} years thereafter, Clierrt agrees that it will riot, vrithcxtt the prior written 
c+0nsent of TMB, either airecily or indirectly, on its own behalf or in the service ar an 
behalf of others, knowingly solicit ar knowingly attempt to solicit any person employed 
by TMB, whether or not such employee is a full-time, part time ar temporary employee. 

{K) Direct billing - F.m~cy Medrral Services for stood by everrls 
During the term of this Agreement, the client may bill directly to the source for standby 
services provided to the entity where the client provides personnel and / or other 
r~saurces in exch~+ng~ far a flat fee. 'These services may ir~lude but is not limited to 

ts, festivals, sporting events, local racing facilities ar any othex activity where the 
mpany provides a sianci by resaruce and cluuges the organizer. These ~edviiies rr~y be 
lea by the c;amparty airectly without infarmir►g 'TMB. TMB will not be awed any 

compensation for these services either directly or indirectly 
5. itiiUTUAL RIGHTS, DUTIES & OBLIGATIONS OF THE 

t~AKTIES. The following rights, duties and obligations apply to the Parties: 

Page 7 of t R [nitiatsl/,~$ 

40

Item IX. 5.



(A} Compliance with local, state arrcl fedcrai r~cgulations. The Parties 
to cor~tly with ail ~piicabte ioc~1, she and federal laws, rules atr;i regulations. 

(B} Qperation of Law. in the event that this Agreement or any part of 
Agreement is deemed to be contrary to local, state, or federal law by counsel for 

CI :~ ~ or TMB, or, in ttre opinion of acrui~el, preser~s s legal risk to either 
P.+ , Gtient arm Ti4iB agree icr use their hest efforts to ice chaages m the A~ 

minimum extent r~ry to make this Agreement corgistern with applicable 
la s, and to try to retain as closely as possible the original terms reflected in this 

If this Agreement cannot be modified or amended in a way that is mutually 
GlieM asrd T,9efB and cam~ies w"sth applicable law af#~ Client and 'C1~B 

hake used thes best effa~ts, ttren citl~er Ctie~t or TINB may tenni~e itre Agreement. 
Cl~ and TIMIS expr~y adrnowladge ttra~ it lsa~s been and eo~ntim~es W be their intent 
to $omply with- all federal, state, and local laws, rules and regulations. 

(C} Record  The t'vties agree that TlkiB shall. retain, for 
periods} of time as TMB deems nevessary, such documents and ~ as ThiB 

ap~,►priate related fp dtis Agr+eerment and the Services gt~id~tl hereunder in order 
mpty with applicable laws, rules 8nd regulations and TNiB shall have the right to 

such its and. rec~ord4 to such gove~rrrn~tai authorities as rerluited by law 
stroll survive the n or termination ofthis Agra. to addition to 

otfter ~ of this Ag rreiit provid'uig that ~ do+euarnients andtor records snail 
be returned to Ciiemt following any terminatiozr hereof, to the extent that TAdH retains 
su~ documents andlor records thereafter, prior to finally disposing of same, TMB shall 
ex ~ se good faith e~rts to offer to deliver fire same to ClierK again a~ui at any arhial 

ably incurred by TtWB m dio so at such time. 

(D) Patient Confidentiality (HIPAA}. The Parties agree that Tl1+iB may 
be considered a "business associate" of Client under the Health Insurance Portahitity and 
A,de~ritability Act of 1996 grid its aceoingmrying r~egutatioas (I~iPAA} 

(E} Confidential hifmcnation. `Ilre Parties acknowted~ that fire 
Ca~nfidential Information (as hereinafter defined} of each Party is of substantial value and 
that its value may be destroyed by the disclosure thereof to a third party not cornkemgtate~d 

this Agr3eernent. Amy, the for tt~,,.~..lves and their rye 
layees and covenant and agree only to the exteirt permitted by law, that they 

t treat and hold as prime all Ccutfidential Infonn~ion of the otlnaer Marty aixi that they 
wi 1 not, without the express written consent of a duly authorized officer of the other 
P . ~ , diveitge, furnish. or make socessitrle to anyone, or otherwise disclose, directly or 

y, any Confid~l tnfa►rnunion. Additionally, the Parties, for themselves alid 
r res~xive ernpMyeres anti agernts, covenae~t and agree only to the extent permitted by 

la ,that tl~y will refrain from using any of the Confidential information except in 
connection with the performance of their respective obligations under this Agreement, 
an~i deliver prey to the a►iiax Party air destrey, at the regt~t and option of such Party, 
alb tangible embodiments (and all ex~pies} of Confidential Irrforrr~ion in its pos.,~sion. 
1~e term "Confidential Information" as used herein ir~tudes, tart is not limited to, "t`rade 

Page 8 of 18 Initial 

41

Item IX. 5.



Secrets {as hereinafter defined), any and all proprietary information, information no# 
r ade availabt~ to the public about sales, coats, pricing, marketing, ideas, pmblerns, 
devleloprttent~s„ r+esearoh nacords, technical da#a, s~mputer F P~ Plans for 
p uct or service improvement and development, business and strategic ptans and 
mrs~hods, lists of patients, customers or clients, expirations, fuuuarial information, 
fon~casts, p~ieu#, ~ or client necwr~d~s, acrd any other information a the 
Parties, their business, atl'aits, slmrr:holders, ot~'rcers and e~loyees drat is n~ alneadtr 
ger~aliy availsbte to the public and regardless of its form of maoditun. For pucpomes of 
tiv~ Section 5(E), the term "Trade Secrets" shah have the meaning ascribed to it in the 
Ido#th Carolina Trade Secrets Ac#, N.C. Gen. Star. § 66-152(3) et seq. 

The tens uCo Information" does nat urchrde: (i} boa which is ar 

P~ available other ~ as a tesrilt of ads bar the reoeiviag Patty in brrach of 
thi Agreement, {ii} information which is disclosed to the receiving Party by a third party 
on =. non~il basis witltcwt violation of this A or similaur eonffidentiality 

_~ ~ - ~ ~ ~ : ~ ~ or (iir7 infom~ion which is cf d vrititin the sole disuxction ~ t>pinion of 
',.._ : , . legal l t+a either party to be ~ to be disclaaod 'ue onm~iatae vviilr 

iicable laws or r+egulatior~, inetrulit~ without limitation laws applicable to Clierrtt as a 
toc~al government entity subject to certain open records caws applicable to such entities 
op itrg within iI~ Stye of North Carolina, or by order of a court ar a~thher regulatory 
boy of camp~ent }urisdiction. 

in the event. that either 'Patty, its employees or agents, are requested or required 
{b oral question or request for information or documents in any Legal proceeding, 

tlorr, Irr~ielI~Ugg" ilk►, 
SubQOL

en
,,
a~,,~OE Srirlil8t' p[Ot7eS3) to diSiC~OBe a11~P' C

.~
On,~I

„ 
s4~h Party, rtS empMyees or ate, wrll trotifj► the othrrr Petty pr+orupdy to 

of the tr;tjpE,St ~ ~~ so ~ sOCh ~ tnay SCek. ~ 

p ~ tective order or waiver in compliance with the provisions of this Section 5{E). If, in 
absence of a protective order or the receipt of a waiver hereunder, a Party, its 

or amts are, crrr adviQe of coe~el, campellecl to disclose any Corrfidetrtial 
ln on to any legal triburrat art +else sfiarul liable for rpt, such Party, its 
~rpkryees or agents, rrxiy d~rsdose the Confide~"al Infonnatioa to the tn~niiral; provided, 
hoPrever, that such Party, its employees or agents, shall use their best efforts to obtain, at 
the request of the other Pasty, an order or other assurance drat confidential treatment will 
be accorded to such portion of the Conf ial bin rr:~rined to be disclr~ed as 

other Party shall designate_ 

The provisions of the Section S(E) shat! survive the expiration. or other 
of this Agrcen~ent. The complde terms and conditions of this Agre rt 

not be dc+enwd or considered to be confidential information. 

(~`} Cooperation. TMB and Client covenant and agree that they will 
Aerate and work in good faith with each other and will not commit any sets: or omit any 
that might tend to obstruct either Party ~ performing its dimes umder this Ag t. 

Page 9 of 18 lnitial~ 

42

Item IX. 5.



ti_ FEES FUR. SI~Rd[CES REi~IDBRED. 

(t1) Administratimt Fee. Client twig ~  be charged an administrative 
fee; for the establishment of this account with T1VIB. 

(i3) " Fee. For all Services pxavzded. T;1+I8 will ct~atge, and Client 
y agrees to .pay, a ccxrtingent collection fee equal w  .. x.69  ~  '9~ of payments 
on accounts assigned, regardless of whether the ~ is made to TMii a< to 

Clint. All fees paid by Client to TMB are payable in U.S. dollars only. 

F~ ~ as tee as Eli r> C~rxait► ~ aard c ~ ac~+iaie bi~~ cauub~M 
TarArar,1 ~ ~, TAlB' ~ pie ~ of dire 

': + came r~ ~~ a~ ~ btr ESO S~ a# ary crxet to 
cpunly. 

& ' amide dire base ~pacto:re erf'F.SD'a prnwag el°IC1l! a a~ ~ lam dice 
base ~~ fee i®r ditie caa~ dddrit~o~ef ~ amt ~t~ 

bnnrix~ ~ ~ t dre ns cd i of illy cawsrt~ T~[~ a~ff aps e dfre 
p nlerrreinP with ESO Solutions with reearaC to the instal/atlon and ~~ 

~f dlre trr'ada~ wid~iir dine r 

(C) Payment Terrx~: TMB v~iH ~lxnit as invoice on or amotubd the I ~ 
da of the month for the anrrunission clue on monies collected by TMB during the 
pr: eding calendar month. The invoiced amount is due upon. receipt. Payment must be 
received by TMB ♦rithia thirty (30}days from the Client's neaeipt of the invoice. 

Fees outs#anding are subject W a late charge of one and ors-half per+ce~nt (1 YZ~'o) 
month ar the maximum amount allowed by law, whichever is less. 

r 
Cheat ages to to ThiB, within thirty (3Q} days of Client's receipt of a 

pa~merif, any and all payme~s received direetly by Client or its agent cm aovonnts that 
arc in the po iawn of T1NB arrd algrees that Th+tB will be entitled to receive regular 
agreed collection fees on said payments. 

(D) Aitorney/C,atkcticm Fees. In the event either p~ retains aA 
~mey or collection agerry to assist in the collection of airy aJnotmita owed W it by the 

peaty uraier this Agrec~rsent, the costs and fees irattrred as a result of such retention 
11 be added to the amount to be collected therefrom.. Each party will be responsible 
all reasonab~ attorneys' fees and costs incurred by the other party as a result of any 

of this Ate. 

(E) Right to £)lfset. In addition to all other remedies available to 
TI~IB, in the event Client fails in its obligation to pay TMB in a Timely manner in 
ac.~orclactce with the terms of this Agreem,emt f~ Services, or any other amounts owed, 
acrd Client f~ to cure said obligation within a ten (10} day period fo[lozving notification 
fr+~m TINB, T141B shall be entittcd to offset any such unpaid amounts against any a►nd all 

.amounts .received by Ti~IB as payment on accounts referred to "I'MB pursuant to this 

l'~e l t) o~f l S Initials ~~ 
43

Item IX. 5.



t, provided nothing herein shall be construed as to provide TMB with any right 
of ~ ffset or access to any funds already deposited ink Clients bank mounts pmt  to 
th . A~ment+ 

{F) Right to Terminate. In the event any invoice remains unpaid more 
thirty (30} days aver the invoice date, TiVtB shall have the right to temporarily 

d' ontinue the performance of the Services anti its othrer obii~rtiong antler this 
d',: ~:- ~ ~ ~ t and/or to tcrtrrirrdte this Agreemenrt, and T11~IB shall have no further liability ~ 
o ~ igation to Client. in the event TMB terminates this Agreement pursuant to this erection 
6( ~, Client shall immeeiiately pay to TMB all amounts then due and outstanding. 

?. t~ti1+(I"T'ATItNi OF IaABII.ITY. 

(A) Subject to Section 7(G) below, neither party shall be liable to the 
of party or to any third party for any damages resulting from or related to this 
A r~nent or the Services perforn~d hcrevar>deir, exc fart n~ from the 

negli~ce, r+eclrie~ or willful misccmcluct of gray such paziy, or its atTxliates, 
companies, subsidiaries, inches with limitation the oiTu~rs, directors, 

holders, members, employees, subcontr~tors, representatives, assigns, successors, 
or other agents thereof or any kind whatsoever.. 

(B) In no event shall either party be held IiarbM to the other party or any 
pertly for ~y incideatai, indirect, special, cottsequecrtiat or punitive dammages 

atsoever, including, without limitation, damages for loss of profits or revenues, loss of 
business interruption, or auy other daaa~es or losses arising out of or related to this 

or the perforrr~+ce or breach th,ereo~ cega~rdless of fire theory of liability 
tract, tort or otl~+rise), even if such patty has been advised of the possibility thec+eof. 

{C) Except with respect to any liability arising from actions based upon 
~ onal fraud or mrsrep tartion by either party urhich shall not. be ~ to the 

limitation of iiabilily impc~ed by fh~ proviso, tfie ramtire liability fareitherparty -for any 
arising fraen ~ reelated to this ~►~. shall be limited to the arcnot:nts Qaid by 

C ant to T11!lB under, and during the Term of, this Agreement. 

Psge 11 of 1.8 initial ~~=.= n 
44

Item IX. 5.



S. TERMINATfON OF AGREEMENT. 

(A) This Agreement may be terminated as follows: 

~ (i) By written natiee by either Pang in the e~-ent that the otixer 
P~rty has defauhed under the terms of this Agreement and shall have failed to rerr~ 
such default within thirty (3A) days (ten (i U) days for a payment default) after written 
nt~tice thereof from the non-defaulting Party unless such cure shall reasonably take a 
lahger period and the defaulting Party provides assurance that it is attempting to timely 
cure; or 

{ir' By either Party fat awry reason srui at say time by 
viding NINETY {9Q) days-prior written notice of such intent to the other Party. 

the NINETY (9Q) dsy per~d, tie Agreement shall< cagtisae ie f~ti force sad 
Parties shaE bt obl ed m ass u woe wfth t>Yis ~t 

(iii} Notwithstanding any provisions contained herein to the 
Crary; this Agreement may be immediately terminated by either party; with no further 

if the ocher party is charged by any t n~  regulatory iwdy or taw 
orc nt  "`y wills e~ng in any il l conduct or committing any acx which 
y be classified as a felor~+ or a miaderneanor undtx slate or federal taw. 

(B) in the event that this Agreement is terminated, the Parties agree 

(i) TINB wiq rmt be liable for any cwsts incear+ed by the Ct'~ent 
in sectz<ing a~nather biit`urg cottection agency; 

(ii) TMH will not pay or refund money earned as a result of 
rvives ~ to the Client; 

[m1 Tll+IR w~ rettua tars the CH~t stl of CHeat'a propert[~ 

i ludmg fimanciai recardr< statistical iaformatioa tiles ~d patient raedlcal records 
a~d acca>unb in a ressauabk time period and without charge #here#art. t~ce the 

tio~ a~ is ¢e)lrrered to thr C")lieat, Ct~reat a fio rdcme T'1MB 
of aH ~aEriisry far the iafata:stioa's safe and 

9. INDEMNIFICATION. TMB sad Client each agree tc► and do lrereby 
responsl~lity f~ their respective a~ +oar ornissiaas tis°hich may trine rise to any 

aris~g out of this Agreement. Tt4iB and C-liens, to the fullest extent allor~ad by 
shall indemnify and hold harmless the other Party and the other Party`s affiliate, 

s ~sidiary and parent corporations, partnerships and limited liability companies, and its 
their otFreers, directors„ slearetrolclers, partners„ members, attocnt`ys. pedeeessors, 

:~~lccestioorst r+eprresentatives,. irrsucrersa assignees, agents, c'mpluYees. executors, 
administrators and heirs, fmm and against ail CtAimc, liabilities, tosses, costs and 

f11ge l'2 oft g 

45

Item IX. 5.



expenses (including. reasonable attomeys'~fees with. respect thereto) arising .out of or 
attri utable to (i) such Party's-acts or omissions. end (ii) any misrepresentation or breach 
of y agreement, representation, warranty or covenant made. herein by such Party. 

Additionally, each party shall ix~deznrtify and hold harmless the other party and its 
affil ate, subsidiary :arid parent corporations, parhxerships and limited. liability companies, 
and. its and their officers, directors,~holders, partners, members, .attorneys, 
pre < <a ~= . • rs, successors, representatives;.. ~ insurers, assignees, agents, employees, 
ex ~ ~ ~ tors, administrators and. he' ,and,<egainst all claims, liabilities,, losses, costs, 
pe ~ : ties and expense's r :C~, . ~f~d~~r'neys'' fees with respect thereto) arising. 
out F f or attributable to any breach or violation of any Medicare aides or regulations by 
sue.. party or its affiliate; subsidiary and paretrt corponitians~ patmerships and .limited 
liab ~ ity companies, and .its and. their officers, directors, slharelwlders, partners, members,. 
em d ? ayees and/or agents. :~ ~.~*~'.k,

'Ihe Party to be indemnified hereunder (the "Indemnifed Party") shall ratify ..the 
ott► • , Party (the "Indemnifying Party") in writing- concernir►g the nature +~f any clam;;for. 
ind ~ ~ ~ ~ ' ficatian made hereunder within thirty (30) days afterre~clp~t-cd'.lk~avv't~i3ga~'f``the 

upon which such..claim is based, time of the 'essence~ s~~ttirig .~$callp 
the ~ F: ~ giving rise to ~ alleged. claim;. the basis ..for the. claim: and. #lw :.anwamt  of . 
liar 'ty asserted.to the extent known. -~ ~ 

~ 
~~'~'~~=~~.~ ;~..: - 

The Indemnifying Party shall hate the: right to conduct the defense af~b ' 
or = o on commenced by a third party t-the Indemnified Party with respect: to which 
Ind' ~~ ~'fied .Party has asserted a claim to receivesndemnification and :in vihich 
Ind , ~ :Party .has an indemnification obligatiou„ provided that the Indetttnifying. 

must s4 elect by notice to Indemnified Party within thirty (3i?) days after. 
wri ~ n notice ther~f from the Indemnified .:Party... Tn defending, compromising or 

any such claim or actioaizy the ~Qe~nifying Party shall exercise dos regard for the 
co ~ ~ ~ e uing business interests of the- Indemnified Palely and shall .not settle. any claim. 

out the prior written consent of the Indemnified Partyif the Indemnified .Party would 
be >~dversely affected thereby. in the-event that the Indemnifying Forty shall- not elect to 
def'' ~ ~~ .any -such third-party claim or aet[an;_#he.Tndem~nifted Party shall use commercially. 

le business. judgme~at in -ding, s~ttlir~g or compromising such claim or 
shell notify the Indemnifying Party pzior to s~:tting or compromising any such 

cl: ~ or action. The Indemnified Party shall coopen~te fully with the Irxiemnifyinig Party" 
in ~ efense of .all such claims or actions which the .Indemnifying Party elects to .defend,. 

the Indemnified Party shall have the right, at its own. cost and expense, to employ 
Ca ~ ~el to ~-QRi~t in such defense, which counsel may consult or confer with and advise 
cu - I or other representatives of the .Indemnifying. Party with respect thereto: The 
c •' • • ; ion of the. Indemnified Party is a condition to the indemnifying Party's 
co ~ ' uing indemnification obligation hereunder and the .Indemnified. Party's cooperation 
s ~ 1 include making available to the Indemnifying Party the rime and assistance of its 
o ` ers, directors, owners and employees, and providing.access to and.the right to make 
co ~= es of and excerpts from.'ail ~rtinent documents, books and records to the extent they 
are~in the Indemnified Forty's possession or within its control. 

Pale 13 of 18 Initials 

46

Item IX. 5.



The ~fied Party shall ours ~metciatty reasonable busitt~s judgment in 
dffending anci mininrizing total e~osts acrd dares vrith ~ to any claim for vvtrich 
the Indemnifying Party may become re ible hereumde~c prior to making a claim 
against the Indemnifying Party hereunder. 

The provisions of the ~ctiun 9 shalt survive thR; c-?tipirelion or outer t+crmittatiort of 
is Agreement. 

t4 MtSCELLANE0U3. 

(A) I+:ntite Ag neui F~ccx~ as exircrwi~+e expn~sly stated Itra~ein. this 
sattstitu~cs the Mire ?~ betwscn the Pairties with respc~ci to the 

bject matter hereof and supersedes any and ail other agreemems, whether oral. or 
'tten, regarding the same. The ietms of this Agreement are contractual, not merely 
ital, and are the restrtt of negotiation the Parties. This Agreettt~ has beery 
fully read by fire Pam. The cortteMs of this Agrccment are known and rrndetstuoct 

alt, and it is freely and vu ity executed by each Party. Path person ex this 
ant in a representative +capacity has the authority to execute the Agreement and 

the Party it r+epresettts to such Aunt. No Party relies or has relied on any 
rep ation, exoissia~tr, inducement, ar pm~ntise of arty alter Party in 

scarfing this Agr~aement, raccept as expressly stated irr this Agreeme~ 

(B) Modifications. This Agreement can only be modified. by a written 
eni duly signed by authori7~ed representatives of TMB and Clieni, amt variances 

ar addition to the tertrds axrei cortd'tti~ons of this Agneerrtent in any order ur ottr~ 
ling will be of as efFeet. Moreover, in Dreier to avoid rnx~tainly, ambiguity a~ 

susrderstandings in their taelalionships, the Parties covenant and agree nut fu enter into 
y oral agreement or understanding inconsisterYt or in conflict with this Agreement; and 

Parties further Goveaant and agree that arty oral cotttmunicatian allegedly or 
pi dly ce>t~itu~rg suds an ~~ m understanding shall be atxsotutety null, 

and ~ effect. 

{C) Headings. Ail headings ~ inserted for convenience of the Parties 

~do not ciel'me or yelled the cow of the specific terms and condititms, r~ shall 
ry headings be used in truing the rnesning of same cvidrin Phis Amt 

(D) Force ivlajeure. The failure by either party to any extent to 
arm- under this Agreement, in whale or in part resulting from causes beyond the 

cammi of suidt parry shall na# reneier such party liable itr azry rem, nor be 
as a try of this Agrd~t, nor work an adxatexnertt of exmrper~ticxr 

l~tnder, trot roel~eve die e>tlrer party fin the obligalian to fulfill any tetra or 
ndition herein. 

1'agz 1~ of 18 Initial i3~ 

47

Item IX. 5.



(E} Assignability.. Neither Party- may. assign this: Agreement: or any 
~ghts or obligations. hereunder without the prior written consent afthe-other Party, which 
donsent shall not be unreasonably withheld.: 

tP? Waivers Any waiver by any Party of any breach, of any provision 
this Agreement. shall. not be construed as a waiver of any subsequent' breach of the 
e ar of any other provision of this Agreement. Failure: by any Party to enforce any of 

e terms, covenants or conditions of this Agreement for any length of time or from time 
t time shall. not be deemed: to waive ar decrease the rights: of such Party to insist 
hereafter upon strict performance 6y the other Partyk 

(G} Severatiility: The Parties intend all provisions. of this Agreement ta. 
b~ enforced to the fiilleat extexrt: permitted. by - law. Accordingly, should a court' of 

mpetent' jurisdctiam determtine that the scope of any provision is too- broad. to be 
arced as written,, the Parties intend that;. the court..: should retbrm ,the prnvisan to such 

wer scope- as it determines tct be eufarceable: If, however`, -any provisiom of this 
greemetrt is held to be illegal, invalid, or~ unenforceable under present ar future law, 

h provision shall be fully severable; this Agreement shall be catistru~ ~arid enforced 
if such illegal,. invalid, or unenforceable pmvisiatt were never a part hereol•. and the 

pmvisians of this Agreement shell remain in full. fiune and efffeet and. shall not 
affected by the illegal,. invslld or unenforceable provision or by its severance, except 

t ' the- extesat such.. remaining pravisions~ constitute obligations. of another Party to this 
greemetrt correspQmding to tlta unenforeeabl~e provision.: 

(H) Governing. Law/J 'sdietios~ T1~is Agreement shall t~ governed, by 
camsttved in accordanet~- with, the laws of the State of North Carolina:. Subject to 
.cm l l above, .any claim or diispute hereunder. shall be macl+e ar brought only in the 

s e court: sitting is Ei~'tagtiam. ~onuty or federal courts sitting in the Stateof Georgia, 
e Parties hereto waiving, any claim or defense that. such forum is not convenient or 
open. Each Party hereby agrees: that any such court shall, have in gersonam jurisdictiaa 

if. 

(I} Independent Contractor, In performing, the° Services under this 
greement TMB's relationship with Cliem shall be that. of an independent cantract~ar. 
o partnership,. joint, ventures agency ar employer employee relationship is intended or. 

1 be created between. the Parties. TM$ and its employees shall be fret to dispose of 
s ch portion of their entire time, energy and skill during; times in which they arc not 
r quired to provide Services hereunder to. Client, in such manner and. in pursuif of such 

tiviries or business ventures as TMB and its employees shall choose:. TMH shall not be 
titled to participate in any plans, arrangements ar distributions of Client ̀ pertaining to or 

~i .connection with any pension; stack, bom~s, profit sharing ar other fringe benefit plan. 
tient shall have no right to control the speeife method or manner in which TMB 

performs the Services hereunder: 

F~ge lS of 18 

48

Item IX. 5.



(.i} Presurrrptions. Afeither this Agreemern riot any provision contained 
herein shall be corms agaitrst any Party dire to the fad that this Ag rt ar any 
provision cotttairu~d mein was drafted by said Party. 

{K} Advice of Counsel. Each Party represents and warrants to the 
a ~ . • Party ss follows: {i) sr~ Party has bcerr advised to obtain the advice of 
in ~ , • ~ - ~ le~gari cartr~el in cc> crion with this A~erru'trt, {ii) such Party has had the 
a • ~ ►: ~ "ty far reixesesrtation in the rregotiatiaer of this Amt by counsel of its 
ch~ice, {iii) such Party has read this Agreemenrt and understands the same, and (iv} such 
Paufty has„ to the extent its desires, had the terms of this Agut~eement fully explained by its 
co~ei and that it ~ fully aware of the eonterrts of this Ate. 

{t.) Notices. Arty notice pcvvided for or permitted to be given uruxl~ 
Agreement by any Party to any other Party must be in writing, and may be delivered 

depositing same in the United States mail: aridt~essed as provided for below, postage 
d, registered or certuified rrtaril, r+e~urn r~aeeipt reriruresterl, or by delivering the s~ is 
to sack Party, ur by os~cmight courier ar other delivery service. Alotiue p Y 

ivered shah be received when actrffilly received bq the ~ notice 
d • • • -'fed in the mat! in the meaner described above shall be deemed received three {3) 
da s aft ensiling,; and notice delivered by courier ar other delivery service shall be 

an the clay aural tirrte grrar,~rteed by the d~ivery serve. For piupases of 
the ~ of the Parties shah be as set forth opposite their respective frames 
or a# stx~t other addresses as designated in a written notice, given as 

pr • vided herein, to aN other Parties. 

Stfitware 
East H Street 

E n, NG 28335 
Qaatie! Brim Grukirt, President 

C - nt 
nda McDtaffie 

E S ©irec~or 
Adel4~ess 

1st StreEst Ext 
"ttgfieRd, Ga 31329 
iii ~ Address 
N: Laurel Street 

Ga 31329 

to: 
B~y Beckett 
In erim County Administrator 
~1 N Lawrel Street 
S~rir>gfietd, CA 31328 

Page ibof l$ 

49

Item IX. 5.



M) Cumulative Remedies. AII'rights and remedies of a Party hereunder shall 
cwmulative and in addition to such rights and. remedies as may be available #o 

~ Farty at law or in equity;. 

Counterparts, This Agreement. may be executed. in two ar more counterparts, 
h o1' which shall be deemed an original, but. ail of which together shall constitute one 

d -the: same instrument. 

(~3) Survival, An}~ provision of this Agreement: which by its terms may aat be fully 
e~Ceeuted prior to the expiration ar other termination of this:Agreement will. survive the 
expiration or other termination, of this Agreement. 

[SIGNATURES ON FOLI.QWIIVC'r PAGE] 

l~tige 17 of t $ Initials~~~  v'~ l~ 

50

Item IX. 5.



IN WITNESS WHERE(?F, the Parties have duly executed this Agreement the. 
da~ acxi year firsit above written. 

VfTfrNESSES: 'I`ARHEEL MEDICAL BILLING, INC. 

C,.~ CQ...,1~-~,. 

l~cl~S~P,~~ 

(~ow~~1y CterK 

Page I8 Qf' 18 

~y: 

Its: z'S/ 
~~~~ 

EF~7NGAAM COII~i"TY 

SPRINGFIELD, GA 

its_ ~.rn,,A,~

Initials 

51

Item IX. 5.



ADDENDUM TO COUNTY MULTI-YEAR CONTRACT~
LIMITATIONS AND ANNUAL APPROPRIATIONS 

This Addendum is made a part of and incorporated into the Contract between The Boazd of 

Commissioners of Effingham County, Georgia ("County'') and Tarheel Medical Billing, Inc. d/b/a 

Colleton Softwaze ("Tazheel"), dated  0 ~(~ (o~ ZU (~ , as follows: 

1. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, this Contract shall 

terminate absolutely and without further obligation on the part of County at the close of the fiscal 

year in which it was executed and at the close of each succeeding fiscal yeaz for which it may be 

renewed as provided for in O.C.G.A. '36-60-13, the provisions of which aze incorporated herein. 

2. This Addendum shall be deemed to obligate County only for those sums payable 

during the current fiscal yeaz of execution or in the event of renewal by County for those sums 

payable in the individual fiscal year renewal term, fiscal year of execution or, in the event of a 

renewal, beyond the fiscal year of such renewal. 

3. To the maximum extent permitted under applicable law and, in that regazd, County 

and Tarhell expressly acknowledge and agree that this Contract shall be subject to the terms and 

conditions of Section 36-60-13 of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated and they intend and agree 

that the provisions of this Contract shall be interpreted and construed so as to be lawful and 

permissible under all circumstances under such statute. 

4. Any portion of the Contract regazding indemnification and limitation of liability apply 

only to the extent permitted by law, and any applicable case law, including under CSX 

Transportation, Inc. v. City of Garden City, 277 Ga. 248, 588 S.E.2d 688. 

5. Further, County is obligated only to make such payments as may lawfully be made 

from funds budgeted and appropriated for that purpose during County's then current fiscal yeaz. 

Should County fail to budget, appropriate or otherwise make available funds to pay the Contract 

following the then current Original Term or Renewal Term, this Agreement shall be deemed 

52

Item IX. 5.



terminated at the end of the then current Original Term or Renewal Term. 

f Except as modified hereby, the Schedule, and the terms and provision of the Contract, are and 

shall r ain in full force and effect and, except as modified hereby, the rights and obligations of the 

parties a not modified or affected in any way. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Addendum to be executed in 

their n~mes by their duly authorized representatives as of the date first above written. 

Tarheel Medical Billing, LLC 

By: 

Its: 

Attest: 

Sign and Print Name 

~ 
!/GNr~ ~ ~ ~~r~r•~~ /~rrl

Sign and Print Name 

Sign and Print Name 

Its:  ~ ~ '~i~,C~~~~i° 
~'" 

~ Sign and Print Name 

BF~OF CONIlVIISSIONERS OF 
E HAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

By: 
~ Wesley ' orbett 

Its: ;Chairman 

i , 

Attest: ~ ~' ~ t ~ 
Step~• -~4e Johnson 

Its: County Clerk 

53

Item IX. 5.



Staff Report 

 
Subject: Consideration to renew the agreement with The City of Port Wentworth for the use of 
an inmate work detail  
Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent. 
Department: Purchasing and Prison 
Meeting Date: June 20, 2023 
Item Description: Inmate Work Detail Agreement with the City of Port Wentworth 
 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends renewal of the Agreement between the City of 
Port Wentworth and Effingham County for the use of an inmate work detail 
 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 The City of Port Wentworth has requested use of an inmate work crew. 

 Effingham County provides a Correctional Supervisor to supervise the work crew.  The City 
of Port Wentworth will reimburse the County for the cost of employing the Correctional 
Supervisor. 

 The City of Port Wentworth supplies the ride vehicle and the tools required to perform the 
maintenance activities. 

 The City of Port Wentworth pays for fuel to run the vehicle and equipment. 

 The City of Port Wentworth pays for the maintenance of the vehicle and equipment. 

 The City of Port Wentworth provides all equipment and tools, including safety equipment. 

 The cost of the agreement to the City of Port Wentworth is $90,000.00 per year, which 
includes the cost of employing the Correctional Supervisor.  

 The Agreement can be terminated at any time, by either party with 90 days written notice to 
the other party. 

 The City Manager of Port Wentworth has confirmed that the City would like to renew the 
Agreement for an additional one-year term. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Consideration to renew the agreement with The City of Port Wentworth for the use of an 
inmate work detail.  

2. Take no action. 
  

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: Purchasing & Prison 

Funding Source: All costs to administer the Agreement are paid by the City of Port Wentworth. 
 

Attachments:  
1. Work detail Agreement 

 
 

54

Item IX. 6.



55

Item IX. 6.



56

Item IX. 6.



57

Item IX. 6.



58

Item IX. 6.



59

Item IX. 6.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval to renew the Task Order with Thomas & Hutton for Professional 

Consulting Services for Program Management 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: County Manager/Capital Projects 

Meeting Date: June 20, 2023 

Item Description: Renewal of Task Order with Thomas & Hutton for Professional 

Consulting Services for Program Management 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval to renew the Task Order 

with Thomas & Hutton for Professional Consulting Services for Program Management 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 Staff requested a proposal from Thomas & Hutton to assist with Program 

Management in regards to capital projects.  

 Included in this scope is a Program Management Workshop with Effingham 

County Staff to develop the goals, objectives and logistics to be performed by 

T&H to set the overall strategy for a group of projects. Also included is priority 

project development/capital improvements and management and design 

services. With the absence of a County Engineer on staff, T&H will also perform 

construction observation in the capacity of the County’s representative.  

 This Amendment will renew the task order for FY24 utilizing the approved rates. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval to renew the Task Order with Thomas & Hutton for Professional 

Consulting Services for Program Management with the increased rates 

2. Deny the renewal of the Task Order with Thomas & Hutton for Professional 

Consulting Services for Program Management 

3. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2, 3 

Department Review: County Manager, Purchasing 

Funding Source: Various – Project/Department funding 

Attachments: Task Order and Renewal 

 

 

 

60

Item IX. 7.



61

Item IX. 7.



62

Item IX. 7.



63

Item IX. 7.



64

Item IX. 7.



65

Item IX. 7.



66

Item IX. 7.



 
Amendment No. _1_to the 

Task Order for Professional Consulting Services/Program Management 
Executed February 2, 2023 

between 
Board of Commissioners of Effingham County 

and 
Thomas and Hutton 

 

 
THIS AMENDMENT NO.  __1__ (the "Amendment") is entered into this ____ day of _____________ , 2023 by and 

between the County of Effingham (“COUNTY”) with offices at 804 S Laurel Street, Springfield, GA 31329 and Thomas 

and Hutton with offices at 50 Park of Commerce Way, Savannah, GA 31405. 

 

WHEREAS, THE COUNTY and Thomas and Hutton entered into a Task Order dated February 2, 2023 for Professional 

Consulting Services for Program Management (as amended, the “Task Order”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the parties desire to amend the provisions of the Task Order; and 

 

NOW, THERFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and of the mutual promises in the Task Order, and for other good 

and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as set 

forth below.   

1. Term: This Amendment allows for the Task Order to renew for one (1) additional year commencing upon 
completion of the current term, July 1, 2023 and ending on June 30, 2024. 
 

2. Fee: The hourly rates as approved in the Task Order will remain in effect until the end of the new term. Services 
to be billed monthly with T&H providing a breakdown of hours and their rates. This amendment removes the not-
to-exceed total for services of the original task order. Services will be provided on a Time & Expense basis as 
directed by Effingham County.   

 

3. Except as specifically set forth herein, all other terms and provisions of the Task Order shall remain unaffected 
by this Amendment and continue in full force and effect. 

 

 

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment No. __1___ to be signed by their duly 

authorized representatives the day and year first written above. 
 

 
      Thomas and Hutton                        Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

 
 

By: __________________________________   By: __________________________________ 
  

 
      Printed Name: _________________________         Printed Name: Wesley Corbitt____________ 

 
 

Title: ________________________________    Title: Chairman_________________________ 
 
 

Dated: _______________________________    Dated:_______________________________ 

 

67

Item IX. 7.



Staff Report 
 
Subject: Approval and publication of a new Emergency Medical Services (EMS) job 
description. 
Author:  Sarah Mausolf, Director 
Department:  Human Resources and Risk Management 
Meeting Date: June 20, 2023. 
Item Description: Approval and publication of a new Emergency Medical Services (EMS) 
job description. 
Summary Recommendation: 
Staff requests authorization to approve and publish a new Emergency Medical Services 
(EMS) job description. 
 
 
Executive Summary/Background 
The Field Training Officer position is responsible for the supervision of medical staff 
operating on a designated shift. The position is also responsible for administering 
appropriate pre-hospital emergency medical treatment to the ill and injured. Must be able 
to multi-task several complex projects simultaneously while managing administrative 
functions that support day-to-day operations. No increase to headcount; this would be a 
promotion for current Paramedics to allow each shift to support the Shift Supervisor and 
EMS Director as an Assistant Shift Supervisor.  
 
 
Alternatives for Commission to Consider 
1. Approve the job description; authorize publication and distribution. 
2. Disapprove the job description and provide guidance to staff. 
 
 
Recommended Alternative: Staff recommends Alternative 1. 
 
Other Alternatives: None. 
 
Department Review: County Manager, Emergency Medical Services, and Human 
Resources. 
 
Funding Source: There is no impact on the current FY budget as vacancy savings exist. 
Position requested and approved for FY 24 Budget.  
 
Attachment: Field Training Officer Job Description 
     
      

68

Item IX. 8.



69

Item IX. 8.



70

Item IX. 8.



71

Item IX. 8.



72

Item IX. 8.



73

Item IX. 8.



74

Item IX. 8.



Staff Report 
Subject:   Coastal Regional Commission Council Reappointment 

Author:  Stephanie Johnson, County Clerk 

Department:  Administration 

Meeting Date: June 20, 2023 

Item Description: Consideration to approve to appoint Rebecca Boston as the Non-
Public Representative for Effingham County to serve on the Coastal Regional Commission 
Council  
 

Summary Recommendation:   

Staff is requesting the Board to approve to appoint Mrs. Rebecca Boston to the CRC 
Council. Mr. Herb Jones has opted to no longer serve on council after serving immensely 
for many years.  
 

Executive Summary: 

One of the functions of the Coastal Regional Commission (CRC) is to provide programs 
to older adults and caregivers in our region.   
 

 Background: 
1. Mr. Jones was last appointed in June 2022 and his term is set to expire June 2023.  

Mr. Jones has served the county and this board well for 16 years and does not wish 
to be reappointed. 

2. Staff has received confirmation of council approval from the cities of Springfield, 
Rincon and Guyton to appoint Rebecca Boston. 

3. The term is an annual appointment. The new term will run from July 1, 2023 to June 
30, 2024.  

4. It is required that a non-public representative fill this position. 
5. Upon approval a letter signed by the Chairman of the Board of Commissioners with 

the Mayors copied, confirming the concurrence of the appointment. 
 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. To approve to appoint Rebecca Boston as the Non-Public Representative for 
Effingham County to serve to the Coastal Regional Commission Council 
 

2. To not approve to appoint Rebecca Boston as the Non-Public Representative for 
Effingham County to serve to the Coastal Regional Commission Council and 
consider appointment of another individual at a later date  

 

Recommended Alternative: 

Staff recommends Alternative number 1  
 

Other Alternatives: N/A  
 

Department Review: County Clerk’s Office 
 

Funding Source: N/A 
 

Attachments: 

1. CRC request letter 

2. Member Profile Application (Boston) 
75

Item IX. 9.



Serving the Cities and Counties of Coastal Georgia since 1964 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TO:  Chairman Wesley Corbitt, Effingham County Commission 

  Mayor Ken Lee, City of Rincon 

  Mayor Russ Dean, City of Guyton 

  Mayor Barton Alderman, City of Springfield 

 

FROM: Allen Burns, Executive Director 

 

DATE:  May 23, 2023 

 

SUBJECT: Reappointment/Appointment of Non-Public Representative for Effingham County to 

  Serve on the CRC Council 

 

 

As you know, Mr. Herb Jones has served as the non-public representative of Effingham County and the 

cities of Guyton, Rincon, and Springfield for the CRC Council. At our May Council meeting, Mr. 

Jones advised that it was his last meeting, and he did not want to be reappointed.  We are sorry to 

hear this as Mr. Jones has been a dedicated Council member for 16 years.  It is important that you 

appoint someone else to this position. Terms run from July 1 – June 30 and are eligible for 

reappointment each year. 

 

Please remember that a non-public representative must fill this position. It is also very important that the 

person appointed to this position be able to attend the regular meetings that are held on the second 

Wednesday of every month at the Richmond Hill City Center at 10:00 a.m. 

 

To finalize this reappointment/appointment, the County and municipalities need to agree on the 

reappointment/appointment and then submit a letter signed by the Chairman, with the Mayors copied, 

confirming the concurrence of a reappointment/appointment of an individual to serve in this capacity.  

 

Should you have any questions, please contact Colletta Harper, Administrative Services Director, at 

charper@crc.ga.gov.  

 

AB/ch 

 

c:  Stephanie Johnson, Effingham County Clerk 

    Herb Jones 
 

 

 

 

 

1181 Coastal Drive SW, Darien, GA 31305   •   Ph: 912-514-1593   •    www.coastalrc.ga.gov 76

Item IX. 9.

mailto:charper@crc.ga.gov


 
AUTHORITIES/BOARDS/COMMITTEES 

PROSPECTIVE MEMBER PROFILE 
 

AUTHORITY/BOARD/COMMITTEE:________________________________________________________ 

NOMINEE:____________________________________________________________________________ 

ADDRESS:_____________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

HOME PHONE:__________________________  BUSINESS PHONE:______________________________ 

COUNTY VOTING DISTRICT/MUNICIPALITY:_________________________________________________ 

 

 

EMPLOYMENT/BUSINESS HISTORY 

COMPANY NAME:_____________________________________________  YEARS:__________________   

POSITION:____________________________________________________________________________ 

ADDRESS:_____________________________________________________________________________ 

 

RESPONSIBILITIES:  
_____________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

COMPANY NAME:_____________________________________________  YEARS:__________________   

POSITION:____________________________________________________________________________ 

ADDRESS:_____________________________________________________________________________ 

RESPONSIBILITIES:  
_____________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________  

  CRC -Coastal Regional Council Commission

  Rebecca H. Boston

  159 Wilder Road  Springfield, Georgia 31329

 912-754-6246  Cell: 912-667-5343

 3C- Bethel Lutheran

  Georgia Department of Human Services (DFCS)     27+ Efffingham)

 County Director- ( Effingham , Bulloch and Bryan Counties)  (1981-2008)

 204 Franklin Street Springfield Ga. 31329, 41 Pulaski Road Statesboro, Ga. 30458, 133 Dubois St. Pembroke Ga. 31312

Assured multi-county agencies' compliance with policies, appropriate documentation and reporting requirements to provide; safety-self sufficiency and

   well being of Effingham's most vulnerable families and children by providing; Child Protective Services, Foster Care, Adoption, Adult Protective    

Services, Foodstamps, TANF, Child Care , Energy Assistance, and Medicaid. Set goals and budgets for each county to ensure sound

Georgia Department of Human Services (DFCS)   7+

 County Director- ( Effingham, Bulloch and Bryan Counties)   (2005-2012)

204 Franklin Street Springfield, Ga. 31329, 41 Pulaski Road Statesboro, Ga. 30458, 133 Dubois St. Pembroke Ga. 31312

continued:  fiduciary principals. Hired, built and encouraged a cooperative staff -team- oriented environment within Units ( Services and Eligibilty)

as well as with other agencies and providers. Created and maintained a positive working relationship with the community. Secretary for the DFCS Board.

Represented the agencies at meetings, with business partners and served as the media spokesperson.

77

Item IX. 9.



 
 

PROFILE—PAGE 2 

CIVIC/VOLUNTEER INVOLVEMENTS: 

 

ORGANIZATION:______________________________________________  YEARS OF ASSOCIATION:____ 

POSITION OF LEADERSHIP:_______________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

ORGANIZATION:_______________________________________________  YEARS OF ASSOCIATION:___ 

POSITION OF LEADERSHIP:_______________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

ORGANIZATION:_______________________________________________  YEARS OF ASSOCIATION:___ 

POSITION OF LEADERSHIP:_______________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

EDUCATION HISTORY: 

HIGH SCHOOL:_________________________________________________________________________ 

TRADE/VOCATIONAL:___________________________________________________________________ 

COLLEGE:_____________________________________________________________________________ 

GRADUATE/POST-GRADUATE:____________________________________________________________ 

 

PROFESSIONAL AFFILIATIONS/CERTIFICATIONS:_____________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

  Effingham Exchange Club  32+

 Current Vice- President- ( past president) Chair of Child Abuse Prevention Committee

 Effingham GOP

 1st Vice-Chair ( previous 2nd Vice- Chair)

 Effingham County Veterans Park Board

 Served on the original planning board, building and funding committees. Currently serve 

to plan each program and upkeep of the park.

  Telfair County High

Georgia Southern- BS Psychology / Leadership Georgia State 

Attend Springfield Baptist Church. Current member and Vice-president

Effingham Exchange Club. Active in Regional and State organizations for State Employee Retirees, GSRA and GPHSA. Habitat Build Volunteer.

Charter member of Effingham County Sunrise Rotary. Graduate of Leadership Effingham and Leadership Southeast Georgia.  Previous Vice-Chair of Two

Rivers Health Clinic for eight years. Participated in Comprehensive Planning, several years, for Effingham County, in the human services area. 

Wrote grant to establish and provide funding for Effingham County Family Connection, ( chaired for numerous years) as well as many other grants for Effingham County citizens.  

Previous board member and officer of the Effingham County Victim Witness program. Served on the Effingham County United Way Board

and the Coastal United Way Board as well as the funding committee for both. Chair of FEMA Board for Effingham for numerous years. Library Build Committee. 

78

Item IX. 9.



Staff Report 
Subject:   Department of Family and Children Services Appointment 

Author:  Stephanie Johnson, County Clerk 

Department:  Administration 

Meeting Date: June 20, 2023 

Item Description: Consideration to approve to reappoint Bruce Peth as a member of 
the Department of Family and Children Services (DFCS) board.  
 

Summary Recommendation:   

Staff recommends approval of reappointing Bruce Peth to the Department of Family and 
Children Services (DFCS) Board as requested in a letter submitted by Dedra Simich, 
Effingham County DFCS Director (see attached).  
 
 

Executive Summary: 

The Department of Family & Children Services is comprised of a five (5) member Board 
which consists of a representative from each of the Commissioner districts.  The term 
for each appointment is five years.  
 

Background: 
1. Mr. Bruce Peth serves on the Department of Family and Children Services Board 

as representative for the First District.  
2. Mr. Peth was appointed to the DFCS Board on October 13, 1998.  To the best of 

our knowledge, he is still willing to serve. 
3. Mr. Peth’s term is set to expire June 30, 2023. If reappointed the new term will 

extend through June 30, 2028. 
 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. To approve to reappoint William Carter to the Department of Family and Children 
Services (DFCS) Board as representative for the Second District. 
 

2. To not approve the appointment.  
 

Recommended Alternative: 

Staff recommends Alternative number 1  
 

Other Alternatives: N/A  
 

Department Review: County Clerk’s Office 
 

Funding Source: N/A 
 

Attachments: DFCS Request for Reappointment/Appointment Letter  

79

Item IX. 10.



80

Item IX. 10.



81

Item IX. 10.



Staff Report 
Subject:   Department of Public Health Board Appointment 

Author:  Stephanie Johnson, County Clerk 

Department:  Administration 

Meeting Date: June 20, 2023 

Item Description: Consideration to approve to reappoint Gussie Nease as a member 
of the Department of Public Health (DPH) board.  
 

Summary Recommendation:   

The Board of Health exercises responsibility and authority in all matters within the 
county with regard to health unless the responsibility for enforcement of such is 
governed by another agency.   
 

Executive Summary: 

The Department of Public Health Board is comprised of a seven (7) member board. Ms. 
Nease serves in the capacity of “consumer or a person from advocacy agency or 
group”.   The term for each appointment is six years.  
 

Background: 
1. The Board of Health consists of a seven (7) member Board.   
2. Ms. Gussie Nease’s term expired February 28, 2023 
3. The term is for six (6) years unless otherwise directed by the County Commission.  
5. The Board of Health meets quarterly. 
6. Current board members are as follows: Wesley Corbitt, BOC Chair – Yancy Ford, 

School Superintendent, Mayor Ken Lee, Dr. Jack Heneisen, Gussie Nease and 
Monica Griffin Johnson. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. To approve to reappoint Gussie Nease to the Department of Public Health Board. 
 

2. To not approve the appointment.  
 

Recommended Alternative: 

Staff recommends Alternative number 1  
 

Other Alternatives: N/A  
 

Department Review: County Clerk’s Office 
 

Funding Source: N/A 
 

Attachments: DPH Request for Reappointment/Appointment Letter  

82

Item IX. 11.



83

Item IX. 11.



84

Item IX. 11.



Staff Report            

Subject:  2nd Reading – Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: June 6, 2023 
Item Description: Randy Hadden, Jeremy Nease, & Chuck Hildebrant request to rezone 102.67 acres 
from AR-1 & B-3 to I-1, to allow for warehouse development. Located on US Highway 80. [Map# 354 Parcel# 
21,21B,21C] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 102.67 acres from 
AR-1 & B-3 to I-1 to allow for industrial development, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts.  Warehousing is a 

permitted use in I-1 (Heavy Industrial). 

 A portion of the site (354-21) was reviewed in 2022 as a DRI (#3500) for a container storage facility. 

 The scale of the proposed warehouse development (1.16m sf) exceeds the threshold (500,000 gross sf) 

to be considered a Development of Regional Impact.  The Coastal Regional Commission determined that 

the project (DRI # 3949) warranted regional review, and completed a DRI report. 

 The county Future Land Use map indicates the project site is in a Residential area.  

 The proposed development site is surrounded by AR-1 zoned property to the north, south, and east. A 

300’ buffer is shown on the concept plan. There are B-3 parcels to the south and west. The Warnell Tract 

to the north & west is a permitted surface mine. The proposed buffer is 50’ adjacent to this industrial use. 

 Hwy 80 is a designated truck route. GDOT approval of proposed encroachment and access 

management will be required as part of the development plan review. 

 At the May 9, 2023 Planning Board meeting, opposition to the application was raised by neighboring 

residents based, in part, on: 

o Traffic 

o Lighting/light pollution 

o Future industrial projects  

o Noise pollution 

o Drainage problems 

 Ryan Thompson made a motion for approval, with the following conditions: 

1. A Sketch Plan must be submitted for approval before site development plans are submitted. 

2. There shall be no traffic entrance to, or exit from, the development site using George Road. 

3. Site development plans must comply with the Effingham County Water Resources Protection 

Ordinance, the Stormwater Management Local Design Manual, and Chapter 34 - Flood Damage 

Prevention. 

4. All wetland impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE, and the Approved Jurisdictional 

Determination must be submitted during the site development plan review process. 

5. Development plans must meet the requirements of Section 5.12 I-1 Industrial Districts. 

6. A traffic study must be submitted during the development plan review process, per Effingham County 

Traffic Study Requirements. 

7. Land clearing, site development, and building construction activities are limited to 7am to 7pm unless 

a night work permit is approved by the county manager. 

 And the added conditions: 

8. Platted 10’ non-access easement along George Road, disallowing future access to George Road. 

9. A berm within the 300’ buffer along George Road, height  
85

Item X. 1.



10. All future sketch and development plans show truck court location to be on the opposite side of the 

warehouse from George Road. 

11. All future sketch and development plans shall show lighting designed in a manner that site lighting not 

visible from George Road properties.  

 The motion was seconded by Alan Zipperer, and carried unanimously. 

 At the June 6, 2023 Board of Commissioners meeting, Commissioner Forest Floyd made a motion to 

approve with Staff recommendations. 

 The motion was seconded by Commissioner Phil Kieffer, and passed 3-1, Commissioner Roger Burdette 

opposing. 

 
Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 102.67 acres from AR-1 & B-3 to I-1, with the following conditions:  

1. A Sketch Plan must be submitted for approval before site development plans are submitted. 

2. There shall be no traffic entrance to, or exit from, the development site using George Road. 

3. Site development plans must comply with the Effingham County Water Resources Protection 

Ordinance, the Stormwater Management Local Design Manual, and Chapter 34 - Flood Damage 

Prevention. 

4. All wetland impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE, and the Approved Jurisdictional 

Determination must be submitted during the site development plan review process. 

5. Development plans must meet the requirements of Section 5.12 I-1 Industrial Districts. 

6. A traffic study must be submitted during the development plan review process, per Effingham County 

Traffic Study Requirements. 

7. Land clearing, site development, and building construction activities are limited to 7am to 7pm unless 

a night work permit is approved by the county manager. 

8. Platted 10’ non-access easement along George Road, disallowing future access to George Road. 

9. A berm within the 300’ buffer along George Road, height  

10. All future sketch and development plans show truck court location to be on the opposite side of the 

warehouse from George Road. 

11. All future sketch and development plans shall show lighting designed in a manner that site lighting not 

visible from George Road properties.  

2. Deny the request to rezone 102.67 acres from AR-1 & B-3 to I-1. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1.   Zoning Map Amendment 
 

86

Item X. 1.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

354-21,21B,21C 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

354-21,21B,21C 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 
 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful authority 

thereof: 

WHEREAS, RANDY HADDEN, JEREMY NEASE, & CHUCK HILDEBRANT has filed an application to rezone one hundred-two and 

sixty-seven hundredths (102.67) +/- acres; from B-3 & AR-1 to I-1 to allow for warehouse development; map and parcel number 354-21,21B,21C, 

located in the 1st commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on June 6, 2023 and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham County Herald 

on May 3, 2023; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been published in the 

Effingham County Herald on April 19, 2023; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT one hundred-two and sixty-seven hundredths (102.67) +/- acres; map and parcel number 354-

21,21B,21C, located in the 1st commissioner district is rezoned from B-3 & AR-1 to I-1, with the following conditions: 

1. A Sketch Plan must be submitted for approval before site development plans are submitted. 

2. There shall be no traffic entrance to, or exit from, the development site using George Road. 

3. Site development plans must comply with the Effingham County Water Resources Protection Ordinance, the Stormwater Management Local 

Design Manual, and Chapter 34 - Flood Damage Prevention. 

4. All wetland impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE, and the Approved Jurisdictional Determination must be submitted during 

the site development plan review process. 

5. Development plans must meet the requirements of Section 5.12 I-1 Industrial Districts. 

6. A traffic study must be submitted during the development plan review process, per Effingham County Traffic Study Requirements. 

7. Land clearing, site development, and building construction activities are limited to 7am to 7pm unless a night work permit is approved by 

the county manager. 

8. Platted 10’ non-access easement along George Road, disallowing future access to George Road. 

9. A berm within the 300’ buffer along George Road, height  

10. All future sketch and development plans show truck court location to be on the opposite side of the warehouse from George Road. 

11. All future sketch and development plans shall show lighting designed in a manner that site lighting not visible from George Road properties.  

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 
87

Item X. 1.



HWY 80 - 100' R/W

PROPOSED ENTRANCE
PER GDOT REQUIREMENTS G

EO
RG

E 
RD

 - 
30

' R
/W

300' BUFFER

30' BUFFER

300' BUFFER

300' BUFFER

PROPOSED WAREHOUSE
1,160,250 SF
(595' x 1,950')

1950'

30' BUFFER

300' BUFFER

300' BUFFER

150' BUFFER

595'

PROPOSED ON-SITE
SEPTIC SYSTEM AND DRAINFIELD

PROPOSED WELL / TANK SITE
(COORDINATE  WITH

PRIVATE UTILITY COMPANY)

150'

PROPOSED STORMWATER
DETENTION POND

BERM

300' BUFFER

SHEET

OF

Pr
ep

ar
ed

 fo
r:

SURVEY DATE:

SE
R

VI
C

ES
, I

N
C

.
 E

M
C

 E
N

G
IN

EE
R

IN
G

 

SCALE:
DATE:

PROJECT NO.:

SURVEYED BY:

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:
DRAWN BY:

GRAPHIC SCALE: 1" =

0'

10
 C

ha
th

am
 C

en
te

r S
ou

th
, S

ui
te

 1
00

Sa
va

nn
ah

, G
A 

31
40

5
Ph

: (
91

2)
 2

32
-6

53
3

Fa
x:

 (9
12

) 2
33

-4
58

0
sa

va
nn

ah
@

em
c-

en
g.

co
m

w
w

w
.e

m
c-

en
g.

co
m

EN
VI

R
O

N
M

EN
TA

L

C
IV

IL
M

AR
IN

E

AL
BA

N
Y 

• A
TL

AN
TA

 • 
AU

G
U

ST
A 

• B
R

U
N

SW
IC

K 
• C

O
LU

M
BU

S
SA

VA
N

N
AH

 • 
ST

AT
ES

BO
R

O
 • 

TH
O

M
AS

TO
N

 • 
VA

LD
O

ST
A 

• W
AR

N
ER

 R
O

BI
N

S

D
AT

E
N

O
.

R
EV

IS
IO

N
 D

ES
C

R
IP

TI
O

N
SK

ET
C

H
 P

LA
N

-
EF

FI
N

G
H

AM
 C

O
U

N
TY

, G
A

H
W

Y 
80

 W
AR

EH
O

U
SE

H
AD

D
EN

 N
EA

SE
 H

IL
D

EB
R

AN
D

T

23-0027
MDM

-
-
-
-

1" = 200' 
JUNE 2023

1
1

200' 200' 

200' 

100'

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

SITE DATA:

1. CURRENT ZONING: B-3, AR-1
PROPOSED ZONING: I-1

2. CURRENT LAND USE:  UNDEVELOPED WOODLANDS AND OPEN SPACE
PROPOSED LAND USE:  WAREHOUSE

3. PROPERTY ACREAGE: 102.67 AC

4. OWNER / DEVELOPER: RANDY HADDEN, JEREMY NEASE, CHUCK HILDEBRANDT
9987 HWY 23 N
METTER, GA 30439

5. TAX MAP & PARCEL: 03540021, 03540021B, 03540021C

6. ANY PROPOSED LIGHTING REQUIRED SHALL BE DIRECTED FACING AWAY FROM
GEORGE ROAD RESIDENTS.

7. ADEQUATE VEGETATION SHALL BE INSTALLED IN THE BUFFER ADJACENT TO
GEORGE ROAD RESIDENTS, AS NEEDED.

8. THIS PARCEL LIES WITHIN A ZONE X AS SHOWN ON FEMA FLOOD INSURANCE
RATE MAP 13103C0361E / 13103C0363E EFFECTIVE DATE EFFECTIVE DATE
MARCH 16, 2015.

SITE

VICINITY MAP
NOT TO SCALE

88

Item X. 2.

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F CRAWFORD RANDALL W PIN 0354A010 ZONING: AR-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F CRAWFORD RANDALL W PIN 0354A011 ZONING: AR-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F HAYES KENNETH D PIN 0354A009 ZONING: AR-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F SEGA KRISTINE ANN & BRIAN PHILLIP PIN 0354A008 ZONING: AR-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F WILLIAMSON BETTY T PIN 0354A007 ZONING: AR-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F HALES DENNIS C & SHARON M PIN 0354A006 ZONING: AR-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F BRINSON CHRISTINE HENDRIX PIN 0354A005 ZONING: AR-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F SESSIONS RUSSELL C & JULIE C  PIN 0354A004 ZONING: AR-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F SHUMAN ROY L JR & LETITIA H PIN 0354A003 ZONING: AR-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F FLOYD KEITH E & SHERYL S PIN 0354A002 ZONING: AR-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F HAMMOND NANCY GEORGE PIN 0354A001 ZONING: AR-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F WEDINCAMP MICHAEL LEE PIN 03540022A00 ZONING: B-3

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F WEDINCAMP MICHAEL LEE PIN 03540022 ZONING: AR-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F HADDEN SIMMONS RANDY AND NEASE JEREMY P AND HILDEBRANDT CHARLES F PIN 0354002100 ZONING: B-3

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F WARNELL H BROOKS PIN 03540045 ZONING: AR-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F UNIVERSITY OF GEORGIA FOUNDATION PIN 03530003 ZONING: AR-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F HADDEN SIMMONS RANDY AND NEASE JEREMY P AND HILDEBRANDT CHARLES F PIN 03540021B00 ZONING: AR-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F HADDEN SIMMONS RANDY AND NEASE JEREMY P AND HILDEBRANDT CHARLES F PIN 03540021C00 ZONING: AR-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
WETLANDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
O:\2023\23-0027 HWY 80 WAREHOUSE\DWG\23-0027C-E01.DWG 6/6/2023 3:42 PM 6/6/2023 3:42 PM6/6/2023 3:42 PM



30' ACCESS
BEHIND

WAREHOUSE
BUILDING

TOP OF BERM: 5'

205' BETWEEN PROPERTY LINE
AND BOTTOM OF BERM

±150' - 190' BETWEEN EXISTING
RESIDENTIAL BUIDLING AND

PROPERTY LINE
65' WIDE BERM

HEIGHT OF BERM: 10'

300' BUFFER

PROPOSED
WAREHOUSE

BUILDING

3:1 3:1

PROPOSED VEGETATION PROPOSED VEGETATION TO FILL IN
AREAS WITH LIMITED VEGETATION

±34'

SHEET

OF

Pr
ep

ar
ed

 fo
r:

SURVEY DATE:

SE
R

VI
C

ES
, I

N
C

.
 E

M
C

 E
N

G
IN

EE
R

IN
G

 

SCALE:
DATE:

PROJECT NO.:

SURVEYED BY:

CHECKED BY:

DESIGNED BY:
DRAWN BY:

GRAPHIC SCALE: 1" =

0'

10
 C

ha
th

am
 C

en
te

r S
ou

th
, S

ui
te

 1
00

Sa
va

nn
ah

, G
A 

31
40

5
Ph

: (
91

2)
 2

32
-6

53
3

Fa
x:

 (9
12

) 2
33

-4
58

0
sa

va
nn

ah
@

em
c-

en
g.

co
m

w
w

w
.e

m
c-

en
g.

co
m

EN
VI

R
O

N
M

EN
TA

L

C
IV

IL
M

AR
IN

E

AL
BA

N
Y 

• A
TL

AN
TA

 • 
AU

G
U

ST
A 

• B
R

U
N

SW
IC

K 
• C

O
LU

M
BU

S
SA

VA
N

N
AH

 • 
ST

AT
ES

BO
R

O
 • 

TH
O

M
AS

TO
N

 • 
VA

LD
O

ST
A 

• W
AR

N
ER

 R
O

BI
N

S

D
AT

E
N

O
.

R
EV

IS
IO

N
 D

ES
C

R
IP

TI
O

N
C

R
O

SS
 S

EC
TI

O
N

-
EF

FI
N

G
H

AM
 C

O
U

N
TY

, G
A

H
W

Y 
80

 W
AR

EH
O

U
SE

H
AD

D
EN

 N
EA

SE
 H

IL
D

EB
R

AN
D

T

23-0027
MDM

-
-
-
-

1" = 20' 
JUNE 2023

1
1

20' 20' 

20' 

10'

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

89

Item X. 2.

AutoCAD SHX Text
O:\2023\23-0027 HWY 80 WAREHOUSE\DWG\23-0027C-E01.DWG 6/6/2023 4:05 PM 6/6/2023 4:05 PM6/6/2023 4:05 PM



90

Item X. 2.



91

Item X. 2.



92

Item X. 2.



93

Item X. 2.



94

Item X. 2.



Staff Report  

Subject: Sketch Plan (First District) 
Author: Chelsie Fernald, Planner 
Department: Development Services 
Meeting Date: June 20, 2023 
Item Description: Randy Hadden, Jeremy Nease, & Chuck Hildebrant request approval for a sketch 
plan “HWY 80 Warehouse”. Located on US Highway 80, zoned AR-1 & B-3, proposed zoning I-1. [Map# 354 
Parcel# 21,21B,21C] 

 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of a sketch plan for “Hwy 80 Warehouse”. 

 
Executive Summary/Background 

 The request for approval of a sketch plan is a requirement of Section 5.1 – Sketch Plan. 

The purpose of a sketch plan is to provide both the applicant and the county an opportunity to review 

the proposed development before significant financial resources have been invested. Therefore, the 

sketch plan does not require the certification of an engineer, surveyor, or other professional. Existing 

features, including water bodies, wetlands, and flood zone limits, are required to be surveyed for the 

sketch plan. 

 At the February 27, 2023 pre-application meeting, staff and the applicant discussed stormwater and 

access management, buffers, and adjacent uses. 

 A 300’ vegetative buffer is required on property boundaries adjacent to residential zoned properties to 

screen the industrial warehouse. 

 The Warnell Tract to the north & west is a permitted surface mine. The proposed buffer is 30’ adjacent to 

this industrial use. 

 Mr. Ryan Thompson made a motion for approval with the following conditions: 

1. There shall be no traffic entrance to, or exit from, the development site using George Road. 

2. Site development plans must comply with the Effingham County Water Resources Protection 

Ordinance, the Stormwater Management Local Design Manual, and Chapter 34 - Flood Damage 

Prevention. 

3. All wetland impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE, and the Approved Jurisdictional 

Determination must be submitted during the site development plan review process. 

4. Development plans must meet the requirements of Section 5.12 I-1 Industrial Districts. 

5. A traffic study must be submitted during the development plan review process, per Effingham County 

Traffic Study Requirements. 

6. Land clearing, site development, and building construction activities are limited to 7am to 7pm unless 

a night work permit is approved by the county manager. 

 And the added conditions: 

7. Platted 10’ non-access easement along George Road, disallowing future access to George Road. 

8. A berm within the 300’ buffer along George Road, height 

9. All future sketch and development plans show truck court location to be on the opposite side of the 

warehouse from George Road. 

10. All future sketch and development plans shall show lighting designed in a manner that site lighting not 

visible from George Road properties. 

 Mr. Alan Zipperer seconded, the motion carried unanimously 

 At the Board of Commissioners Meeting on June 6, 2023 the board voted 3-1 on the rezoning 
application, with Commissioner Jamie DeLoach voting against the rezoning; due to not having a 2nd 
reading, the Sketch Plan was tabled.  

 After Sketch Plan approval, staff will follow-up with a Notice to Proceed, summarizing requirements and 

recommendations 
 

 
95

Item X. 2.



Alternatives 
1. Approve the sketch plan for “Hwy 80 Warehouse” 

1. There shall be no traffic entrance to, or exit from, the development site using George Road. 

2. Site development plans must comply with the Effingham County Water Resources Protection 

Ordinance, the Stormwater Management Local Design Manual, and Chapter 34 - Flood Damage 

Prevention. 

3. All wetland impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE, and the Approved Jurisdictional 

Determination must be submitted during the site development plan review process. 

4. Development plans must meet the requirements of Section 5.12 I-1 Industrial Districts. 

5. A traffic study must be submitted during the development plan review process, per Effingham 

County Traffic Study Requirements. 

6. Land clearing, site development, and building construction activities are limited to 7am to 7pm 

unless a night work permit is approved by the county manager. 

7. Platted 10’ non-access easement along George Road, disallowing future access to George Road. 

8. A berm within the 300’ buffer along George Road, height 

9. All future sketch and development plans show truck court location to be on the opposite side of the 

warehouse from George Road. 

10. All future sketch and development plans shall show lighting designed in a manner that site lighting 

not visible from George Road properties. 

2. Deny the sketch plan for “Hwy 80 Warehouse”. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1  Other Alternatives: 2 
Department Review: Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments: 1. Sketch Plan Application 2. Aerial Photograph 3 . Sketch Plan 

96

Item X. 2.



 

97

Item X. 2.



Staff Report 

Subject: 2nd Reading – Zoning Map Amendment 
Author: Chelsie Fernald, Planner 
Department: Development Services 
Meeting Date: June 6, 2023 
Item Description: Jay Maupin as Agent for Oleg Mitnik requests a conditional use to allow for an 
automotive export yard in I-1 zoning. Located on Commerce Ct. [Map# 465 Parcel# 1A] 

 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request for a conditional use to allow 
for an automotive export yard in I-1 zoning, with conditions. 

 
Executive Summary/Background 
• Junkyards are regulated under Sec. 3.16 Junk Yards, and sec. 5.12.1B HI-Heavy Industrial Conditional 

Uses. Factors to consider include: 
 

a. The effect the proposed activity will have on traffic flow along adjoining streets 
Expansion of existing business, there may be additional traffic due to increased capacity. 

b. Ingress and egress to the property; 
Expansion of existing business. 

c. The number, size and types of signs proposed for the site; 
Expansion of existing business. 

d. The amount and location of open space; 
Wetlands areas shown on sketch plan exhibit. 

e. Protective screening; 
Buffer shown on sketch plan. Current buffer and fencing will need to be expanded and replaced 
due to unpermitted clearing on the Dickey tracts. 

f. Hours and manner of operation; 
Unknown 

g. Outdoor lighting; 
Unknown 

h. Compatibility with surrounding land use; and 
Expansion of existing business. 

i. Effect of noise, dust, debris or other external impacts of the use on the surrounding area. 
Expansion of existing business. 

• This will be an expansion from parcel 466C-1, which was rezoned to include the junkyard condition in 
2020, and parcels 466C-2&3 were rezoned in 2022 including the junkyard condition. 

• Access to this parcel will be through the existing I-1 parcels. 
• At the May 9, 2023 Planning Board Meeting, Peter Higgins made a motion for approval with Staff 

recommendation. The motion was seconded by Brad Smith and carried unanimously. 
• At the June 6, 2023 Board of Commissioners Meeting the second reaching was tabled to June 20, 

2023; due to a 3-1 vote with Commissioner Jamie DeLoach voting against the conditional use.  
 
Alternatives 
1. Approve the request of a conditional use for an automotive export yard, with the following conditions: 

1. The applicant shall meet the requirements of Sec. 3.16 Junkyards, and Sec. 5.12.1B HI-Heavy 
industrial conditional uses 

2. The applicant shall install a solid fence, wall, or planted screen to a minimum of seven feet tall 
around the development site prior to beginning operations in the expansion area. 

3. Site development plans shall comply with the Effingham County Water Resources Protection 
Ordinance and the Stormwater Management Local Design Manual. 

4. All wetland impacts shall be permitted by USACE. 
 
 
 
 
 

98

Item X. 3.



2. Deny the request of a conditional use. 
Recommended Alternative:  1 Other Alternatives: 2 
Department Review: Development Services FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments: 1. Zoning Map Amendment 

99

Item X. 3.



STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

465-1A 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

465-1A 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 
 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful authority 

thereof: 

WHEREAS, JAY MAUPIN AS AGENT FOR OLEG MITNIK has filed an application for a conditional use to allow for an automotive 

export yard; map and parcel number 465-1A, located in the 5th commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on June 20, 2023 and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham County Herald 

on May 3, 2023; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been published in the 

Effingham County Herald on April 19, 2023; and 

 IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT a conditional use for an automotive export yard; map and parcel number 465-1A, located in the 5th 

commissioner district, is approved, with the following conditions: 

1. The applicant shall meet the requirements of Sec. 3.16 Junkyards, and Sec. 5.12.1B HI-Heavy industrial conditional uses 

2. The applicant shall install a solid fence, wall, or planted screen to a minimum of seven feet tall around the development site prior to 

beginning operations in the expansion area. 

3. Site development plans shall comply with the Effingham County Water Resources Protection Ordinance and the Stormwater Management 

Local Design Manual. 

4. All wetland impacts shall be permitted by USACE 

 

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:      FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

100

Item X. 3.



Staff Report 

Subject: 2nd Reading – Zoning Map Amendment 
Author: Chelsie Fernald, Planner 
Department: Development Services 
Meeting Date: June 20, 2023 
Item Description: Jay Maupin as Agent for Oleg Mitnik requests a variance from Section 3.4 Buffers. 
Located on Highway 21 South, zoned I-1. [Map# 465 Parcel# 1A] 

 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends Approval of the request for a variance from Section 
3.4 to reduce or eliminate required buffers between I-1 and B-3 zoned parcels. 

 
Executive Summary/Background 
• Pursuant to Appendix C-Zoning Ordinance, Article VII-Planning Board, Section 7.1.8, variances may 

only be granted if the following findings are made: 
That there are unique physical circumstances or conditions, including irregularity, narrowness, or 

shallowness, of lot size or shape, or exceptional topographical or other physical conditions peculiar to the 
particular property, and that the unnecessary hardship is due to such conditions, and not to circumstances 
or conditions generally created by the provisions of the zoning ordinance in the neighborhood or district 
in which the property is located; and 

That because of such physical circumstances or conditions, there is no possibility that the property 
can be developed in strict conformity with the provisions of the zoning ordinance, and that the authorization 
of a variance is therefore necessary to enable the reasonable use of the property. 

• A wrecked car export facility is a heavy industrial use. The parcel is bordered by I-1 and B-3 zoned 
properties. The required vegetative buffer between I-1 zoned parcels is 25’; the required buffer between 
I-1 (Heavy Industrial) and B-3 zoned parcels is 150’. 

• North: The applicant requests a variance to eliminate the required 25’ buffer between I-1 zoned parcels. 
• South: No Variance. The plan shows the required 150’ vegetative buffer between the I-1 zoned subject 

parcel (465-1A) and the B-3 zoned parcel to the south (fronting on Hwy 21). 
• The South parcel does have an active Code Enforcement action, the parcel has been cleared and graded. 
• East: No Variance. The applicant owns the I-1 parcel to the east; the parcels will be recombined. 
• West: The applicant requests a variance from the required 150’ buffer to 25’ between the subject parcel 

(465-1A) and the B-3 zoned parcels to the west. The hardship is related to the jurisdictional wetlands on 
the site. Denial of the variance will reduce the usable high ground area on the site by 41%. The lot will 
be used to store vehicles prior to shipment. The applicant proposes that the 12’ planted Berm/ fence will 
provide sufficient visual screening. 

• In the reduced buffer area, the applicant proposes a 6’ planted berm with 6’ privacy fence upland areas 
along the boundary with B-3 properties to the west. The wetland areas will not be disturbed. 

• A variance request to reduce the buffer on the western boundary was denied on 2/7/2023. 
• Mr. Ryan Thompson suggested clarity that the West buffer is actually closer to 40’ because of the added 

berms. 
• Mr. Dave Burns was concerned about the North West portion of the North buffer because it is showing as 

usable land and the buffer would be nonexistent. 
• At the May 9, 2023 Planning Board Meeting, Peter Higgins made a motion for approval with Staff 

recommendation. The motion was seconded by Brad Smith and carried unanimously. 
• At the June 6, 2023 Board of Commissioners Meeting the second reaching was tabled to June 20, 

2023; due to a 3-1 vote with Commissioner Jamie DeLoach voting against the variance.  

Alternatives 
1. Approve the request for a variance from Section 3.4 to reduce or eliminate required buffers between I-1 
and B-3 zoned parcels. 

1. The fencing and berm on the West shall be in place, and vegetative buffers to the South 
planted, before car export operations expand into Dickey Tract. 101

Item X. 4.



2. Deny the request for a variance from Section 3.4 to reduce or eliminate required buffers between I-1 and 
B-3 zoned parcels. 

 
Recommended Alternative:  1 Other Alternatives:  2 

 
Department Review: Development Services FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments: 1.   Zoning Map Amendment 

102

Item X. 4.



: STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

465-1A 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

465-1A 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, JAY MAUPIN AS AGENT FOR OLEG MITNIK has filed an application for a variance, from required 

development buffers; map and parcel number 465-1A, located in the 5th commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on June 20, 2023 and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham 

County Herald on May 3, 2023; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on April 19, 2023; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT a variance from required development buffers; map and parcel number 465-1A, located 

in the 5th commissioner district is approved, with the following condition:  

1. The screened fencing and berm on the West shall be in place, and vegetative buffers to the South planted, before 

car export operations expand into Dickey Tract. 

  

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

103

Item X. 4.



104

Item X. 5.



105

Item X. 5.



106

Item X. 5.



107

Item X. 5.



108

Item X. 5.



109

Item X. 5.



Staff Report Sketch Plan 5 

Subject: Sketch Plan (Fifth District) 
Author: Chelsie Fernald, Planner 
Department: Development Services 
Meeting Date: June 20, 2023 
Item Description: Jay Maupin as Agent for Oleg Mitnik requests approval of a sketch plan for “Dickey 
Tract”. Located on Highway 21 South, zoned I-1. [Map# 465 Parcel# 1A] 

 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of a sketch plan for “Dickey Tract”. 
Executive Summary/Background 

 The request for approval of a sketch plan is a requirement of Section 5.1 – Sketch Plan. 

The purpose of a sketch plan is to provide both the applicant and the county an opportunity to review 

the proposed development before significant financial resources have been invested. Therefore, the 

sketch plan does not require the certification of an engineer, surveyor, or other professional. Existing 

features, including water bodies, wetlands, and flood zone limits, are required to be surveyed for the 

sketch plan. 

 At the April 3, 2023 pre-application meeting, staff and the applicant discussed buffers and development 

plan requirements. 

 The project is an expansion of existing development, and will use the existing access on Commerce 

Court, in the Effingham Park of Commerce. 

 After Sketch Plan approval, staff will follow-up with a Notice to Proceed, summarizing requirements and 

recommendations. 

 The parcel is bordered by I-1 and B-3 zoned properties. The required vegetative buffer between I-1 zoned 

parcels is 25’; the required buffer between I-1 (Heavy Industrial) and B-3 zoned parcels is 150’. 

 North: The plan shows no buffer between I-1 zoned parcels. 

 South: The plan shows the required 150’ vegetative buffer between the I-1 zoned subject parcel (465-1A) 

and the B-3 zoned parcel to the south (fronting on Hwy 21). 

 The South parcel does have an active Code Enforcement action, the parcel has been cleared and graded. 

 East: The applicant owns the I-1 parcel to the east; the parcels will be recombined. 

 West: The plan shows a 25’ between the subject parcel (465-1A) and the B-3 zoned parcels to the west. 

 Mr. Ryan Thompson suggested clarity that the West buffer is actually closer to 40’ because of the added 

berms. 

 Mr. Dave Burns was concerned about the North West portion of the North buffer because it is showing as 

usable land and the buffer would be nonexistent. 

 At the May 9, 2023 Planning Board Meeting, Mr. Peter Higgins made a motion for approval with Staff 

recommendations. The motion was seconded by Mr. Ryan Thompson and carried unanimously. 

 At the Board of Commissioners Meeting on June 6, 2023 the board voted 3-1 on the rezoning 
application, with Commissioner Jamie DeLoach voting against the rezoning; due to not having a 2nd 
reading for the rezoning, the Sketch Plan was tabled.  

Alternatives 
1. Approve the sketch plan for “Dickey Tract”. 

1. The conditional use to operate an automotive export yard has been approved. 

2. Site development plans will match the approved buffers. 
 

2. Deny the sketch plan for “Dickey Tract”. 

Recommended Alternative:  1 Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: Development Services FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments: 1. Sketch Plan Application 2. Aerial Photograph  3. Sketch Plan 

110

Item X. 5.



PART II - OFFICIAL CODE 
Chapter 30 - ENVIRONMENT 

ARTICLE VIII. TIMBER OPERATIONS 
 

 

 

Effingham County, Georgia, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:13 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 1 of 4 

ARTICLE VIII. TIMBER OPERATIONS 

DIVISION 1. GENERALLY 

Sec. 30-270. Title. 

This article shall be known as "The Effingham County Timber Operations Ordinance."  

(Ord. of 7-23-13, Art. I(§ 1.1)) 

Sec. 30-271. Purpose and intent. 

The purpose of this article is to provide procedures, rules and regulations governing persons, firms, 
businesses, companies, and corporations engaged in timber operations in Effingham County and to provide for the 
notice by such persons, firms, businesses, companies, and corporations to allow for the taxation of timber 
harvesting at fair market value, to provide the efficient collection of the timber harvest tax and to protect the 
environment, county road network and to assure the public's safety.  

(Ord. of 7-23-13, Art. I(§ 1.2)) 

Sec. 30-272. Definitions. 

The following definitions shall apply in the interpretation and enforcement of this article, unless otherwise 
specifically stated or the context clearly requires different meaning:  

Board means Effingham County Board of Commissioners.  

County means Effingham County, Georgia.  

Timber means softwood or hardwood trees.  

Timber operations means the buying, cutting, harvesting, and/or hauling timber for delivery as pulpwood, 
logs, poles, posts, or wood chips to any wood yard or processing plant located inside or outside this state.  

Timber operator means any person, firm, business(s), company(s) or corporation(s) engaged in buying, 
harvesting or hauling timber in Effingham County for commercial or profit making purposes.  

Tract means a particular parcel or lot of land, or a particular stand of trees to be harvested on a particular lot 
or parcel of land.  

(Ord. of 7-23-13, Art. II(§ 2.1)) 

Sec. 30-273. Notice and permit. 

(a) Notice requirement. Prior written notice shall be required of any person or firm harvesting timber for each 
separate tract to be harvested thereby. Notice must be provided in accordance with this article and on the 
county form prior to, and in no event later than 24 hours after, start-up of any such timber harvesting 
activity. Such notice shall consist of:  

111

Item XI. 1.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:13 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 2 of 4 

(1) A map of the area which identifies the location of the tract to be harvested and, as to those trucks 
which will be traveling to and from such tract for purposes of picking up and hauling loads of cut forest 
products, all points of ingress to such tract from a public road and if different, all points of egress from 
such tract to a public road;  

(2) A statement as to whether the timber will be removed pursuant to a lump sale, per unit sale, or owner 
harvest for the purposes of ad valorem taxes;  

(3) The name, address, and daytime telephone number of the timber seller if the harvest is pursuant to a 
lump sum or per unit sale or of the timber owner if the harvest is an owner harvest;  

(4) The name, business address, business telephone number, and nighttime or emergency telephone 
number of the person or firm harvesting such timber.  

(b) Submission. Notice must be submitted to the county administrator or their designee and may be submitted 
in person, by transmission of an electronic record, facsimile or such other means as approved by the county 
administrator or their designee, or by mail. Following the submission of the notice requirements, the county 
administrator or their designee will inspect and document the access points within two business days.  

(c) Changes and amendment. If at any time circumstances reported in the notice change, the notice shall be 
amended within three business days or shall cease to be effective.  

(d) Posted notice. Once notice requirement has been met the county administrator will provide a permit at no 
cost. Said permit must be displayed and available for review at the main point of ingress and egress to a 
public road and in such a location as to be seen by the traveling public. The permit shall be effective at the 
time it is properly posted on site. The permit may be posted once the notice requirements have been 
satisfied and prior to county inspection.  

(e) Persons or firms harvesting timber shall give the county notice of cessation of cutting within 24 hours after 
the job is completed. Upon receipt of the completed timber harvest notice, county administrator shall 
immediately forward a completed copy of the timber harvest permit to the county tax assessor and tax 
commissioner.  

(f) Failure to comply with the provisions of this section shall constitute a violation of this article.  

(Ord. of 7-23-13, Art. III(§ 3.1); Ord. of 6-23-15) 

Secs. 30-274—30-280. Reserved. 

DIVISION 2. STANDARDS FOR OPERATIONS 

Sec. 30-281. Prevention of contamination, drainage, damage. 

(a) Violation to contaminate roads. Contamination of public roads with mud, dirt or debris from timber 
operations is prohibited. The tracking, spilling, dropping, washing, carrying or dumping of any material, dirt 
or mud onto any public road in this county, from any vehicle or equipment entering or exiting a timber 
harvesting tract, or any vehicles having previously entered or exited a timber harvesting tract. "Materials" 
shall include debris from harvested trees, limbs, branches, rock, gravel, and other similar material originating 
at a timber harvesting tract.  

(b) Contamination of rights-of-way. No timber operator shall allow dirt, mud or other debris resulting from 
timber operations to accumulate upon the right-of-way of any public road to such an extent that it becomes 

112

Item XI. 1.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:13 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 3 of 4 

a nuisance or a hazard to persons traveling upon said roads, or that it creates an unsightly condition upon 
the public right-of-way.  

(c) Interference with drainage. No timber operator shall allow dirt, mud or other debris resulting from timber 
operations to accumulate in ditches and drainage areas on public rights-of-way to such an extent that the 
usual flow of water or run-off is stopped, disturbed, changed or interrupted.  

(d) Damage to public road. No timber operator shall damage any portion of a county road or right-of-way. No 
timber operator shall cause a road to become impassable or unsafe to normal passenger traffic.  

(e) Failure to comply with the provisions of this section constitutes a violation of this article.  

(Ord. of 7-23-13, Art. IV(§ 4.1)) 

Sec. 30-282. Additional requirements. 

(a) Nuisance prohibited. No timber operator shall create any other type of public nuisance.  

(b) Parking.No timber operator or person shall park or leave unattended a truck, equipment or other motor 
vehicle or trailer upon the right-of-way of any county road. No county roads shall be used for: loading, 
unloading, skidding of materials, equipment, vehicles or timber.  

(c) Signs. No timber operator shall commence timber operations until he has first posted or caused to be posted 
along the public road onto which the timber operator will enter from his timber operations at least the 
following signs: one orange sign in each direction located 500 feet from the entrance in order to adequately 
warn oncoming traffic of persons, vehicles, equipment or machinery entering the roadway, signs shall be 
posted at least three feet from the road surface of said road.  

(d) Failure to comply with the provisions of this section constitutes a violation of this article.  

(Ord. of 7-23-13, Art. IV(§ 4.2)) 

Secs. 30-283—30-290. Reserved. 

DIVISION 3. ENFORCEMENT 

Sec. 30-291. Violations. 

(a) Violations. Each violation of the requirements of this article shall be punishable by a fine of $500.00, each 
day any violation under this article continues shall be considered a separate offense.  

(b) Road ban order. In the event there is an ongoing violation of the provisions of this division, or if a road is 
deemed to be unsafe or impassable due to timber operations, the county administrator, or their designee, 
may issue a road ban order requiring all uses of county roads cease until such time as the operator comes 
into compliance with this division or road conditions improve. In the event of inclement weather, a 
temporary road ban order may be placed upon a timber operator if the public road is unsafe or impassable 
by designation of the county administrator or their designee.  

(c) Withholding future permits. The county will not accept or approve additional notifications or issue permits 
where a company, firm or individual has an unresolved violation or has received notice of a violation, until 
the violation has been addressed to the satisfaction of the county. The firm may submit a corrective action 
plan with a timeline to complete or remediate any violations or the payment of any and all fines. The county 

113

Item XI. 1.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:13 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 4 of 4 

administrator or their designee will determine if subsequent permits shall be authorized if a violation is 
pending.  

(d) Injunctive relief. In the event that any provision of this article is violated the notice shall cease to be effective. 
In addition to any other remedies, the county may seek injunctive, mandamus or other appropriate action to 
prevent or abate such violation in court of competent jurisdiction and the timber operator shall be liable for 
such court costs and attorney fees incurred by the county. In addition to or in lieu of any other civil remedy, 
the county may seek civil fines in Effingham County Superior Court up to the maximum amounts authorized 
by this division for any violations. Each day a violation exists shall authorize an additional civil penalty.  

(Ord. of 7-23-13, Art. V(§ 5.1); Ord. of 6-23-15) 

Secs. 30-292—30-300. Reserved. 

 

114

Item XI. 1.



 

 

 
Page 1 of 4 

Sec. 30-270. Title. 

This article shall be known as "The Effingham County Timber Operations Ordinance."  

Sec. 30-271. Purpose and intent. 

The purpose of this article is to provide procedures, rules and regulations governing persons, firms, businesses, 
companies, and corporations engaged in timber operations in Effingham County and to provide for the notice by 
such persons, firms, businesses, companies, and corporations to allow for the taxation of timber harvesting at 
fair market value, to provide the efficient collection of the timber harvest tax and to protect the environment, 
county road network and to assure the public's safety. 

Sec. 30-272. Notice of timber harvest operations required. 

All persons or firms harvesting standing timber in any unincorporated area of Effingham County for delivery 
as pulpwood, logs, poles, posts, or wood chips to any woodyard or processing plant located inside or outside this 
state shall provide Notice of such harvesting operations to the County Manager or the designated agent thereof 
prior to entering onto the property if possible, but in no event later than 24 hours after entering onto the property 
to initiate timber harvesting activities. Further, such persons shall give notice of cessation of cutting within 24 
hours after the job is completed.  

Sec. 30-273. Content of such notice and related procedures. 

(a) The notice of harvesting operations required by this article shall be provided for each separate tract to be 
harvested. Such notice shall be made in such form as prescribed by rule or regulation of the Director of the 
Georgia Forestry Commission, and shall include the following information:  

(1) A map of the area which identifies the location of the tract to be harvested and, as to those trucks 
which will be traveling to and from such tract for purposes of picking up and hauling loads of cut forest 
products, the main point of ingress to such tract from a public road and, if different, the main point of 
egress from such tract to a public road. If multiple points of ingress and/or ingress will be used, all such 
points shall be identified;  

(2) A statement as to whether the timber will be removed pursuant to a lump sum sale, per unit sale, or 
owner harvest for purposes of ad valorem taxation under O. C.G.A § 48-5-7.5;  

(3) The name, address, and daytime telephone number of the timber seller if the harvest is pursuant to a 
lump sum or per unit sale or of the timber owner if the harvest is an owner harvest; and  

(4) The name, business address, business telephone number, and nighttime or emergency telephone 
number of the person or firm harvesting such timber.  

(b) Subject to the provisions of section 30-274, the notice required by this Ordinance may be submitted in 
person, by transmission of an electronic record via telefacsimile or email, or by mail.  

(c) Subject to the provisions of section 30-274, upon notification published by the Director of the Georgia 
Forestry Commission that a state-wide notification website or platform is available for public use, persons or 
firms wishing to utilize said website or platform to provide the notice required by this article may do so at 
their option, and Effingham County will accept notifications submitted in this manner.  

Sec. 30-274. State-wide notification. 

On and after a date specified and published by the Director of the Georgia Forestry Commission, use of the 
state-wide notification website or platform shall be mandatory and shall be the sole means of providing the Notice 

115

Item XI. 1.



 

 

 

 
Page 2 of 4 

required by this article; on and after said date submission of the notice by any of the means listed in subsection 30-
273 above shall cease and will no longer be deemed acceptable or in compliance with this article.  

Sec. 30-275. Bond or letter of credit requirement. 

The notice required by this article shall not be or remain effective unless and until the person or firm 
providing such notice has delivered to the director or its designated agent a valid surety bond, executed by a 
surety corporation authorized to transact business in this state, protecting the county against any damage caused 
by such person or firm in the amount of $5,000.00; provided, however, that at the option of the person or firm 
harvesting timber a valid irrevocable letter of credit issued by a bank or savings and loan association, as defined in 
O.C.G.A. § 7-1-4, in the amount of $5,000.00 may be provided in lieu of a surety bond. Such bonds or letters of 
credit shall be subject to the conditions set forth in Sections 30-276 and 30-277. No more than one bond or letter 
of credit shall be required from each person or firm harvesting timber, regardless of the number of tracts 
harvested in the county for so long as the bond or letter of credit remains in effect. The bond or letter of credit 
required herein shall be valid only for the calendar year in which it was delivered.  

Sec 30-276. Bond or letter of credit coverage. 

The bond or letter of credit required by section 30-275 shall protect Effingham County against any damage 
requiring re-ditching or repair of existing ditch structures or the removal of any harvesting residue, including tree 
tops, debris, logs, pulpwood and other materials, placed in or around the county's rights-of-way caused by such 
person or firm tendering the bond or letter of credit. The proceeds of such bond or letter of credit shall be 
available to reimburse the county for any cost incurred to repair such damages or remove such debris in or around 
the county's rights-of-way. The proceeds of such bond or letter of credit shall also be available to reimburse the 
county for any costs incurred to maintain or repair county roads damaged by the ingress or egress of motor 
vehicles engaged in the harvest operations located within 500 feet of any point of ingress or egress of the timber 
harvesting operation. The right of Effingham County to call such bond or letter of credit in accordance with the 
provisions of section 30-277 shall be in addition to any other remedies available to the county at law or in equity 
for damage to county roads or rights-of-way.  

Sec. 30-277. Damage claim. 

When damage results from a person or firm's harvesting activities, the County Manager or the designated 
agent shall make and provide a written claim to the person or firm causing the damage within 30 business days 
after the County Manager becomes aware of the damage. Such claim may be given in person, by telefacsimile, 
email or mail. The claim shall describe the damage in detail and, in compliance with subsection 30-278(a), give the 
person or firm the opportunity to repair such damage within 30 days of the notification; provided, however, the 
county shall be authorized to repair the damage immediately if the County Manager or its designee determines the 
conditions present a threat to public safety, health or welfare and, upon making such repairs, shall present to the 
person or firm and the issuer of the applicable bond or letter of credit an itemized list of expenses incurred as a 
claim against the responsible party and the issuer of its bond or letter of credit. Upon the issuance of a claim as 
provided in this section the County Manager or its designee shall notify the issuer of the bond or letter of credit 
that a claim has been made and will be resolved or adjudicated according to the terms of this article.  

Sec. 30-278. Damage claim procedures. 

Within 30 days of receipt of the written claim described in Section 30-277, the person or firm against whom 
the claim is submitted may:  

(a) Repair such damage at his or its own expense with the approval and supervision of the County 
Manager or its designee. When repairs are completed to the satisfaction of the County Manager or its 
designee, the County Manager or its designee shall provide a written notification of satisfactory 
completion within five business days to the responsible person or firm and to the surety issuing the 
bond or the bank issuing the letter of credit, thereby terminating the claim.  

116

Item XI. 1.



 

     

 
Page 3 of 4 

(b) In the event of inclement weather or other factors preventing repair of the damage, request a 30-day 
extension to repair the damage from the County Manager, provided that no extensions shall exceed 90 
days from the date the claim was tendered. Approval of any extension shall be at the discretion of the 
County Manager or its designee.  

(c) Appeal the claim to the magistrate court of Effingham County. Any such appeal must name the issuer 
of the bond or letter of credit as a party, who shall be served with all pleadings in the action and shall 
have the right to appear. The magistrate court will hear evidence and arguments within 30 days of the 
written appeal and issue a ruling within ten days of such hearing. Any such appeal shall toll the 30-day 
period, or any extension thereof, required by section 30-277. If the magistrate court rules in favor of 
the person or firm against whom the claim was made, Effingham County shall have no right to recover 
any proceeds of the bond or letter of credit. If the magistrate court rules in favor of Effingham County, 
the court shall determine the amount of damages to which the county is entitled to recover and enter 
judgment accordingly; the County Manager or designated agent shall be authorized to call the bond or 
letter of credit and recover from the proceeds thereof an amount equal to the judgment entered by 
the court, up to the total amount of the bond or letter of credit. The portion of any judgment entered 
in favor of the county that exceeds the amount of the bond or letter of credit shall be subject to 
collection by any additional remedies at law or equity.  

(d) In the event the person or firm against whom the claim has been submitted fails to take any of the 
actions allowed under subsections (a), (b) or (c) of this section within the time required therein, such 
person or firm shall be deemed to have waived any and all rights to contest the call of the bond or 
letter of credit.  

Sec. 30-279. Bond or letter of credit renewal. 

If the person or firm tendering a bond or letter of credit pursuant to the requirements of this article 
continues its timber harvesting operation beyond the calendar year in which the bond or letter of credit was 
issued, the person or firm continuing the timber harvesting operation shall tender a new bond or letter of credit 
within five business days after the first day of the new calendar year.  

Sec. 30-280. Bond or letter of credit revocation. 

In the event a bond or letter of credit tendered pursuant to the requirements of this article is revoked by the 
surety or bank, then a valid replacement bond or letter of credit must be delivered to the County Manager or the 
designated agent within five business days after the date of revocation in order for timber harvesting operations to 
continue. In addition, if the person or firm tendering the bond or letter of credit caused its revocation, the amount 
of the bond or letter of credit required shall be increased to $7,500.00 after the first revocation, and $10,000.00 
after a second revocation caused by the person or firm tendering the bond or letter of credit. The maximum 
amount of the bond or letter of credit shall not exceed $10,000.00.  

Sec. 30-281. Scope of operations. 

Submission of the notice required by this article shall authorize the person or firm submitting same to 
undertake the timber harvesting operation described in the notice and shall remain in effect until such time as the 
person or firm gives Notice that the harvesting operation is complete; provided, however, that any change in the 
facts required to be provided for purposes of such notice, including but not limited to a change in the scope or 
extent of the operation, must be reported to the County Manager or the designated agent within three business 
days after such change.  

Sec. 30-282. Violations. 

Any person or firm that engages in a timber harvesting operation in the unincorporated portion of Effingham 
County without complying with the Notice requirements of this article or Georgia's Best Management procedures 

117

Item XI. 1.



 

 

 
Page 4 of 4 

for Forestry shall be subject to a citation and trial, and upon conviction shall be fined in an amount not to exceed 
$1,500.00 for each violation.  

Sec. 30-283. Authority. 

This article applies to activities which qualify as forestry land management practices or agricultural 
operations under O.C.G.A. § 12-7-17 (5) and (6) on land that is zoned for or used for forestry, silvicultural or 
agricultural purposes. It shall not authorize land disturbing activities incidental to development in conflict with the 
limitations set forth in O.C.G.A. § 12-7-17(6).  

Sec. 30-284. Governance and administration. 

Consistent with O.C.G.A. § 12-6-24:  

(a) No fee shall be charged to provide and submit the notice required by this article; and  

(b) Persons and firms providing the notice required by this Ordinance may be asked to consult with County 
Manager or designated agent for the purpose of minimizing damage to the county's roads, rights of way and 
infrastructure, and are urged to follow recommendations from County officials, including without limitation:  

(1) Signage posted at each ingress/egress point on a county road with four 48-inch orange "Trucks 
Entering Highway" advance warning signs placed on the shoulder of the road at 500 feet and 1,000 feet 
intervals from both directions;  

(2) All such signs and posts shall conform to the current edition of the Manual for Uniform Traffic Control 
Devices;  

(3) No harvester equipment or vehicle(s) may be parked on a county right-of-way; and  

(4) The county right-of-way shall not be used as a loading facility.  

Notwithstanding the forgoing, the person or firm conducting the timber harvest operation bears ultimate 
responsibility for their actions, and nothing in this article shall preclude the county from taking any and all legal 
action necessary to protect its property and the health, safety and welfare of its citizens.  

Sec. 30-285. Validity and effectiveness. 

The provisions of this article are severable, and the invalidity of any phrase, clause, section or part of this 
Ordinance shall not affect the validity or effectiveness of the remainder of this ordinance.  

Sec. 30-286. Reserved. 

 

118

Item XI. 1.



  Resolution# 023-009 
 

A RESOLUTION AND ORDINANCE BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

AMENDING AND RESTATING THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY TIMBER OPERATIONS ORDINANCE IN THE 

UNINCORPORATED AREAS OF EFFINGHAM COUNTY CODIFIED IN ARTICLE VIII OF CHAPTER 30 OF THE 

CODE OF ORDINANCES, EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE; AND 

FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 

WHEREAS, timber harvesting operations occur in the unincorporated portions of Effingham County on a 

recurring basis; and  

WHEREAS, timber harvesting is an important component of the local economy in Effingham County, 

providing revenue to landowners, business opportunities, and jobs for local residents; it is the intent of 

the Board of Commissioners of Effingham County to facilitate this industry while at the same time 

protecting county infrastructure and the safety of the community; and  

WHEREAS, timber harvesting in many instances requires the use of county maintained roads in order to 

transport the product to market; and  

WHEREAS, it is in the public interest to protect the county road system from damage caused by timber 

harvesting operations to the extent allowed by state law; and  

WHEREAS, O.C.G.A. §12-6-24 authorizes and establishes the terms and conditions under which this 

Ordinance may be adopted and enforced; and  

WHEREAS, it is the intent of the Board of Commissioners of Effingham County to preserve and exercise 

where appropriate all powers and authority granted to it under state law, including but not limited to 

O.C.G.A. §32-4-42 and O.C.G.A. §40-6-371, that are not in conflict with O.C.G.A. §12-6-24, in order to 

protect the health, safety and welfare of the community; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners finds that the proposed Timber Operations Ordinance serves to 

protect and promote the health, safety, and general welfare of the residents of Effingham County; and 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED AND ORDAINED by the Board of Commissioners of Effingham County, 

Georgia, and IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED AND ORDAINED under authority of the same, as follows:  

Section 1. The Timber Operations Ordinance in Article VIII of Chapter 30 of the Effingham County Code of 

Ordinance shall be amended, restated and replaced with the Ordinance attached hereto as Exhibit "A" and 

incorporated by reference herein, which establishes rules and regulations for the notification of harvesting 

timber and pulpwood in the unincorporated areas of Effingham County, Georgia.  

Section 2. The repeal of the prior ordinance shall not revive any ordinances or resolutions in force before 

or at the time the ordinance or resolution repealed took effect, and the repeal of the prior ordinance shall 

not affect any punishment or penalty incurred before the repeal took effect, nor any suit, prosecution or 

proceeding pending at the time of the repeal, for an offense committed under the ordinance or resolution 

repealed. The enactment of this new ordinance is intended to supersede and replace in its entirety Article 

VIII, Chapter 30 – Effingham County Timber Operations Ordinance.  

Section 3. The Clerk of the Board of Commissioners shall forward this ordinance to the appropriate entity 

for codification.  

119

Item XI. 1.



  Resolution# 023-009 
 

Section 4. Should any part of this Resolution and Ordinance be declared invalid by a court of competent 

jurisdiction, the remaining portions hereof shall not be affected and shall remain in full force and effect.  

Section 5. This Resolution and Ordinance shall be effective on the _______day of ______________, 2023.  

So ORDAINED and ADOPTED this day of _____________, 2023. 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 
 
 
By: ___________________________ 

Wesley M. Corbitt, Chairman 
          
 

Attest: _____________________________ 
Stephanie D. Johnson, County Clerk 

 

120

Item XI. 1.



ARTICLE XI – ZONING APPEALS 

11.1 – Appeal of Zoning Decisions.  Any person, persons, or entities jointly or severally aggrieved by a 

final zoning decision may appeal in accord with O.C.G.A. Section 36-66-5.1(a)(1) and within the time 

frame established by O.C.G.A. Section 36-66-5.1(b). 

11.2 – Appeal of Quasi-Judicial Decisions. Any person, persons, or entities jointly or severally aggrieved 

by a final zoning decision may appeal in accord with O.C.G.A. Section 36-66-5.1(a)(2) and within the time 

frame established by O.C.G.A. Section 36-66-5.1(b).  The County Clerk is authorized to accept service of 

process on behalf of the Board of Commissioners of Effingham County.    

121

Item XI. 2.



PART II - OFFICIAL CODE 
APPENDIX C - ZONING ORDINANCE 

ARTICLE II. DEFINITIONS 
 

 

 

Effingham County, Georgia, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 1 of 11 

ARTICLE II. DEFINITIONS 

For the purpose of the administration and enforcement of this ordinance, and unless otherwise stated in this 
ordinance, the following words shall have a meaning as indicated herein.  

Words used in the present tense shall include the future tense; words used in the singular number shall 
include the plural number; words used in the plural number shall include the singular number; the word "shall" is 
mandatory, not directory.  

2.1 Accessory buildings. A secondary residence, garage, or other building or structure subordinated to and not 
forming an integral part of the main or principal building on a lot or parcel but pertaining to the use of the 
main building.  

2.2 Advertising signs. A surface whereon advertising material is set in public view, including reference to any use of 
premises whereon it is displayed or posted.  

2.3 Alley. A narrow thoroughfare dedicated or used for public passageway up to 20 feet in width, which usually 
abuts the rear of the premises, or upon which service entrances or buildings abut, and which is not generally 
used as a thoroughfare by both pedestrians and vehicles, is not used for general traffic, and is not otherwise 
officially designated as a street. A way which affords only a secondary means of access to abutting property.  

2.4 Alteration. Any change in the arrangement of a building, including any work affecting the structural parts of a 
building; or an enlargement; or any change in wiring, plumbing, heating, or cooling system; and includes the 
words "to alter" and "alter."  

2.5 Apartment building. A building which is used or intended to be used as a home or residence for more than two 
families living in separate quarters.  

2.6 Automotive sales, services, and storage. The sale, service, or storage of new or used automobiles, including 
paint and body repair shops. Any business that stores automobiles shall only store automobiles that will be 
put back in use on the roadways of the United States.  

2.6.5 Bed and breakfast lodging facility. A transient accommodation with on-site staff that provides no more than 
nine guestrooms. At least one meal shall be offered and served on the premises to registered evening guests. 
The facility must meet all requirements of the county health department parking requirements shall be the 
same as for hotels and motels.  

2.7 Boat house. A house or shed for sheltering one or more boats.  

2.8 Boundary of district. The centerline of a street or right-of-way or the centerline of an alleyway between the 
rear or side property lines, or, where no alley or passageway exists, the rear or side property lines or all lots 
bordering on any zoning district limits or any zoning district boundary shown on the maps adopted by section 
4.2.  

2.9 Buildable area. That portion of any lot which may be used or built upon in accordance with the regulations 
governing the given zoning district within which the particular lot is located, once the various front, side, and 
rear yard requirements required for the district have been subtracted from the total lot area.  

2.10 Building. Any structure having a roof entirely separated from any other structure by space or by walls, having 
no communicating doors or windows or similar opening, and being erected for the purpose of providing 
support of shelter for persons, animals, things, or property of any kind, and having a foundation to which it is 
anchored.  

122

Item XI. 2.



PART II - OFFICIAL CODE 
APPENDIX C - ZONING ORDINANCE 

ARTICLE II. DEFINITIONS 
 

 

 

Effingham County, Georgia, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 2 of 11 

2.11 Building height. The height of a building with a gabled or hip roof shall be the vertical distance measured from 
the average elevation of the finished building site to the top of the roof of the uppermost story or to the 
deck line of a mansard roof. The height of a building with a flat or nearly flat roof, less than seven degrees 
from the horizontal, shall be measured from the footing as stated above to the highest point of the roof.  

2.12 Building line. A line delineating the minimum allowable distance between the street right-of-way and nearest 
extreme projection of a building (including all areas covered by any vertical projections to the ground or 
overhang, walls, roof, or any other part of the structure).  

2.13 Building site. The ground area of a building or buildings together with all open spaces surrounded by said 
building or buildings.  

2.14 Building inspector. Any person hired by the county commissioners to inspect, determine compliance with, and 
render minor decisions concerning the compliance of structures and lots within the county.  

2.15 Camper. A motor home, tent, trailer, or other self-contained vehicle designated for recreational purposes.  

2.16 Care homes. Includes rest and nursing homes, convalescent homes, and boarding homes for the aged 
established to render nursing care for chronic or convalescent patients, but excludes facilities for care of 
active or violent patients such as feebleminded or mental patients, epileptics, alcoholics, senile psychotics, or 
drug addicts.  

2.17 Centerline, highway. The line running parallel with the highway right-of-way which is halfway the distance 
between the extreme edges of the official right-of-way width as shown on maps approved by the county tax 
assessor.  

2.18 Certified survey. A survey, sketch, plat, map, or other exhibit is said to be certified when a written statement 
regarding its accuracy or conformity to specified standards is signed by the specified professional engineer, 
registered surveyor, architect, or other legally recognized person.  

2.19 Church. A legally approved structure and its accessory buildings used and approved on a permanent basis, 
primarily for the public worship of God.  

2.20 Club, private. An organization or association of persons for some common purpose, such as, but not 
necessarily limited to, a fraternal, social, educational, or recreational purpose, but not including clubs 
organized primarily for profit or to render a service, which is customarily carried on as a business. Such 
organizations and associations must be incorporated under the laws of Georgia as nonprofit corporations 
and such corporations' major purpose shall not be for the purpose of serving alcoholic beverages to its 
members or others. This may not be located on, or in connection with any commercial activity.  

2.21 Commissioners. The board of commissioners of the county, which is the local governing authority for the 
county.  

2.21.1 Common outdoor open space. areas accessible from all parts of the development. Common open space can 
include passive or active recreation area, pathways, swimming pools, and open areas for congregating. 
Ponds, lakes, buffers or other spaces that are not usable by the residents of a development for recreational 
purposes shall not be included in common outdoor open space.  

2.22 Conditional use. Those uses allowed within a district, only after specific requirements are met. The 
commissioners at their discretion may require additional restraints, restrictions, qualifications, or limiting 
factors upon a specific use so that it becomes acceptable. A public hearing shall be required with regard to all 
proposed conditional uses.  

2.22A Culvert. A sewer or drain crossing under a road, driveway, or embankment.  

123

Item XI. 2.



PART II - OFFICIAL CODE 
APPENDIX C - ZONING ORDINANCE 

ARTICLE II. DEFINITIONS 
 

 

 

Effingham County, Georgia, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 3 of 11 

2.23 Density. The number of units or buildings per acre, or the number of people per unit, building, acre, or mile; 
the quantity of people, structures, or units within a specified area.  

2.24 Depth of lot. The depth of lot is the depth between its mean front street line and its mean rear line, measured 
along the median between the two side lot lines.  

2.25 Dwelling. A building or portion of a building arranged or designed to provide living quarters for one or more 
families on a permanent or long-term basis.  

2.25.1 Condominium. A building or series of buildings on the same lot or portions thereof containing more 
than one dwelling unit under separate ownership with joint ownership of common open spaces.  

2.25.2 Duplex. A residential building designed for, or used as, the separate homes or residences of two 
separate and distinct families, but having the appearance of a single-family dwelling unit. Each 
individual unit in the duplex shall comply with the definition of single-family detached dwelling.  

2.25.3 Single-family detached dwelling. A building or structure designed for and occupied as a residence 
exclusively by one family.  

2.25.4 Site-built single-family detached dwelling. A single-family detached dwelling constructed on the 
building site from basic materials delivered to the site and constructed in accordance with all 
requirements of the building codes as adopted by the county.  

2.25.5 Class A single-family detached dwelling. A site-built single-family detached dwelling, a one-family 
manufactured home, or a one-family industrialized home that meets or exceeds the compatibility 
standards for single-family dwellings under article III of this ordinance.  

2.25.6 Class B single-family detached dwelling. A site-built single-family detached dwelling, a one-family 
manufactured home, or a one-family industrialized home that does not meet the compatibility 
standards for single-family dwellings under article III of this ordinance.  

2.25.7 Garden apartment community. A low intensity, low-rise, apartment community comprised of two- or 
three-story buildings, each containing attached dwelling units typically characterized by a garden-like 
setting, surrounded by lawns, trees, shrubbery, and gardens and/or interior courtyards.  

2.25.8 Multifamily. A building or collection of buildings that are designed for and occupied by three or more 
families and located on a single parcel.  

2.25.9 Mixed-use residential. The mixing of principal residential uses with nonresidential uses. Mixed use 
residential may occur by the following:  

(a) Nonresidential and multifamily in the same building (e.g., retail on ground floor, multifamily 
above), or  

(b) Multifamily and another primary nonresidential use located in different buildings sited on the 
same lot or parcel (e.g., multifamily located on the same parcel as an office building).  

(c) Both options shall be designed, located, and oriented on the site so that nonresidential uses are 
directly accessible to residents of the development. For the purposes of this section, "directly 
accessible" shall mean pedestrian access by way of improved sidewalks or paths and streets that 
do not involve leaving the development or using a major thoroughfare. "Directly accessible" does 
not necessarily mean that nonresidential uses need to be located in a particular location, but that 
the siting of such uses considers the accessibility of the residential component of the 
development to the nonresidential use. Parking areas shall be designed to minimize distances 
between uses.  

124

Item XI. 2.



PART II - OFFICIAL CODE 
APPENDIX C - ZONING ORDINANCE 

ARTICLE II. DEFINITIONS 
 

 

 

Effingham County, Georgia, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 4 of 11 

2.25.10 Townhouse. A unit in a building with multiple dwelling units, where each unit is on an individual lot, 
shares a common sidewall, and is one to three stories in height.  

2.26 Dwelling unit. A structure or a portion of any structure designed, arranged and used for living quarters for one 
or more persons living as a single housekeeping unit with cooking facilities, but not including units in hotels, 
motels, boarding houses, or like uses.  

2.27 Dwelling, group. A building or portion of a building occupied or intended for occupancy by several unrelated 
persons or families, but in which separate cooking facilities are not provided for such resident persons or 
families. The term "group dwelling" includes, but is not limited to, roominghouses, apartment hotels, 
fraternity houses or sorority houses, YMCA, or YWCA. A hotel, motel, or tourist home shall not be deemed to 
be a group dwelling as herein defined.  

2.28 Reserved. 

2.29 Engineer. Any person having an acceptable degree from a recognized institution of higher learning who is 
capable of determining the correct manner in which to construct roads, streets, highways, water and 
sewerage systems, drainage system, structures, or other technically related areas. The person to be county 
engineer must be recognized by the State of Georgia as one.  

2.30 Estate. Any residential site comprising five acres or more shall come within the meaning of the word "estate."  

2.31 Reserved. 

2.32 Family. One person, or a group of two or more persons, living together and interrelated by bond or 
consanguinity, marriage, or legal adoption, occupying a dwelling unit as a single-family unit, with a single set 
of kitchen facilities.  

2.33 Floodprone areas. That land adjacent to a creek, stream, river, channel, canal, or other body of water that is 
designated as a floodplain or flood prone area by a governmental agency.  

2.34 Floor area. The sum of the gross floor area for each of the several stories under roof, measured from the 
interior limits or faces of a building or structure.  

2.35 Floor area ratio. Floor area of building or buildings on any lot divided by the area of the lot.  

2.36 Frontage. The distance or width of a parcel of land abutting a public right-of-way and as measured upon such 
right-of-way.  

2.37 Garage, community. A structure or series of structures under one roof, and under one ownership, for the 
storage of vehicles by three or more owners or occupants of property in the vicinity, where said structure 
has no public shop nor mechanical services in connection therewith.  

2.38 Garage, private. A structure for the private use of the owner or occupant of a principal building, situated on 
the same lot as the principal building for the storage of motor vehicles, with no facilities for mechanical 
service or repair of a commercial or public nature for profit.  

2.39 Garage, public. A structure for the storage, care, repair, or refinishing of motor vehicles, or a structure 
containing a public shop, or where automotive mechanical service is provided.  

2.40 Gas station. A structure designated or used for the retail sale or supply of fuel, lubricants, air, water, and 
other operating commodities for motor vehicles and including the customary spacing and facilities for the 
installation of such commodities on or in such vehicles, but not including space or facilities for the storage, 
painting, repair, refinishing, body work, or other servicing of motor vehicles.  

125

Item XI. 2.



PART II - OFFICIAL CODE 
APPENDIX C - ZONING ORDINANCE 

ARTICLE II. DEFINITIONS 
 

 

 

Effingham County, Georgia, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 5 of 11 

2.41 Highway. Any public thoroughfare of paving 22 feet or wider, including a street, which affords primary access 
to abutting property, and any thoroughfare of less width which is not classified as an alley (street).  

2.41A Historic structure. A structure that is at least 50 years old and meets one of the following requirements:  

2.41A.1 Listed on either the National or Georgia Register of Historic Places;  

2.41A.2 Eligible for listing on either the National or Georgia Register of Historic Places; or  

2.41A.3 Currently receiving or eligible to receive tax credits for rehabilitation of historic properties.  

2.42 Hospital. An institution providing health services, primarily for in-patients, and medical and surgical care of 
the sick or injured, including as an integral part of the institution such related facilities as laboratories, out-
patient departments, training facilities, central service facilities, and staff offices.  

2.43 Hotel. A building occupied as the more or less temporary residence of individuals who are lodged, with or 
without meals, and in which there are ten or more sleeping rooms with entrances through a common lobby 
or office.  

2.44 Junk. Old and dilapidated automobiles, trucks, tractors, and other such vehicles and parts thereof, wagons 
and other kinds of vehicles and parts thereof, scrap building material, scrap piping, bottles, glass, old iron, 
machinery, rags, paper, excelsior, hair, mattresses, beds or bedding, or any other kind of scrap or waste 
materials which is stored, kept, handled, or displayed within the county limits.  

2.44A Industrialized home. A dwelling manufactured in accordance with the Georgia Industrialized Building Act 
(O.C.G.A. title 8, chapter 2, article 2, part 1) and the rules of the commissioner of the state department of 
community affairs issued pursuant thereto, bearing an insignia of approval issued by the commissioner.  

2.45 Junkyard. Any land or building used for commercial storage and/or sale of paper, rags, scrap metals, other 
scrap, or discarded materials, or for the dismantling, storage, or salvaging of automobiles or other vehicles 
not in running condition, or of machinery or parts thereof, but not to be used as a dump. A "junk yard" also 
includes any outdoor area that is used exclusively for the temporary storage of wrecked automobiles, which 
are automobiles that do not get repaired and put back in use on the roadways of the United States, provided 
that no work shall be performed on any wrecked automobile while it is in storage.  

2.46 Local government.  Any county or municipality which exercises zoning power 
within its territorial boundaries. 

2.46 Lot. Parcel of land shown on a recorded plat or on the zoning map, or any piece of land described by a legally 
recorded deed.  

2.47 Lot, corner. Any lot situated at the junction of and abutting on two or more intersections or intercepting 
streets or public highways. If the angle or intersection of the direction lines of two highways is more than 135 
degrees, the lot fronting on said intersection is not a corner lot.  

2.48 Lot, interior. Any lot which is not a corner lot that has frontage only on one street other than an alley.  

2.49 Lot lines, front. In the case of a lot abutting upon only one street, the front lot line is the line separating such 
lot from such street. In the case of a corner lot, that part of the lot having the narrowest frontage on any 
street shall be considered the front lot line. In the case of any other lot, one such line shall be elected to be 
the front lot line for the purpose of this article, provided it is so designated by the building plans which meet 
the approval of the building and zoning inspector.  

126

Item XI. 2.



PART II - OFFICIAL CODE 
APPENDIX C - ZONING ORDINANCE 

ARTICLE II. DEFINITIONS 
 

 

 

Effingham County, Georgia, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 6 of 11 

2.50 Lot lines, rear. The rear lot line is that boundary which is opposite and most distant from the front lot line. In 
the case of a lot pointed at the rear, or any odd-shaped lot, the rear lot line shall be determined by the 
building and zoning inspector.  

2.51 Lot lines, side. A side lot line is any lot boundary line not a front lot line or a rear lot line. A side lot line 
separating a lot from a street is an exterior side lot line. A side lot line separating a lot from another lot or 
lots is an interior side lot line.  

2.52 Lot, through. Any lot having frontage on two parallel or approximately parallel streets or other thoroughfares.  

2.52A Manufactured home. A dwelling fabricated in an off-site facility for installation or assembly at the building 
site, bearing a label certifying that it is constructed in compliance with the National Manufactured Housing 
Construction and Safety Standards Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. § 5401 et seq.).  

2.52A.1 Manufactured home site. A parcel of land designed and designated for the location of one 
manufactured home, its accessory buildings or structures, and accessory equipment for exclusive use 
of the home.  

2.52A.2 Manufactured home stand. That area of a manufactured home site which has been reserved for 
placement of a manufactured home.  

2.53 Mapped streets. A mapped street is any approved street shown on an official map or the projection of any 
existing street through an unsubdivided parcel of land, whether the street is dedicated or in existence or not.  

2.54 Marshland. All land subject to tidal action which is comprised of generally unstable soil materials commonly 
known as "hard or soft" marsh, which in its natural state is vegetated with marsh grass, reeds, and similar 
growth and is usually characterized by poor load-bearing capacity. Marshland lies below an elevation of six 
feet above mean sea level.  

2.55 Mobile home. A dwelling manufactured prior to June 15, 1976, which is transportable in one or more sections; 
in the traveling mode, is eight body feet or more in width or 40 body feet or more in length, or when erected on 
site, is 320 or more square feet in floor area; is built on a permanent chassis and designed to be used as a dwelling 
with or without a permanent foundation when connected to the required utilities; and includes the plumbing, 
heating, air-conditioning, and electrical systems contained therein. All mobile homes must be installed in 
accordance with O.C.G.A. § 8-2-160, et. seq. Mobile homes must meet the construction standards specified in ANSI 
A119.1. Compliance with ANSI A119.1 shall be determined by the following procedures:  

2.55.1 For mobile homes that are proposed to be relocated within the county, the county building inspector 
or designee must inspect the unit to determine if the unit meets the standards of ANSI A119.1 
standards and all other applicable county ordinances are met, after which the county administrator or 
designee may issue the building permit for placement of the mobile home on site. An inspection fee 
determined from time to time by the board of commissioners shall be charged for each individual 
inspection of a mobile home.  

2.56 Reserved. 

2.57 Motel or motor hotel. A building or group of two or more buildings designed to provide sleeping 
accommodations for transient or overnight guests with no common entrance or lobby. Each building shall 
contain a minimum of ten residential units or rooms which generally have direct, private openings to a 
street, drive, or patio, etc.  

2.58 Nonconforming lot. Any lot that is smaller than the minimum dimensions, area, or other regulations of the 
district in which the lot is located.  

127

Item XI. 2.



PART II - OFFICIAL CODE 
APPENDIX C - ZONING ORDINANCE 

ARTICLE II. DEFINITIONS 
 

 

 

Effingham County, Georgia, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 7 of 11 

2.59 Nonconforming use. Use of any property or premises in any manner that does not comply with the 
regulations provided for the district in which the property or premises is situated, if such use was originally 
legally established at the effective date of this ordinance or any amendment thereof.  

2.60 Parking space. That area required for the parking or storage of one automobile, including necessary aisle or 
driveway space providing access thereto.  

2.60A Planned manufactured home community. A tract used or intended for use as a residential area occupied by 
manufactured homes; conforming to an approved development plan with appropriate and adequate 
community services, recreation facilities, utilities, streets, and sidewalks provided by the developer; and in 
which the resident owns or rents the manufactured home and rents the manufactured home space. All 
manufactured homes located within a manufactured home community must be installed in accordance with 
O.C.G.A. § 8-2-160 et seq.  

2.60B Planned single-family home community. A subdivision used or intended for use as a residential area 
occupied by single-family homes; conforming to an approved development plan with appropriate and 
adequate community services, recreation facilities, utilities, streets, and sidewalks provided by the 
developer; and in which the subdivision is under single ownership or control.  

2.61 Planning board. The county planning board, which is a body of people appointed by the commissioners whose 
responsibilities include the guidance of growth and development within the county.  

2.61A Pond. A manmade depression designed to hold water that is less than one acre in size. These include 
retention, detention, and borrow pits less than one acre.  

2.62 Principal building. The building situated or to be placed nearest the front property line and the use of which 
conforms to the primary use permitted by the zoning classification in which it is located.  

2.63 Professional buildings. Structures used for the conduct of business in any of the following or related 
categories: law; architecture; accounting; engineering; medicine; dentistry; optometry; osteopathy; 
chiropractors; optician; planning, or consulting of the nature of the aforestated categories, not including 
outside storage space for business vehicles or equipment.  

2.64 Public body. Any government or governmental agency in Effingham County, the State of Georgia, or the 
United States Government.  

2.65 Public use. Use of any land, water, or buildings by municipality, public body, or board, commission, or any 
county, state, or the federal government, or any agency thereof for a public service or purpose.  

 

 Quasi-judicial officers, boards, or agencies. An officer, board, or agency 
appointed by a local government to exercise delegated, quasi-judicial zoning 

powers including hearing appeals of administrative decisions by such officers, 

boards, or agencies and hearing and rendering decisions on applications for 
variances, special administrative permits, special exceptions, conditional use 

permits, or other similar permits not enumerated herein as a zoning decision, 
pursuant to standards for the exercise of such quasi-judicial authority adopted 
by a local government. 

128

Item XI. 2.



PART II - OFFICIAL CODE 
APPENDIX C - ZONING ORDINANCE 

ARTICLE II. DEFINITIONS 
 

 

 

Effingham County, Georgia, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 8 of 11 

2.66 Repairs. Restoration of portions of a building to its condition as before decay, wear, or damage, but not the 
alteration of the shape or size of any portion.  

2.67 Residential. The term "residential" or "residence" applies herein to any lot, plot, parcel, tract, area, piece of 
land, and/or any building used or intended to be used exclusively for family dwelling purposes, including 
concomitant uses specified herein.  

2.68 Restaurant. A building, room, or rooms where food is prepared and served to a group of families, a club, or to 
the public for consumption within the enclosed structure.  

2.69 Right-of-way line. The outside boundaries of a highway right-of-way, whether such right-of-way be 
established by usage, dedication, or by the official right-of-way.  

2.70 Roominghouse. (The terms roominghouse, boardinghouse, tourist home, cooperative house, and 
lodginghouse are used synonymously in this ordinance.) A building, other than a hotel or dormitory, where, 
for compensation and by arrangement for definite periods, lodging or lodging meals are provided for more 
than three persons unrelated to the owners of the structure.  

2.71 Rooming unit. Any room or group of rooms, forming a habitable unit used for living and sleeping, but which 
does not contain cooking or eating facilities.  

2.72 Setback. The minimum horizontal distance between the right-of-way line, rear, or side lines of the lot, and the 
front, rear, or side lines of the building. When two or more lots under one ownership are used, the exterior 
property line so grouped shall be used in determining offsets.  

2.72A Shipping container. A receptacle designed for intermodal transport of cargo aboard ship, truck trailer, or rail 
car, and which exhibits features designed to facilitate the movement of containerized cargo, including but 
not limited to corner fittings for pins, design for stacking, size dimensions of eight feet wide by eight or ten 
feet high by 20, 35, or 40 feet in length, and which is otherwise designed and constructed in conformance 
with standards for shipping containers as set forth by the international standards organization.  

2.72B Shipping container facility. A facility that provides storage for shipping containers awaiting transport or next 
use.  

2.73 Site. An area designated as a separate and distinct parcel of land on a legally recorded subdivision plat or in a 
legally recorded subdivision plat or in a legally recorded deed.  

2.74 Special exception. A use, specifically designated in this ordinance, that would not be appropriate for location 
generally or without restriction throughout a given zoning district but which, if controlled as to number, area, 
location, or relation to the neighborhood, would, in the opinion of the county commissioners, promote the 
public health, safety, welfare, morals, order, comfort, convenience, appearance, prosperity, or general 
welfare.  

2.75 Story. That portion of a building included between the surface of any floor and the surface of the floor next 
above it; or if there be no floor above it, then the space between the floor and ceiling next above it.  

2.76 Street. A dedicated and accepted public right-of-way for vehicular traffic which affords the principal means of 
access to abutting properties.  

2.77 Structural alteration. Any change in the shape or size of any portion of a building or structure such as walls, 
columns, beams, arches, girders, floor joists, or roof joists.  

2.78 Surveyor. A person who determines or delineates the form, extent, position, distance, or shape of a tract of 
land by taking linear and angular measurements, and by applying the principles of geometry and 
trigonometry.  

129

Item XI. 2.



PART II - OFFICIAL CODE 
APPENDIX C - ZONING ORDINANCE 

ARTICLE II. DEFINITIONS 
 

 

 

Effingham County, Georgia, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 9 of 11 

2.79 Structure. Anything constructed or erected, the use of which requires rigid location on the ground or 
attachment to something having a permanent location on the ground; provided, however, that utility poles, 
fences, and walls (other than building walls) shall not be considered to be structures.  

2.80 Subdivision. "Subdivision" means all divisions of a tract or parcel of land into two or more lots, building sites, 
or other divisions for the purpose, whether immediate or future, of sale, legacy, or building development, and 
includes all division of land involving a new street or change in existing streets, and includes resubdivision and, 
where appropriate, the process of subdividing or the land or area subdivided; provided, however, that the 
following exceptions are included within this definition only for the purpose of requiring that the planning board 
be informed and have record of such subdivisions:  

Exceptions:  

(a) The combination or recombination of portions of previously platted lots where the total number of lots 
is not increased and the resultant lots are equal to the standard of the governing authority;  

(b) The immediate transfer of property necessitated by death of the property owner to the said property 
owner's legal heirs, provided that the smallest parcel meets the minimum standards for the zoning 
district where that property is located and a minimum 60-foot access easement is available to serve a 
cumulative total of not more than three parcels that do not abut a public road;  

(c) The transfer of property between family members within the third degree of consanguinity, provided 
that the smallest parcel meets the minimum standards for the zoning district where that property is 
located and a minimum 60-foot access easement is available to serve a cumulative total of not more 
than three parcels that do not abut a public road;  

(d) The division of land into parcels of ten acres or more where no new street is involved.  

Plats of such exceptions shall be received as information by the zoning administrator who shall indicate such 
fact on the plats.  

Conditional exemptions: In order to provide property owners with an expeditious method for subdividing a 
portion of a tract of land, conditional exemptions from the provisions of this ordinance are authorized and 
may be granted by the county zoning administrator provided such requests for conditional exemptions 
comply with the following:  

(a) The division of land into two parcels when the smallest parcel meets the minimum standards for the 
zoning district where that property is located and when divided for residential purposes meets health 
department requirements and where no new street is involved; provided that the same tract cannot be 
divided using this conditional exemption more than one time in any 12-month period beginning on the 
date of recording.  

Plats requesting conditional exemption will be received by the county zoning administrator's office for 
review. Plats meeting the requirements stated above can be approved by the zoning administrator who shall 
indicate such fact on the plats. If, in the determination of the zoning administrator, a plat requesting 
conditional exemption does not comply with the above requirements, or other factors peculiar to the 
individual circumstance of the property in question, the zoning administrator is required to deny the 
conditional exemption and forward the plat to the planning board for processing as a subdivision.  

 

 

130

Item XI. 2.



PART II - OFFICIAL CODE 
APPENDIX C - ZONING ORDINANCE 

ARTICLE II. DEFINITIONS 
 

 

 

Effingham County, Georgia, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 10 of 11 

Territorial boundaries.  The unincorporated areas thereof and any area defined 
in paragraph (5.1) of Code Section 36-70-2 

2.81  Trailer. A non-self-propelled vehicle or conveyance permanently equipped to travel upon the public highways 
that provides temporary use as a residence or living quarters or office; serves as a carrier of people, new or used 
goods, products, or equipment; or is used as a selling, advertising, or display device whether or not the wheels 
have been removed and whether or not set on jacks, skirts, masonry blocks, or other foundation.  

2.82 Trash. Cuttings from vegetation, refuse, paper, bottles, and rags.  

2.83 Use. The purpose for which land or a building is arranged, designed, or intended, or for which either land or a 
building is or may be occupied or maintained.  

2.83A Utilities, government-owned. Any government-owned water and sewer utilities and appurtenances, 
including publicly-owned treatment plants permitted by the state, wells, water distribution lines, sewage 
collection lines, re-use water distribution lines, pump stations, water storage facilities, meter stations, and 
fire hydrant.  

2.83B Vacant. A structure in which the principle use has been abandoned. This shall not include structures for sale 
or rent or temporarily unoccupied.  

2.84 Variance. A modification of the strict terms of this ordinance granted by the county commission where such 
modification will not be contrary to the public interest; and where, owing to conditions peculiar to the 
property and not as a result of any action on the part of the property owner, a literal enforcement of the 
ordinance would result in unnecessary and undue hardship; and where such modification will not authorize a 
principal or accessory use of the property which is not permitted within the zoning district in which the 
property is located.  

2.85 Vehicle. A conveyance for persons or materials.  

2.86 Waterfront. Any site shall be considered as waterfront property provided any or all of its lot lines abut on or 
are contiguous to any body of water including creek, canal, river, or any other body of water natural or 
artificial, including marshland, not including a swimming pool, whether said lot line is front, rear, or side.  

2.87 Yard. An open space on the same lot with a building; said space lies between the building and nearest lot or 
street line.  

2.88 Yard, front. That area of open space to the front of the platted lot, the area immediately adjacent to the 
street side of the lot. If streets are bound on two sides of the lot, the narrower portion fronting on a street 
shall be declared the front. See "Lot lines, front."  

2.89 Yard, rear. That area of open space that is opposite the area delineated as the front. That area of greatest 
distance from the street. See "Lot lines, rear."  

2.90 Yard, side. That area of open space that is immediately adjacent to the side lot lines. See "Lot lines, side."  

Zoning.  The power of local governments to provide within their respective 

territorial boundaries for the zoning or districting of property for various uses 
and the prohibition of other or different uses within such zones or districts and 
for the regulation of development and the improvement of real estate within 

131

Item XI. 2.

https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000468&cite=GAST36-70-2&originatingDoc=N988F2860E62511EC995BA24757C42921&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&ppcid=9e6737d028c44419bcf60f8386b61b0b&contextData=(sc.Category)


PART II - OFFICIAL CODE 
APPENDIX C - ZONING ORDINANCE 

ARTICLE II. DEFINITIONS 
 

 

 

Effingham County, Georgia, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:27 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 11 of 11 

such zones or districts in accordance with the uses of property for which such 
zones or districts were established. 

2.91 Zoning administrator. That person hired by the county commissioners to enforce the zoning ordinance, 
subdivision regulations, and any other land use ordinances adopted by the county commissioners.  

Zoning decision.  A final legislative action by a local government which results in: 

(A) The adoption or repeal of a zoning ordinance; 

(B) The adoption of an amendment to a zoning ordinance which changes the text 
of the zoning ordinance; 

(C) The adoption or denial of an amendment to a zoning ordinance to rezone 
property from one zoning classification to another; 

(D) The adoption or denial of an amendment to a zoning ordinance by a municipal 
local government to zone property to be annexed into the municipality; 

(E) The grant or denial of a permit relating to a special use of property; or 

(F) The grant or denial of a variance or conditions concurrent and in conjunction 
with a decision pursuant to subparagraphs (C) or (E) of this paragraph. 

 

Zoning ordinance.  An ordinance or resolution of a local government establishing 
procedures and zones or districts within its respective territorial boundaries which 
regulate the uses and development standards of property within such zones or 

districts. The term also includes the zoning map adopted in conjunction with a 
zoning ordinance which shows the zones and districts and zoning classifications of 
property therein. 
 

2.92 Zoning ordinance or ordinance. The zoning ordinance of the county.  

2.93 Zoning map. The official map of the County.  

(Amend. of 4-4-00(20); Amend. of 4-4-00(21); Amend. of 4-4-00(22); Ord. of 10-21-04, § 1; Ord. of 9-54-07, § 1(a); 
Ord. of 8-5-08; Ord. of 1-3-11, § 1; Ord. of 7-17-12, § 1; Ord. of 11-5-19 ; Ord. of 3-1-22(1) ; Ord. of 11-15-22(1) ; 
Ord. of 1-3-23(2) ) 

 

132

Item XI. 2.



 

 

 

    

 
Page 1 of 3 

9.4 Procedure for conducting a public hearing. 

All public hearings on zoning amendments matters that require a public hearing included but not limited to 
rezonings, text amendments, conditional uses, sketch plans, and variances shall be chaired by either the chairman 
of the planning board or the county commission chairman or their designees (hereinafter referred to as the 
“presiding officer”).  

The public hearing shall be called to order by the presiding officer.  The presiding officer shall conduct the 
meetings as follows in this Section 9.4 but the presiding officer shall have the right to change the order of 
appearances in his or her discretion to stream line the process when no one wishes to speak for or against the 
zoning matter. 

The county zoning administrator shall be recognized by the presiding officer first and shall be permitted to 
give a summary of the zoning request. 

The zoning applicant or the applicant’s agent, shall be recognized by the presiding officer second and shall be 
permitted to present and explain the zoning request.  Thereafter, all individuals who so desire and if time allows, 
shall be permitted to speak in favor of the zoning request.  After the individuals have had an opportunity to speak, 
those individuals present at the public hearing who wish to speak in opposition to the zoning request shall have an 
opportunity to speak.  Those speaking for or against the zoning request shall be subject to the time constraints 
stated below. 

When any person wishes to speak at a public hearing, that person shall raise his or her hand and after being 
recognized by the presiding officer, shall stand and state his or her name, and make any comment appropriate to 
the proposed zoning request. 

The zoning applicant shall have an opportunity, after all comments in opposition have been made, to make 
summary remarks concerning the proposed zoning request. 

A time limit of fifteen (15) minutes shall be imposed upon the total number of people who wish to speak in 
favor of the zoning request, including the initial presentation of the zoning applicant.  Thereafter, a time limit of 
fifteen (15) minutes shall be imposed on the total number of persons who wish to speak in opposition to the 
zoning application.  Summary remarks by the zoning applicant shall be limited to five (5) minutes.  These time 
limits may be extended at the discretion of the presiding officer upon a showing of good cause by the person so 
requesting. 

Each speaker shall speak only to the merits of the proposed zoning request under consideration and shall 
address his or her remarks only to the board conducting the hearing.  Each speaker shall refrain from personal 
attacks on other speakers, board members, or county staff and from discussing facts or opinions irrelevant to the 
proposed zoning request under consideration.  The presiding officer may limit or refuse a speaker the right to 
continue if the speaker, after being first cautioned, continues to violate this paragraph.  The presiding officer shall 
have the right to ask an attendee or speaker to leave the building for unruly behavior. 

Thereafter, the presiding officer shall announce that no further comments from the public or zoning 
applicant concerning the requested zoning request shall be received and the presiding officer shall close that 
particular public hearing.  Next, the board shall deliberate on the proposed zoning request and then take any 
action that the board is authorized to take.  

A secretary shall record the proceedings of the public hearing. Verbatim Transcripts of the public hearing can 
be provided if requested and paid for in advance by the requesting party.  

The record of the public hearing and all evidence submitted at the public hearing shall be recorded as such 
and become a permanent part of the particular zoning amendment's file.  

The chairman of the planning board or county commission chairman shall preside at the public hearing and 
shall identify speakers, maintain order, and conduct the public hearing.  

133

Item XI. 2.



 

 

 

    

 
Page 2 of 3 

The process to be followed in conducting these hearings shall be as follows:  

The presiding officer shall open the hearing by stating the specific zoning amendment being considered at 
the public hearing.  

Where there are a large number of individuals wishing to testify at a hearing, the presiding officer may 
invoke time limits on individual speakers. In such cases, these time limits shall apply to all speakers. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, however, in no event shall the aggregate time afforded to those in favor or 
those opposed to a zoning amendment be less than ten minutes.  

The presiding officer shall recognize the individual parties wishing to testify or present evidence and allow 
them to present this information.  

Once all parties have concluded their testimony, the presiding officer shall adjourn the public hearing.  

9.5 Standards and Criteria for zoning decisions. 

As appropriate, the following factors may be considered for rezoning, text amendments, and 
conditional use applications:  

(i)  Comprehensive Plan and land development plans, including projected densities;  

(ii)  Existing uses and zoning of nearby property:  

(a)  Use and classifications of other property;  

(b)  Effect upon residents of adjoining property.  

(iii)  Land values:  

(a)  Impact of change on values of adjacent and nearby properties;  

(b)  Opinions as to most advantageous use.  

(iv)  Roads and traffic:  

(a)  Character of adjacent and boundary roads;  

(b)  Intersections;  

(c)  Planned development by public agencies;  

(d)  Planned private developments;  

(e)  Effect of increased traffic on safety.  

(v)  Rivers, streams and drainage:  

(a)  Flood plains;  

(b)  Soil erosion and sedimentation;  

(c)  Protected areas;  

(d)  Pollution of surface and sub-surface water.  

(vi)  Utilities:  

(a)  Sewage disposal;  

(b)  Water supply;  

(c)  Whether the proposed method of sewage treatment is consistent with the 
county sewer master plan;  

(d)  Whether the proposed rezoning and proposed water usage is consistent with 
the county water master plan;  

134

Item XI. 2.



 

 

 

    

 
Page 3 of 3 

(e)  Whether the proposed rezoning is consistent with any and all regional 
agreements, e.g., regional water agreements and regional sewer 
agreements.  

(vii)  Other special considerations:  

(a)  Buffer zones;  

(b)  Noise;  

(c)  Odor;  

(d)  Fire protection;  

(e)  Terrain or topography;  

(f)  Schools;  

(g)  Animals;  

(h)  Visual intrusions on neighbors;  

(i)  Aesthetics;  

(j)  Site plans and plats;  

(k)  Lighting;  

(l)  Hours of operation.  

 

 

Change existing 9.5 to 9.6. 

 

135

Item XI. 2.



Staff Report 

 
Subject:   Schedule of Fees update, multiple departments 

Author:  Mark W. Barnes, Finance Director 

Department:  Finance 

Meeting Date: 6/20/23  

Item Description: Consideration to approve a resolution to amend the Schedule of 
Fees 

 

Summary Recommendation:   

Staff recommends approval of the resolution to amend the Schedule of Fees. 
 

Executive Summary/Background: 

Periodically, staff will review the Schedule of Fees and propose changes.  These 
changes can be driven by the addition or removal of a county service, by inflation, or 
other factors. 
 
This proposed amendment touches several areas of the Schedule of Fees, some of 
which haven’t been updated in more than a decade (e.g., the water connection service 
charge).  Changes are proposed to the following headers in the Schedule: 
 

1. Building Application Fees 
a. Added a percentage component to commercial plan review fee 
b. Added section for industrial building permits and plan review 
c. Added section for single inspection permits 

2. EMS 
a. Updates to each type of transport service provided 
b. Fees based on allowable rates by Medicare 
c. Last updated at beginning of 2020 

3. Fire Fees 
a. Fire fee changes covered in detail in fire fee resolution 

4. Public Works 
a. Changes to culvert and right-of-way permits based on labor estimates 

from EOM 
5. Recreation 

a. Added facility rental rates that were already in place but not listed in 
previous amendments to Schedule 

b. Updated league sign-up rates, most haven’t changed since before 2011 
6. Wastewater Treatment 

a. Per the rate plan approved 8/4/2020, the County will raise its rates by 
same percentage as the increase County is charged by City of Savannah, 
which recently increased by 3.4% 

7. Water & Sewer 
a. Like with wastewater treatment, rates proposed to increase by 3.4% 

136

Item XI. 3.



b. Water connection service charge and sewer development fee increase 
proposed.  These fees haven’t increased in many years 

8. Zoning 
a. Updated occupational tax admin fee 
b. Broadened number of size brackets for occupational tax 

 
Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Approve the proposed resolution to amend the Schedule of Fees. 
2. Do not approve the proposed resolution. 
3. Provide Staff with direction. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 

Staff recommends alternative number 1 – approve the proposed amendment to the 

Schedule of Fees. 

 

Other Alternatives: 

none 

 

Department Review: (list departments) 

Finance, County Manager, Development Services, EMS, Recreation, Fire & Rescue 

 

Funding Source: 

n/a 

 

Attachments: 

Resolution to amend the Schedule of Fees 

137

Item XI. 3.



1 
 

STATE OF GEORGIA   

COUNTY OF EFFINGHAM   
    

A RESOLUTION TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY SCHEDULE OF FEES  

   

BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Commissioners of Effingham County, in regular meeting assembled and 
pursuant to lawful authority thereof, that the Effingham County Schedule of Fees on file with the Clerk of the 

Board of Commissioners of Effingham County, Georgia, is hereby amended to include the following:  

LICENSING AND TAXING OF ALCOHOL BEVERAGES 

Service Rendered Assessed Fee 

License Fee   

Retail Beer & Wine sale by drink $1,250.00  

Retail Liquor sale by drink $2,500.00  

Retail Beer, Wine and Liquor sale by drink $3,750.00  

Wholesale License $1,000.00  

Retail Beer & Wine sale by package $1,250.00  

Farm Winery, sale by package and drink $1,250.00  

Exterior signs $25.00  

Advertisement $30.00  

Initial Application Fee   

Beer, Wine, Liquor $250.00  

Renewal Application Fee $50.00 

Excise Tax   

Case of 48 cans/bottles containing 6oz $1.20  

Case of 48 cans/bottles containing 7oz $1.40  

Case of 36 cans/bottles containing 8oz $1.20  

Case of 24 cans/bottles containing 10oz $1.00  

Case of 24 cans/bottles containing 12oz $1.20  

Case of 24 cans/bottles containing 14oz $1.40  

Case of 24 cans/bottles containing 16oz $1.60  

Case of 12 cans/bottles containing 32oz $1.60  

Keg/Drum/ Barrel with capacity to hold 1.125gal $0.44  

Keg/Drum/ Barrel with capacity to hold 2.25gal $0.87  

Keg/Drum/ Barrel with capacity to hold 3.875gal $1.50  

Keg/Drum/ Barrel with capacity to hold 7.75gal $3.00  

Keg/Drum/ Barrel with capacity to hold 15.5gal $6.00  

Keg/Drum/ Barrel with capacity to hold 31gal $12.00  

  Proportionate tax for all fractional parts of 15.5gal   

Liquor by package or drink   

Per Gallon $0.80  

Per Half Gallon $0.40  

Per Quart $0.20  

Per Fifth $0.16  

Per Pint $0.10  

138

Item XI. 3.



2 
 

Per Tenth  $0.08  

Per Half Pint $0.05  

Mixed Drink Tax (set by ordinance) 3% 

Collection by licensee, licensee may withhold % based on allowable 

deduction in O.C.G.A. A. § 48-8-50 

Wine for sale by package or drink   

Per Liter $0.22  

Per Gallon $0.83  

Violations - minimum fine of  $1,000  

Late Payment Penalties   

Late payment of Mixed Drink Tax 15% 

    Minimum late fee $25.00  

Plus 1% per month tax not paid   

ANIMAL CONTROL 

Service Rendered Assessed Fee 

Adoption Fee 
 Canine - $60.00 plus cost of rabies vaccine                          
Felines - $45.00 plus cost of rabies vaccine 

Rabies Vaccine $15.00 per animal 

Impound Fee  $25.00 per animal impounded 

Boarding Charge $5.00  per day per animal 

Quarantine $10.00 per day per animal  

  (Bite Cases) 

Veterinarian Charges Varies 

Animal Care Charges Varies 

BUILDING APPLICATION FEES 

Service Rendered Assessed Fee 

Mobile Home (SW) $150.00  

Mobile Home (DW) $250.00  

Mobile Home (TW) $350.00  

One and Two Family Dwellings Building Permit 
Plan Review Fee is due when plans are submitted 

 $50 Plan Review Fee+ $.25 climate controlled + $.20 
non-climate controlled  

Commercial Building Permit 
Plan Review Fee is due when plans are submitted 

 Plan Review Fee 5% of permit fee, minimum $150.00 
$150 Plan Review Fee  

+ $7.00 per $1,000 of Construction Value 
Based on Greater of $100/SQ. FT. climate controlled 
or $50/SQ. FT. non-climate controlled and Submitted 

Value, 
Permit Fee Shall Not Exceed $150,000 

Industrial Building Permit 
Plan Review Fee is due when plans are submitted 

 
 

Plan Review Fee 5% of permit fee, minimum $500.00 
+ 7.00 per $1,000 of construction value 

Based on greater of $100/SQ. FT. climate controlled 
Or $50/SQ. FT. non-climate controlled and submitted 

value,  
permit fee shall not exceed $250,000 

Government, Educational, and Religious 
Building/Renovation/Remodel/Addition Permits 

$50.00 Admin Fee + $50.00 each licensed trade 
(Electric, Plumbing, HVAC) 

139

Item XI. 3.



3 
 

One and Two Family Dwelling 
Renovation/Remodeling/Addition Permit 

$50 admin fee + $.20/climate controlled sq. ft. + 
$.15/non-climate controlled sq. ft. 

Private Educational, and Religious Addition Permit  $50 admin fee  

Slab $50.00 

Accessory Building for One and Two Family Dwellings $50.00 admin fee + $.10 sq ft 

Deck  $50 adm fee + $.05 sq ft  

Pools  $ 50 adm fee + $.10 sq ft pool area  

Demolition Permit $50.00  

Relocation $50 + $.10 sq. ft.  

Windows $50 admin fee + $5 per $1,000 in estimated cost 

Signs  $50 ad min + $.10 sq. ft. sign area  

Single Inspection Permits 
Residential 

(Electrical, Plumbing, HVAC, etc.) $50.00 admin fee 

Single Inspection Permits 
Residential Solar $50.00 plan review fee + $50.00 permit fee 

Single Inspection Permits 
Commercial/Industrial 

(Electrical, Plumbing, HVAC, etc.) $150.00 admin fee 

Re-inspection Fee  $50 - first  

  $75 - second 

  $100 - Third 

COUNTY CLERK 

Service Rendered Assessed Fee 

Copies $.10 per copy 

  set county wide unless otherwise noted 

Copies of Meeting $5.00 per CD 

EMS 

Service Rendered Assessed Fee 

ALS Non-Emergency $525  $525.00343.80 

ALS 1 Emergency  $654.97544.30 

BLS Non-Emergency  $425.00286.50 

BLS Emergency  $551.56458.40 

ALS Level 2  $947.98787.85  

Specialty Care  $1120.34931.10  

Mileage $12 per mile 

Non Transport $75.00  

Non Transport with Treatment $150.00  

                                                                     FIRE FEES  

Residential $   120.00 per year +$0.020.01/sq.ft. 

Multi-Family 
One to Four units 
Five or more units 

$  120.00 per year unit + $0.020.01/sq.ft. 
$  80.00 for each additional unit + $0.020.01/sq.ft. 

Commercial 
5,000 sq. ft. or less 

5,001 – 15,000 sq. ft. 
15,001 sq. ft. or more 

 
$  350.00330.00 per year plus $0.05/sq. ft. 

$  555.00 plus 0.022 per sq. ft. 
$  830.00  plus $0.02 per sq ft 

140

Item XI. 3.



4 
 

Industrial 
   0 – 5,000 Sq. Ft. 

5,001 – 15,000 sq. ft. 
15,001 – 1,000,000 sq. ft. 
  1,000,001 sq. ft. or more 

 
 

$500.00 660.00 per year plus $0.05/sq. ft. 
  $1,105 +$0.028/sq.ft 
  $1,655 + $0.028/sq ft. 

$30,005.00 + $0.16/sq.ft.        
 

Solar Farm   $50.0042.00 per acre 

Vacant Parcel (w/ no primary structure) $0.105/acre 
 

GIS - MAP PRICE LIST 

Service Rendered Assessed Fee 

Realtor / Chamber Map $2.00 

Map book $20.00 

8 1/2 X 11 $5.00 

Fully Customized Maps $5 + $75 per hour 

8 1/2 x 14 $10.00 

Fully Customized Maps $10 + $75 per hour 

11 X 17 $15.00 

Fully Customized Maps $15 + $75 per hour 

24 x 24 Pre-made Maps & limited customization $20.00 

Fully Customized Maps $20 + $75 per hour 

36 x 42 Pre-made Maps & limited customization $25.00 

Fully Customized Maps $25 + $75 per hour  

42 x 44 Pre-made Maps & limited customization $30.00 

Fully Customized Maps $30 + $75 per hour  

60 x 60 Pre-made Maps & limited customization $35.00 

Fully Customized Maps $35 + $75 per hour  

Digital Exported Maps free if map is purchased 

If digital export is requested alone  $5 + $75 per hour 

Digital Data   

Parcel shape file (polygons, zoning) $80.00 

Parcel shape file (polygons, zoning, all tax data) $100.00 

All other vector layers $60.00 

Aerial Photography $ 30 per tile 

Whole County SIDS $1,350.00 

LIDAR   

Complete County Wide LAS $5,000.00 

Individual Tile LAS $250.00 

County Wide Digital Elevation Model $5,000.00 

Digital Elevation Model tiles $250.00 

County Wide Contours $1,000.00 

Tif Image CD (for plat recording) $10.00 

Shipping and Handling $5.00 

Black & White Copies .25 per side (up to 11X17) 

  $5.00 (over 11X17) 

Formatted: Centered

141

Item XI. 3.



5 
 

Color Copies $1.00 per side (up to 11X17) 

  $20.00 (over 11X17) 

An hourly rate of $75.00 will be charged for customized data requiring additional GIS staff time. 

Customization may include any of the following procedures: 

Data Conversion processes 

Addition of background air photos 

Customer specified colors, fonts, labeling, etc. 

Rush Jobs with less than 2 days’ notice will be charged at an hourly rate of $75.00 in addition to any  

other media charges. 

PRISON 

                             Service Rendered Assessed Fee 

                                ID Card fee $   5.00 

                               Medical fee      4.00 

                                 D-3-L fee   100.00 

                               Medical Co Pay      5.00 

                          Monthly Banking Fee     1.00                                     

                                Postmaster -US Postal Service Postage Rate 

                             Indigent Postage -US Postal Service Postage Rate 

                           Mail Rejection Fee -US Postal Service Postage Rat 

                                Restitution - as per damage done 

PROBATION 

Service Rendered Assessed Fee 

Monthly Probation $50.00  

Supervision Fee   

PUBLIC WORKS 

Service Rendered Assessed Fee 

New Culvert Installation Permit  $120.0060.00- Installation inspection & grade set 

Existing culvert permit $75.0020.00 - Inspection of existing culvert 

Right of Way Permit $75.0010.00  

RECREATION  

Activity Assessed Fee 

Instructional League $75.0065.00 

Youth Softball/Baseball $75.0065.00 

Youth Basketball $75.0065.00 

Youth Football $75.0065.00 

Youth Soccer $75.0065.00 

Girls’ Volleyball $60.00 

Summer Camps (ALL) $50.00 

Track $20.0015.00 

Cheerleading with uniforms $40.00 

Cheerleading w/out uniforms $90.00 

142

Item XI. 3.



6 
 

Open Baseball/Softball 48-max 450 

Travel Baseball/Softball Practices $200/6 months 

Baseball Field Rental $275/field 

Reddick Stadium Rental $375 

Gym Rental $250/court 

Rec Backroom Rental $300/day 

Clyo Community Center Rental $400/day 

Adult Women's Volleyball $200.00190.00 

Adult Basketball $400.00415.00 

Adult Softball $400.00390.00 

(Spring & Coed) $400.00390.00 

Adult Flag Football $400.00300.00 

Spring run $1510 $2015 

All Stars $25.00 

  Football equipment deposit $100.00 / $50.00 returned 

discount - 2 children -  10% off 

discount - 3 children -  15% off 

discount - 4 or more children  20% off 

must be from the same family & same household   

REGISTRARS 

Service Rendered Assessed Fee 

Voter's List (Paper) $205.00 

Voter's List (CD) $90.00 

District or Municipal Voters List (Paper) $225.00 

District or Municipal Voters List (CD) $130.00 

SANITATION 

Service Rendered Assessed Fee 

1st Carts $243 per year 

1st Carts (elderly exemptionfor seniors) $100 per year 

2nd Carts    $127 per year 

Additional Recycle Carts $72 per year 

Dry Waste Collection Site Fees $0.08 cents per pound or 

   $160.00 per ton 

Tires   

Car $3.00 off rim 

  

  $5.00  on rim 

Large Truck  $8.00  off rim 

  $20.00 on rim 

Farm/Tractor $15.00 off rim 

  $35.00 on rim  

Off Road Tires $.15 per lbs off rim 

143

Item XI. 3.



7 
 

Code Enforcement Citations Solid Waste Violations 

  Minimum Fine $100.00 

SHERIFF'S OFFICEDEPARTMENT 

Service Rendered Assessed Fee 

Background Checks $20.00 in County, $25 out of County 

Jail Bond Fees $20.00 per person 

Civil Services $50.00 per service 

  $50 per subpoena 

Fingerprints $5.00 per person (cards only) 

  $50.00 alcohol license application 

Accident Reports $3.00 per report 

WASTEWATER TREATMENT 

Service Rendered Assessed Fee 

Treatment of Hauled Wastewater                                                                 
-grease traps and port-a-pottys specifically prohibited- 

 $0.1290.125 a gallon 

WATER & SEWER 

Water Connection Service Charge 
1. A Water Connection Service Charge of $3,4882,000 per residential unit, or equivalent residential unit, or any 

fraction thereof shall be paid prior to connection of any service line to the County’s water system  
2. The determination of water consumption for the purpose of determining the number of equivalent residential 

units shall be based on the Water Use Standards contained below. 
 

 
Sewer Development Fees 

1. A Sewer Development Fee of $6,7483,300 per residential unit, or equivalent residential unit, or any fraction 
thereof shall be paid prior to connection of any service line to the County’s sewer system  

2. The determination of water consumption for the purpose of determining the number of equivalent residential 
units shall be based on the Water Use Standards contained below. 

 
Reuse Capital Cost Recovery Fees 
1. A Reuse Capital Cost recoveryRecovery Fee of $1,300 per residential unit, or equivalent residential unit, or 

any fraction thereof shall be paid prior to connection of any service line to the County’s reuse water system  
2. The determination of water consumption for the purpose of determining the number of equivalent residential 

units shall be based on the Water Use Standards contained below. 

Water Use Standards 
1. The standards in the table below shall be used in determination of water consumption for the purpose of 

determining the number of equivalent residential units. If the table does not provide information for a 
particular application, the estimated water consumption shall be as calculated by the County Engineer.  

Type of Structure Water Usage in Gallons Per Day 

Apartment, One Bedroom 100 per apartment 

Apartment, Two Bedrooms 150 per apartment 

Apartment, Three Bedrooms 300 per apartment 

Automotive Repair Shops/Tire Shops 60 per bay 

Banks 30 per 200 sq. ft. 

Assembly Hall 5 per seat 

Barber Shop/Beauty Parlor 125 per chair + 20 per employee 

Boarding/Rooming House ** 100 per room 

144

Item XI. 3.



8 
 

Bowling Alley 50 per lane + 20 per employee 

Car Wash  

    Wand Wash 125 per bay 

    Hand Wash 500 per stall 

    Automated 7000 per site 

Church without Day Care or Kindergarten 5 per seat 

Clinic 75 per exam room 

Correctional Institution/Prison 200 per inmate 

Country Club, Recreation Facilities Only 25 per member 

Day Care Center with Meals 8 per person 

Dental Office 100 per chair + 20 per employee 

Department Store 10 per 100 sq. ft. 

Dormitories 150 per room 

Drug Store 700 per store 

Factory  

1) Without Showers 25 per employee 

2) With Showers 35 per employee 

Food Service Establishments with Restrooms and 
Kitchen ** 

 

1) Restaurant, less than 24-hours per day operation 35 per seat + 20 per employee 

2) Cafeteria, less than 24-hours per day operation 50 per seat + 20 per employee 

3) Restaurant, 24 hours per day operation 75 per seat + 20 per employee 

4) Drive-in Restaurant 50 per car space + 20 per employee 

5) Carry-out Only 50 per 100 sq. ft. + 20 per employee 

Funeral Home 10 per 100 sq. ft. 

Grocery Stores 20 per 100 sq. ft. 

Hospital 300 per bed 

Hotel/Motel, No Kitchen 100 per room 

Kindergarten, No Meals 15 per person 

Kitchen for Day Care, Kindergarten 20 per person 

Laundry, Self Service 150 per machine 

Laundry, Commercial 1,000 per machine 

Mobile Home Park 300 per site 

Nail Salons 50 per chair 

Nursing Home** 150 per bed 

Office 30 per 200 sq. ft. 

Physician’s Office 200 per exam room 

Schools:  

1) Day, Restrooms and Cafeteria 20 per person 

2) Day, Restrooms, Gym and Cafeteria 25 per person 

Seafood Market 120 per 100 sq. ft. 

Service Stations:  

1) Fuel and Oil Only 100 per pump 

2) Full Service 300 + 100 per pump 

145

Item XI. 3.



9 
 

Shopping Center 10 per 100 sq. ft. 

Single Family Dwelling 300 per dwelling 

Stadium 2 per seat 

Tavern, Bar, Cocktail Lounge – No Meals 30 per seat + 20 per employee 

Theater 5 per seat 

Travel Trailer Park**  

1) With Independent Water and Sewer Connection 150 per site 

2) W/O Independent Water and Sewer Connection 35 per site 

Warehouse 10 gals per 1000 sq. ft.  

** Add 500 gallons per machine to amount indicated if laundry or dish washing machines are to be installed** 

To setup residential service for an owner  $125.00 = $100 deposit+$25 admin fee 

To setup Multi-Unit Residential Service $200.00 = $200 deposit + $25 admin fee x # of units 

To setup residential service for a renter  $150.00 =  $125 deposit+$25 admin fee 

To setup non-residential service $ 375.00 = $350 deposit + $25 admin fee 

To setup Multi-Unit Non-Residential Service Non-Residential service rates x # of units 

Drinking Water Meter Fee cost of materials + $100.00 for installation 

Multi-Unit Residential Water Rates Residential water rates + base rate x # of units 

Residential Water Rates  $10.00 base rate 

  $3.203.09 for each 1,000 gallons up to 5,000 gallons 

  
 $3.423.31 for each 1,000 gallons over 5,000 gallons 

up to 10,000 gallons 

   $3.653.53 for each 1,000 gallons over 10,000 gallons 

Multi-Unit Commercial/Industrial Water Rates Comm/Industrial water rates + base rate x # of units 

Commercial/Industrial Water Rates  $50.00 base rate 

  $3.423.31 for each 1,000 gallons up to 5,000 gallons 

  
$3.653.53 for each 1,000 gallons over 5,000 gallons up 

to 10,000 gallons 

  $3.893.76 for each 1,000 gallons over 10,000 gallons 

Multi-Unit Residential Sewer Rates Residential sewer rates + base rate x # of units 

Residential Sewer Rates  $15.00 base rate 

(Caribbean Village Customers -  Base Rate  is $10.00) $3.383.27 for each 1,000 gallons up to 5,000 gallons 

  
$3.673.55 for each 1,000 gallons over 5,000 gallons up 

to 10,000 gallons 

  $3.963.83 for each 1,000 gallons over 10,000 gallons 

Multi-Unit Commercial/Industrial Sewer Rates Comm/industrial sewer rates + base rate x # of units 

Commercial/Industrial Sewer Rates  $60.00 base rate 

  $3.673.55 for each 1,000 gallons up to 5,000 gallons 

  
$4.053.92 for each 1,000 gallons over 5,000 gallons up 

to 10,000 gallons 

  $4.254.11 for each 1,000 gallons over 10,000 gallons 

Water Wholesale Rate to Bulk Customer (municipal or 
private) $3.103.00/1,000 gallons 

146

Item XI. 3.



10 
 

 Hydrant Meter Flushing of Surface Water Distribution 
System 

$1,000 deposit, $0.9770.945/1,000 gallons, $100 
administrative fee 

Sewer Wholesale Rate (municipal, individual or 
private)  $4.144.00/1,000 gallons 

Delinquent Payment Service Charge $35.00  

Reconnection of Water Service (7:30am-4pm 
weekdays)  $30.00 

Reconnection of Water Service                                                         
(outside normal working hours, on weekends or 

holidays) 
$60.00 

Unauthorized Use or Connection                                         
(Notwithstanding the fee established herein, the 
County may pursue any other civil and criminal 

remedies available at law or in equity for unauthorized 
and/or illegal connections) 

$100 (1st occurrence)                                                                                   
$500 per occurrence thereafter 

Returned Check 
$30.00  

Service Call                                                                                              
(for issues such as leakage on customer side of meter, 

to flush hot water heater at customer request, 
repair/replace meter box due to customer damage - 
parts not included, uncover/raise meter, check meter 

again after initial check verifies accuracy, etc.) 

$35.00 (during normal working hours)                        
$65.00 (outside of normal working hours, on weekends 

and holidays)         

Failure to Apply for Service Fee 
$30.00  

Temporary Service Fee 

$100 for up to ten (10) business days                         
water and/or sewer usage charged at rates above  

ZONING 

Service Rendered Assessed Fee 

Sketch Plan Review $250.00 admin fee 

Development Plan Review Fee  Single Family Residential - $175 + $15 per lot 

 Multi-Family Residential - $175 + $10 per unit 
(Fees INCLUDE in house engineer review and are due 

to be paid prior to plan approval) Non-Residential - $350 + $80 per developed acre* 

 Clearing and Grading Only - $250 admin fee 

  Fees exclude government, education and religious 

Final Plat (including revisions) Minor Subdivision (3 lots or less) - $50.00 admin fee 

  
Major Subdivision (4 lots or more) - $100.00 admin fee 

+ $10 per lot 

Development Plan Re-review (after 3 submittals) $250.00 admin fee 

Land Disturbing Activity Permit Fee 
$80.00 per acre to be divided equally between 

Effingham County & DNR-EPD**   

Rezoning, Conditional Use, Rural/ $200.00 each 

147

Item XI. 3.



11 
 

Residential Business, Variance,    

 Occupational Tax Administrative Fee  $5030 (in addition to tax charge) 

10-39 Employees $50100  

4-9 Employees $100 

10-19 Employees $200  

20-29 Employees $300  

30-39 Employees $400  

40-49 Employees  $500  

50 or more Employees $600  

* developed acre = disturbed area with the exception of all building footprints 

All ordinances and resolutions in conflict herewith are repealed. 

Adopted by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners this  day of August 2June 20, 20232 

      

 Wesley M. Corbitt, Chairman   Stephanie D.  Johnson, County Clerk  
 

148

Item XI. 3.



Staff Report 

 
Subject:   Sanitation fees resolution for 2023  

Author:  Mark W. Barnes, Finance Director 

Department:  Finance 

Meeting Date: 6/20/23  

Item Description: Consideration to approve a resolution to adopt the 2023 sanitation 
fees 

 

Summary Recommendation:   

Staff recommends approval of the resolution to adopt the 2023 sanitation fees. 
 

Executive Summary/Background: 

Each year, the Board of Commissioners approves a resolution to set the sanitation fees. 
This fee structure is based upon the current and anticipated costs to provide sanitation 
services for the unincorporated residents of the County. 
 
Staff is recommending no change to the sanitation fees for tax year 2023. 
 
Sanitation fees for the tax year 2022 were set at: 

 Standard trash/recycle service - $243 per year 

 Additional trash cart - $127 per year 

 Additional recycle cart - $72 per year 

 Senior cart - $100 a year 
 

Staff is recommending the following sanitation fees for tax year 2023: 

 Standard trash/recycle service - $243 per year 

 Additional trash cart - $127 per year 

 Additional recycle cart - $72 per year 
Senior cart - $100 a year 
 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Approve the proposed sanitation fees resolution. 
2. Do not approve the proposed sanitation fees resolution. 
3. Provide staff with direction. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 

Staff recommends Alternative number 1 – Approve the proposed sanitation fees 

resolution. 

 

 

 

149

Item XI. 4.



Other Alternatives: 

none 

 

Department Review: (list departments) 

Finance, County Manager  

 

Funding Source: 

none 

 

Attachments: 

Resolution to set the 2023 sanitation fees 

  

 

 

 

150

Item XI. 4.



STATE OF GEORGIA 

COUNTY OF EFFINGHAM 

 

 

RESOLUTION TO SET THE 2023 SANITATION FEES 

 

 

A resolution to provide the adoption of the 2023 sanitation fees for the 

government of Effingham County, Georgia 

 

BE IT RESOLVED, by the Board of Commissioners of Effingham County, 

Georgia, that the 2023 sanitation fees for the County Government of 

Effingham County, Georgia, is hereby adopted as follows: 

 

To provide weekly sanitation pick-up and bi-weekly recycle pick-up to 

citizens of the unincorporated area of Effingham County 

 

$243 per year 

Additional trash cart - $127 per year 

Additional recycle cart - $72 per year 

Senior cart - $100 a year 

 

Said fees shall be initially collected at the time the initial homeowner 

establishes services and thereafter assessed in conjunction with yearly 

property taxes. 

   

Adopted by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners this ______day 

of June, 2023. 

 

                                                                                                                            

_________________________________________ 

     Wesley Corbitt, Chairman 

     Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

 

Attest: 

 

________________________________ 

Stephanie Johnson, County Clerk 

151

Item XI. 4.



Staff Report 

 
Subject:   Fire fees for 2023  

Author:  Mark W. Barnes, Finance Director 

Department:  Finance 

Meeting Date: 6/20/23  

Item Description: Consideration to approve a resolution to adopt the 2023 fire fees 
 

Summary Recommendation:   

Staff recommends approval of the resolution to adopt the 2023 fire fees. 
 

Executive Summary/Background: 

Each year, the Board of Commissioners approves a resolution to set the fire fees. This 
fee structure is based upon the current and anticipated costs to provide fire services for 
the unincorporated residents of the County, as well as residents in Springfield and 
Guyton. 
 
Proposed changes to the fire fee are in red. 
 
1. Fire fees for the prior year were set at: 

 

Residential     $   120.00 per year plus $0.01 per sq. ft. 

 

Multi-Family  

One to Four Units   $   120.00 per year plus $0.01 per sq. ft.    

Five or more Units   $    80.00 for each additional unit plus $0.01 per sq. ft. 

   

Commercial                                           

5,000 sq. ft. or less   $   330.00 per year 

5,000 – 15,000 sq. ft.  $   555.00 plus $0.022 per sq. ft.  

15,000 sq. ft.  or more  $   830.00 plus $0.022 per sq. ft. 

 

Industrial (per structure)     

0 – 5,000 sq. ft.   $660.00 per year 

5,000 – 15,000 sq. ft.  $1,105 plus $0.028 per sq. ft. 

15,000 – 1,000,000 sq. ft.  $1,655 plus $0.028 per sq. ft. 

1,000,000 sq. ft. or more  $30,005.00 plus $0.016 per sq. ft. 

 

Solar Farm    $42.00 per acre 

 

 

152

Item XI. 5.



Vacant Parcel   $0.105 per Acre 

(with no primary structure) 

 
2.  Staff is recommending the following fire fee for 2023: 

 

Residential (per structure)  $   120.00 per year plus $0.02 per sq. ft. 

 

Multi-Family (per structure)  

One to Four Units   $   120.00 per year plus $0.02 per sq. ft.    

Five or more Units   $    80.00 for each additional unit plus $0.02 per sq. ft. 

                                           

Commercial (per structure)  $   350.00 per year plus $0.05 per sq. ft. 

     

Industrial (per structure)  $   500.00 per year plus $0.05 per sq. ft. 

 

Solar Farm    $   50.00 per acre 

 

Vacant Parcel   $   0.105 per Acre 

(with no primary structure) 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Approve the proposed fire fees resolution. 
2. Do not approve the proposed fire fees resolution. 
3. Provide Staff with direction. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 

Staff recommends alternative number 1 – approve the proposed fire fees resolution. 

 

Other Alternatives: 

none 

 

Department Review: (list departments) 

Finance, Fire & Rescue, County Manager  

 

Funding Source: 

n/a 

 

Attachments: 

Resolution to set the 2023 fire fees 

153

Item XI. 5.



STATE OF GEORGIA 

COUNTY OF EFFINGHAM 

 

 

RESOLUTION TO SET THE 2023 FIRE FEES 

 

A resolution to provide the adoption of the 2023 fire fees for the government of Effingham County, 

Georgia 

 

BE IT RESOLVED, by the Board of Commissioners of Effingham County, Georgia, that the 2023 fire fees 

for the County Government of Effingham County, Georgia, are hereby adopted as follows: 

 

Residential (per structure)  $   120.00 per year + 

     $       0.02 per sq. ft. 

 

Multi-Family (per structure) 

One to Four Units   $   120.00 per year + 

     $       0.02 per sq. ft. 

    

Five or more Units   $    80.00 for each additional unit + 

     $      0.02 per sq. ft. 

   

Commercial (per structure)                                         

     $   350.00 per year +  

     $       0.05 per sq. ft. 

 

Industrial (per structure)        

$   500.00 per year +  

     $       0.05 per sq. ft. 

 

Solar Farm    $50.00 per Acre 

 

Vacant Land    $0.105 per Acre 

(with no primary structure) 

 

Said fees shall be initially collected at the time of issuance of a building permit and thereafter 

assessed in conjunction with yearly property taxes. 

   

Adopted by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners this _____ day of June, 2023. 

 

                                                                                                                            

____________________________ 

     Wesley Corbitt, Chairman 

     Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

Attest: 

 

________________________________ 

Stephanie Johnson, County Clerk 

154

Item XI. 5.



Staff Report 
Subject: Award of Contract 23-ITB-031 for the EMS and Prison Maintenance Building 

Construction Project to McWright LLC 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: EMS/Prison 

Meeting Date: June 20, 2023 

Item Description: Contract 23-ITB-031 for the EMS and Prison Maintenance Building 

Construction Project to McWright LLC 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of Contract 23-ITB-031 for 

the EMS and Prison Maintenance Building Construction Project to McWright LLC for a 

total of $2,942,170.00. 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 In April, staff posted an ITB for the construction of a new Prison Maintenance 

Building located on the Public Works Campus, and the expansion/renovation of 

the EMS building located on 1st Street Ext. in Springfield.  

 Bids were unsealed on June 5, and three bids were received.  

o McWright LLC - $2,942,170.00 

o Paul S. Akins Company, Inc. - $3,034,700.00 

o Copper Construction Co., Inc. - $3,381,674.00 

 Bids have been reviewed by staff and DPR, the architecture firm working on the 

project, and the recommendation is award to McWright LLC. McWright recently 

completed the construction of Fire Station #13. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Award Contract 23-ITB-031 for the EMS and Prison Maintenance Building 

Construction Project to McWright LLC for a total of $2,942,170.00. 

2. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: Finance, County Manager, Purchasing, DPR, County Attorney 

Funding Source: Both projects are in SPLOST. A budget amendment will be 

necessary for both projects.  

Attachments: 

1. Contract 23-ITB-031 with McWright LLC 

2. Bid Tabulation 

 

155

Item XI. 6.



 

INVITATION FOR BID 

23-ITB-031 

EMS AND PRISON MAINTENANCE BUILDING CONSTRUCTION 

 

 

Effingham County 

804 S Laurel Street 

Springfield, GA 31329 

 

 

 

156

Item XI. 6.



Effingham County 

INVITATION FOR BID 

23-ITB-031 

EMS AND PRISON MAINTENANCE BUILDING CONSTRUCTION 

I. AGREEMENT  ........................................................................................ 
 

 

 

  

157

Item XI. 6.



Invitation For Bid #23-ITB-031 
Title: EMS AND PRISON MAINTENANCE BUILDING CONSTRUCTION 

3 

 

1. AGREEMENT 

1.1. AGREEMENT BETWEEN OWNER AND CONTRACTOR FOR CONSTRUCTION 
CONTRACT 

23-ITB-031 EMS AND PRISON MAINTENANCE BUILDING CONSTRUCTION 

  

THIS AGREEMENT is by and between Effingham County Board of Commissioners (“Owner”) and 

McWright LLC (“Contractor”). 

Owner and Contractor hereby agree as follows: 

  

1.2. Article 1 - WORK 

Contractor shall complete all Work as specified or indicated in the Contract Documents. The Work is 

generally described as follows: 

Effingham County GA is soliciting bids from experienced and qualified General Contractors who are 

interested in submitting a proposal and entering into a contract for the construction of the EMS 

Expansion and the Public Works Complex building. Both projects will be constructed under the same 

contract. The EMS expansion is a 5,000 SF pre-engineered metal building with 3 overhead doors, two 

restrooms, a large meeting room, and a reinforced storage room. It is connected to the existing 

structure with a small hall. The site work includes 15 new parking spaces, sidewalks, new curb and 

gutter, a reworked detention pond and heavy-duty concrete pavement to the new bays. The Public 

works building is located ¼ mile from the EMS expansion. It is a 10,000 SF pre-engineered metal building 

divided into two units. The first unit is for general maintenance and the second unit use is TBD. The two 

units are divided by a two-hour wall. There are two structures on site that will need to be removed prior 

to the construction of the new building. Included in the site work is a 11-space parking lot, sidewalks, a 

new pump station, and approximately 600LF of 2” force main. 

 

The Project for which the Work under the Contract Documents may be the whole or only a part is 

generally described as follows: 23-ITB-031, EMS AND PRISON MAINTENANCE BUILDING CONSTRUCTION 

1.3. Article 2 - ENGINEER 

2.01. The Project has been designed by Effingham County Engineering Department’s Consultant, DPR 

Architecture, which is to act as Owner’s representative, assume all duties and responsibilities, and have 

the rights and authority assigned to A/E in the Contract Documents in connection with the completion 

of the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. 

1.4. Article 3 - CONTRACT TIMES 

3.01. Time of the Essence 

All time limits for Milestones, if any, Substantial Completion, and completion and readiness for final 

payment as stated in the Contract Documents are of the essence of the Contract. 

158

Item XI. 6.



Invitation For Bid #23-ITB-031 
Title: EMS AND PRISON MAINTENANCE BUILDING CONSTRUCTION 

4 

 

3.02. Days to Achieve Completion and Final Payment 

The Work will be completed within 365 days from receipt of a Notice Proceed. 

1.5. Article 4 - LIQUIDATED DAMAGES 

4.01. Contractor and Owner recognize that time is of the essence as stated in preceding Paragraph and 

that Owner will suffer financial loss if the Work is not completed within the times specified in Paragraph 

above, plus any extensions thereof allowed. The parties also recognize the delays, expense, and 

difficulties involved in proving in a legal or arbitration preceding the actual loss suffered by Owner if the 

Work is not completed on time. Accordingly, instead of requiring any such proof, Owner and Contractor 

agree that as liquidated damages for delay (but not as a penalty), Contractor shall pay Owner $500 for 

each day that expires after the time specified in Paragraph above entitled "Contract Times" for 

Completion until the Work is complete. 

1.6. Article 5 - CONTRACT PRICE 

Owner shall pay Contractor for completion of the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents an 

amount in current funds equal to $2,942,170.00, an amount determined pursuant to the fee proposal 

submitted by the Contractor for 23-ITB-031. 

1.7. Article 6 - PAYMENT PROCEDURES 

6.01. Submittal and Processing of Payments 

Contractor shall submit Applications for Payment in accordance with the General Conditions. 

Applications for Payment will be processed by A/E as provided in the General Conditions. 

6.02. Progress Payments; Retainage 

A. Owner shall make progress payments on account of the Contract Price on the basis of Contractor’s 

Applications for Payment on or about the 25th day of each month during performance of the Work as 

provided in the following section 6.02.A.1 immediately following as long as the pay request is received 

by the 1st of the month. All such payments will be measured based on the number of units completed 

times the unit price of each completed unit. 

     1. Prior to Substantial Completion, progress payments will be made in an amount equal to the 

percentage indicated below but, in each case, less the aggregate of payments previously made and less 

such amounts as A/E may determine or Owner may withhold, including but not limited to liquidated 

damages, in accordance with Paragraph 4.01 above, titled Liquidated Damages. 

          a. 95 percent of Work completed (with the balance being retainage). The County will retain 5% of 

the gross value of the completed work as indicated by the current estimate approved by the A/E; and 

          b. 95 percent of cost of materials and equipment not incorporated in the Work (with the balance 

being retainage). 

B. Upon Substantial Completion, Owner shall pay an amount sufficient to increase total payments to 

Contractor to 100 percent of the Work completed, less such amounts as Engineer shall determine and 

less 150 percent of A/E’s estimate of the value of Work to be completed or corrected as shown on the 

tentative list of items to be completed or corrected. 

159

Item XI. 6.



Invitation For Bid #23-ITB-031 
Title: EMS AND PRISON MAINTENANCE BUILDING CONSTRUCTION 

5 

 

6.03. Final Payment 

A. Upon final completion and acceptance of the Work, Owner shall pay the remainder of the Contract 

Price as recommended by A/E. 

1.8. Article 7 - INTEREST 

7.01. All moneys not paid when due as provided in The General Conditions and Paragraph 6.02 above, 

shall bear interest at the rate of 1 percent per annum. 

1.9. Article 8 - CONTRACTOR’S REPRESENTATIONS 

8.01. In order to induce Owner to enter into this Agreement, Contractor makes the following 

representations: 

     A. Contractor has examined and carefully studied the Contract Documents and the other related data 

identified in the Bidding Documents. 

     B. Contractor has visited the Site and become familiar with and is satisfied as to the general, local, 

and Site conditions that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work. 

     C. Contractor is familiar with and is satisfied as to all federal, state, and local Laws and Regulations 

that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work. 

     D. Contractor has considered the information known to Contractor; information commonly known to 

contractors doing business in the locality of the Site; information and observations obtained from visits 

to the Site; the Contract Documents; and the Site-related reports and drawings identified in the Contract 

Documents, with respect to the effect of such information, observations, and documents on (1) the cost, 

progress, and performance of the Work; (2) the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and 

procedures of construction to be employed by Contractor, including any specific means, methods, 

techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction expressly required by the Contract Documents; 

and (3) Contractor’s safety precautions and programs. Based on the information and observations 

referred to above, Contractor does not consider that further examinations, investigations, explorations, 

tests, studies, or data are necessary for the performance of the Work at the Contract Price, within the 

Contract Times, and in accordance with the other terms and conditions of the Contract Documents. 

     E. Contractor is aware of the general nature of work to be performed by Owner and others at the Site 

that relates to the Work as indicated in the Contract Documents. 

     F. Contractor has given A/E written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities, or discrepancies that 

Contractor has discovered in the Contract Documents, and the written resolution thereof by A/E is 

acceptable to Contractor. 

     G. The Contract Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey understanding of all terms 

and conditions for performance and furnishing of the Work. 

1.10. Article 9 - CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

9.01. Contents 

A. The Contract Documents consist of the following: 

 

1. This Agreement, all pages inclusive 

2. General Conditions, as listed in 23-ITB-031 document 

3. Supplemental Conditions, as listed in 23-ITB-031 document 

4. Specifications as listed in the table of contents of the Project Manual. 

160

Item XI. 6.



Invitation For Bid #23-ITB-031 
Title: EMS AND PRISON MAINTENANCE BUILDING CONSTRUCTION 

6 

 

5. Addenda numbers 1 to 4, inclusive 

6. Exhibits to this Agreement (enumerated as follows): 

     a. Contractor’s Bid. 

     b. Documentation submitted by Contractor prior to Notice of Award. 

7. The following which may be delivered or issued on or after the Effective Date of the Agreement and 

are not attached hereto: 

     a. Notice of Award . 

     b. Notice to Proceed. 

     c. Work Change Directives. 

     d. Change Orders. 

B. The documents listed in Paragraph 9.01.A are attached to this Agreement (except as expressly noted 

otherwise above). 

C. There are no Contract Documents other than those listed above in this CONTRACTS DOCUMENTS 

section. 

D. The Contract Documents may be amended to provide for additions, deletions, and revisions in the 

Work or to modify the terms and conditions thereof by either a Change Order or a Work Change 

Directive. 

E. The requirements of the Contract Documents may be supplemented, and minor variations and 

deviations in the Work may be authorized, by one or more of the following ways: 

     A Field Order;  

          1. A/E’s approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample; or  

          2. A/E’s written interpretation or clarification. 

1.11. Article 10 - COUNTY’S RIGHT TO SUSPEND OR TERMINATE WORK 

A. Termination for Convenience. County may, for its own convenience and at its sole option, without 

cause and without prejudice to any other right or remedy of County, elect to terminate the Contract by 

delivering to the Contractor, at the address listed for giving notices in this Contract, a written notice of 

termination specifying the effective date of termination. Such notice shall be delivered to Contractor at 

least seven (7) days prior to the effective date of termination. 

 

B. Termination for Default. If the Contractor is adjudged bankrupt or insolvent, or if he makes a general 

assignment for the benefit of his creditors, or if a trustee or receiver is appointed for the Contractor or 

for any of his property, or if he files a petition to take advantage of any debtor’s act or to reorganize 

under the bankruptcy or applicable laws, or if he fails to supply sufficient skilled workers or suitable 

materials or equipment, make payments to Subcontractors or for labor, materials or equipment, or if he 

disregards laws, ordinances, rules, regulations or orders of any public body having jurisdiction of the 

Work, or if he otherwise violates any provision of the Contract, then the County may, without prejudice 

to any other right or remedy, and after giving the Contractor and his surety a maximum of seven (7) days 

from delivery of a written notice, declare the Contract in default and terminate this Contract. In that 

event, the County may take possession of the Project and of all materials, equipment, tools, 

construction equipment and machinery thereon owned by the Contractor. The County may cause the 

Work to be completed and corrected by whatever method it deems expedient. If called upon by the 

161

Item XI. 6.



Invitation For Bid #23-ITB-031 
Title: EMS AND PRISON MAINTENANCE BUILDING CONSTRUCTION 

7 

 

County to finish the Work, the Contractor’s surety shall promptly do so. In any case, the Contractor and 

its surety shall be liable to the County for any and all damages and costs incurred by the County as a 

result of any default by the Contractor, including without limitation all costs of completion or correction 

of the Work, liquidated damages, attorneys’ fees, expert fees, and other costs of dispute resolution. 

Termination of this Contract pursuant to this paragraph may result in disqualification of the Contractor 

from bidding on future County contracts for a period of time not to exceed five (5) years. 

 

C. If Contractor’s services are terminated by the County pursuant to paragraph A or B above, the 

termination will not affect any rights or remedies of the County then existing or which may thereafter 

accrue against Contractor or its surety. Any retention or payment of moneys due Contractor by County 

will not release Contractor from liability. If it is determined that the Contractor was not in default or that 

the failure to perform is excusable, a termination for default will be considered to have been a 

termination for the convenience of the County, and the rights and obligations of the parties shall be 

governed accordingly. 

 

D. In case of termination of this Contract before completion of the Work, Contractor will be paid only for 

materials and equipment accepted by the County and the portion of the Work satisfactorily performed 

through the effective date of termination as determined by the County. 

E. Except as otherwise provided in this Contract, neither party shall be entitled to recover lost profits, 

special, consequential or punitive damages, attorney’s fees or costs from the other party to this 

Contract for any reason whatsoever. 

 

F. The parties’ obligations pursuant to this Contract shall survive any Acceptance of Work, or expiration 

or termination of this Contract. 

1.12. Article 11 - INDEMNIFICATION 

The CONTRACTOR agrees to protect, defend, indemnify, and hold harmless Effingham County, Georgia, 

its commissioners, officers, agents, and employees from and against any and all liability, damages, 

claims, suits, liens, and judgments, of whatever nature, including claims for contribution and/or 

indemnification, for injuries to or death of any person or persons, or damage to the property or other 

rights of any person or persons caused by or resulting from the negligence, recklessness, or intentionally 

wrongful conduct of the CONTRACTOR or other persons or entities employed or utilized by the 

CONTRACTOR in the performance of the contract. The CONTRACTOR'S obligation to protect, defend, 

indemnify, and hold harmless, as set forth herein above shall include, but not be limited to, any matter 

arising out of any actual or alleged infringement of any patent, trademark, copyright, or service mark, or 

any actual or alleged unfair competition, disparagement of product or service, or other business tort of 

any type whatsoever, or any actual or alleged violation of trade regulations. CONTRACTOR further 

agrees to investigate, handle, respond to, provide defense for, and to protect, defend, indemnify, and 

hold harmless Effingham County, Georgia, at his sole expense, and agrees to bear all other costs and 

expenses related thereto, even if such claims, suits, etc., are groundless, false, or fraudulent, including 

any and all claims or liability for compensation under the Worker's Compensation Act arising out of 

injuries sustained by any employee of the CONTRACTOR or his subcontractors or anyone directly or 

indirectly employed by any of them. The CONTRACTOR'S obligation to indemnify Effingham County 

under this Section shall not be limited in any way by the agreed-upon contract price, or to the scope and 

162

Item XI. 6.



Invitation For Bid #23-ITB-031 
Title: EMS AND PRISON MAINTENANCE BUILDING CONSTRUCTION 

8 

 

amount of coverage provided by any insurance maintained by the CONTRACTOR. 

 

1.13. Article 12 - INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 

Contractor hereby covenants and declares that it is an independent business and agrees to perform the 

Work as an independent contractor and not as the agent or employee of the County. The Contractor 

agrees to be solely responsible for its own matters relating to the time and place the services are 

performed; the instrumentalities, tools, supplies, and/or materials necessary to complete the Work; 

hiring of consultants, agents, or employees to complete the Work; and the payment of employees, 

including compliance with Social Security, withholding, and all other regulations governing such matters. 

The Contractor agrees to be solely responsible for its own acts and those of its subordinates and 

subcontractors during the life of this Contract. Any provisions of this Contract that may appear to give 

the County the right to direct Contractor as to the details of the services to be performed by Contractor 

or to exercise control over such services will be deemed to mean that Contractor shall follow the 

directions of the County with regard to the results of such services. 

1.14. Article 13 - MISCELLANEOUS 

13.01. Terms 

     A. Terms used in this Agreement will have the meanings stated in the General Conditions and the 

Supplementary Conditions. 

 

13.02. Assignment of Contract 

     A. No assignment by a party hereto of any rights under or interests in the Contract will be binding on 

another party hereto without the written consent of the party sought to be bound;  

 

     B. and, specifically but without limitation, moneys that may become due and moneys that are due 

may not be assigned without such consent (except to the extent that the effect of this restriction may be 

limited by law), and unless specifically stated to the contrary in any written consent to an assignment, 

no assignment will release or discharge the assignor from any duty or responsibility under the Contract 

Documents. 

13.03. Successors and Assigns 

     A. County and Contractor each binds itself, its partners, successors, assigns, and legal representatives 

to the other party hereto, its partners, successors, assigns, and legal representatives in respect to all 

covenants, agreements, and obligations contained in the Contract Documents. 

13.04. Severability 

     A. Any provision or part of the Contract Documents held to be void or unenforceable under any Law 

or Regulation shall be deemed stricken, and all remaining provisions shall continue to be valid and 

binding upon County and Contractor, who agree that the Contract Documents shall be reformed to 

replace such stricken provision or part thereof with a valid and enforceable provision that comes as 

close as possible to expressing the intention of the stricken provision. 

13.05. Contractor’s Certifications 

     A. Contractor certifies that it has not engaged in corrupt, fraudulent, collusive, or coercive practices in 

163

Item XI. 6.



Invitation For Bid #23-ITB-031 
Title: EMS AND PRISON MAINTENANCE BUILDING CONSTRUCTION 

9 

 

competing for or in executing the Contract. For the purposes of this Paragraph 13.05: 

          1. “corrupt practice” means the offering, giving, receiving, or soliciting of anything of value likely to 

influence the action of a public official in the bidding process or in the Contract execution; 

          2. “fraudulent practice” means an intentional misrepresentation of facts made (a) to influence the 

bidding process or the execution of the Contract to the detriment of County, (b) to establish Bid or 

Contract prices at artificial non-competitive levels, or (c) to deprive County of the benefits of free and 

open competition; 

          3. "collusive practice” means a scheme or arrangement between two or more Bidders, with or 

without the knowledge of County, a purpose of which is to establish Bid prices at artificial, non-

competitive levels; and 

          4. “coercive practice” means harming or threatening to harm, directly or indirectly, persons or 

their property to influence their participation in the bidding process or affect the execution of the 

Contract. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, County and Contractor have signed this Agreement. Counterparts have been 

delivered to County and Contractor. All portions of the Contract Documents have been signed or have 

been identified by County and Contractor or on their behalf. 

 

 

 

This Agreement will be effective on ____________________ (which is the Effective Date of the 

Agreement).  

 

COUNTY: 

Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

  

 

By:  _______________________________ 

Title: Chairman 

  

  

Attest: _______________________________ 

Title: County Clerk 

Address for giving notices: 

804 S. Laurel Street 

Springfield, GA 31329 

 

 

 

 

164

Item XI. 6.



Invitation For Bid #23-ITB-031 
Title: EMS AND PRISON MAINTENANCE BUILDING CONSTRUCTION 

10 

 

 

CONTRACTOR: 

 

________________________________________ 

  

By:  __________________________________ 

Title:__________________________________ 

 (If Contractor is a corporation, a partnership, or a joint venture, attach evidence of authority to sign.) 

  

Attest: __________________________________ 

Title: __________________________________ 

  

Address for giving notices: 

 

________________________________________ 

________________________________________ 

________________________________________ 

  

 

165

Item XI. 6.



Line Item Description Total Total Total
1 EMS Expansion - COMPLETE $1,426,779.00 $1,242,000.00 $1,317,000.00

1A
EMS ADD ALTERNATE 1-  Contractor shall 
add 600 AMP, double pole manual transfer 
switch as called out on sheet E4 key note #6

$20,788.00 $27,170.00 $12,200.00

2 Public Works Facility - COMPLETE $1,934,107.00 $1,673,000.00 $1,705,500.00
Total $3,381,674.00 $2,942,170.00 $3,034,700.00

Fee Proposal

Copper 
Construction Co., 

Inc.
McWright LLC

Paul S. Akins 
Company, Inc.

166

Item XI. 6.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of PO with Custom Truck and Body Works, Inc. for the purchase of a Type III 

Ambulance 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: EMS 

Meeting Date: June 20, 2023  

Item Description: PO with Custom Truck and Body Works, Inc. for the purchase of a Type III 

Ambulance 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of PO Q-00445-1 with Custom Truck 

and Body Works, Inc. for the purchase of a Type III Ambulance in the amount of $199,582.00. 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 There is still uncertainty regarding the receipt times for the five (5) ambulances that we 

currently have on order. There is a possibility that we will still be limited in what we 

receive. This caused staff to look at other available options. 

 Custom Truck and Body Works has supplied a quote for one Type III 14’ Ambulance, a 

Chevy G4500. They currently have these available on their lot. The Board approved the 

purchase of this same ambulance in March, and staff is requesting a second one as it 

has become available. Receipt of the ambulance is estimated by the second quarter of 

2024.  

 Here are some differences between our current units and this unit: 

o The type III chassis is 169” modules vs our current 149” modules 

o The type III units are gas engines, 6.6L V8 engine 

o There is no GPS or backup camera, although an aftermarket backup camera has 

been added 

o A Go Industries brush guard has been included instead of a Ranch hand guard. 

o This unit does not have liquid springs.  

 EMS Director, Wanda McDuffie, has reviewed the specs and information and is 

requesting approval for this unit. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of PO Q-00445-1 with Custom Truck and Body Works, Inc. for the purchase of 

a Type III Ambulance in the amount of $199,582.00. 

2. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: EMS, Finance, Purchasing, County Manager 

Funding Source: SPLOST, budget amendment may be necessary  

Attachments: PO Q-00445-1 

167

Item XI. 7.



804 S LAUREL STREET DATE:
SPRINGFIELD, GA 31329 P.O. #
Phone: 912-754-2159
Fax: 912-754-8413

VENDOR SHIP TO
Custom Truck and Body Works, Inc. Effingham County Board of Commissioners
PO Box 718 804 S.Laurel Street
13787 White House Road Springfield, GA 31329
Woodbury, GA 30293 ATTN : Alison Bruton
ATTN : Jimmy Gill 912-754-2159
706-977-7095 (cell) / 706-553-9178 (office)

ITEM # QTY
1

OTHER COMMENTS OR SPECIAL INSTRUCTIONS
ECBOC is a tax exempt entity.  Tax ID# is 58-6000821

  
CUSTOM TRUCK & BODY WORKS - SIGNATURE TITLE

  
CUSTOM TRUCK & BODY WORKS - PRINT NAME DATE

 
  
AUTHORIZED BY - SIGNATURE AUTHORIZED BY - TITLE

 
AUTHORIZED BY - PRINT NAME AUTHORIZED DATE

Type III 14' Ambulance - Chevy G4500

 
 

6/20/2023
Q-00445-1

DESCRIPTION

ECBOC  

TOTAL
$199,582.00

PURCHASE ORDER
Effingham County Board of Commissioners

REQUISITIONER SHIP VIA F.O.B. SHIPPING TERMS

UNIT PRICE
199,582.00$   

 
 

TAX RATE
199,582.00$   

-$                 
SUBTOTAL

 

 

WESLEY CORBITT

-$                 
-$                 
-$                 

Custom Truck and Body Works, Inc.  agrees to furnish one (1) Type III 14' Ambulance - Chevy G4500 as described in Quote Q-
00445-1.  The County references the terms, conditions and specifications contained in Quote Q-00445-1.

CHAIRMAN

199,582.00$   

TAX
S & H
OTHER
TOTAL

168

Item XI. 7.



Custom Truck and Body Works, Inc.
Manufacturers of Custom Emergency Apparatuses

13787 White House Rd
Woodbury, GA 30293
United States
Main Line: 706-655-4300

 
Quote #: Q-00445-1
Date: 6/5/2023 8:38 AM
Expires On: 8/5/2023

 
SHIPPING
WANDA MCDUFFIE
Effingham County
,
(912) 754-2148
wmcduffie@effinghamcounty.org
 

 
BILL TO
EFFINGHAM COUNTY EMS
,

Name Direct Line E-Mail Address
Jimmy Gill (706) 977-7095 jimmy@customtruckandbodyworks.com

Payment Terms Delivery Method Delivery Terms
Due on Receipt Pickup at CTBW 150 to 180 Business Days After Receipt of Chassis
 
 
 

Dear WANDA MCDUFFIE,
 

Custom Truck and Body Works would like to thank you for the opportunity to work
with your department on this project. We have prepared this quote based on the
information that has been provided to us. We are certain that we can meet or
exceed any needs and expectations you may have. Please review the attached
documents and if there should be any questions, clarifications or any additional
information please do not hesitate to contact me. We look forward to hearing from
you soon.
 

Sincerely,
Jimmy Gill

 
 

TYPE III 14' AMBULANCE-CHEVY G4500

$199,582 Each

169

Item XI. 7.



MODULAR BODY

1 Modular Body
- Type III 14'

The ambulance body 169"L x 96"W x72"H shall be constructed of custom
designed aluminum extrusions and aluminum plate. The ambulance body

shall be designed and engineered specifically as an emergency vehicle and
shall be built to meet the heavy-duty requirements of emergency service.

CHASSIS

1 Each Chassis - Chevy G4500
- 4x2 - Gas - 100CA

1 Each Chassis Add On #1 Non Standard Additional Chassis Add On

Go Industries Brush Guard

1 Each Chassis Add On #2 Non Standard Additional Chassis Add On

LED LIGHT BAR

CHASSIS ADD ON

1 Set Wheel Inserts - Phoenix
- Chevy G3500/

G4500 (Standard)

1 Set Running Boards - Driver
& Passenger - Reg

Cab - NFPA (Standard)

Diamond plate running boards shall be provided and installed on the
cab of the module to the chassis manufacturers recommendation.

2 Set Lights - Grille - ION
Red w Clear Lens
LED (Standard)

Whelen ION series Red LED warning light with clear lens
and chrome flange installed on the front grill of the chassis.

2 Set Lights - Front Intersection
- ION Red w Clear

Lens LED (Standard)

Whelen ION series Red LED warning light with clear lens
and chrome flange installed on the fenders of the chassis.

Page 1 of 12

170

Item XI. 7.



1 Set Speaker - Cast - Chevrolet
G3500/G4500 (Standard)

Two (2) 100-watt speakers shall be installed through the front OEM bumper.

1 Each Back Up Camera - 7"
Monitor Installed On

Windshield (Standard)

An exterior Back Up Camera With 7"
Monitor shall be mounted on the windshield.

2 Set Fire Extinguisher - 5Lb
w/ Bracket (Standard)

5lb Fire Extinguisher shall be shipped loose.

1 Set Mud Flaps Set of heavy-duty, thick rubber material mud
flaps shall be as wide as the dual rear wheels.

1 Each Spare Tire A spare tire shall be provided with the chassis.

1 Each Alarm - Backup An audible alarm shall be installed to activate when the vehicle is placed into
reverse gear. There shall be installed on the front console and wired through
the vehicle electrical system, a momentary cutoff switch to disable the alarm.

1 Set Engine Block Heater
- Wire - Shoreline

The chassis engine block heater shall be wired to shoreline power.

CHASSIS CONSOLE

1 Each Console - Wood -
 Gray (Standard)

A wood scorpion coated console with (2) cup holders and map
slot shall be provided between the driver and passenger seat.

2 Each Siren - (Standard) A Whelen 295SLSA1 single tone siren shall be installed in the cab console.

1 Each Spotlight - Go Light
LED w Remote Control

12V LED spotlight shall be installed on the cab roof.

Page 2 of 12

171

Item XI. 7.



L1 COMPARTMENT

1 Each L1 Compartment Street Side Forward Compartment Dimensions: H72"x W22"x D22"

1 Each O2 Bracket Kit - Universal
Cylinder w Ratchet
Straps (Standard)

There shall be a Universal Zico Cylinder Bracket QRM-V O2 bottle
mount to the back wall to allow the department to utilize both

“M” cylinder and “H” cylinder bottles. LOCATION=BACK WALL

1 Each O2 Wrench An aluminum O2 wrench provided near the
O2 bracket in the Oxygen compartment.

1 Each Oxygen Regulator
- 50 PSI

50 PSI Pre-Set diaphragm regulator with nut and nipple
connection for large cylinders and preset to 50 PSI.

2 Each Portable O2 Bracket Kit -
 D Cylinder - Zico QR-D-2

L2 COMPARTMENT

1 Each L2 Compartment Street Side Intermediate Compartment Dimensions: H40"x W45"x D20"

1 Each Inverter - Vanner
1100 (Standard)

A Vanner 1100 watt Inverter with 50 amp battery charger shall be
provided and installed in the streetside exterior L2 compartment.

1 Each Inverter - Pre Wire A pre-wire for installation of the inverter
shall be provided in the L2 compartment.

Page 3 of 12

172

Item XI. 7.



L3 COMPARTMENT

1 Each L3 Compartment
(Standard)

Street Side Rear Compartment Dimensions: H40"x W37"x D20"

Double doors on compartment

1 Each Adjustable Shelf -
 L3 Compartment

A horizontal aluminum adjustable shelf/shelves shall be
provided in the L3 compartment mounted on shelf track.

R3 COMPARTMENT

1 Each R3 Compartment Curb Side Rear Compartment Dimensions: H72"x W20"x D20"

(2) straps and buckles across the back board storage area

2 Each Adjustable Shelf -
 R3 Compartment

A horizontal aluminum adjustable shelf/shelves shall be
provided in the R3 compartment mounted on shelf track.

1 Each Backboard Divider -
 R3 Compartment

A vertical divider shall be mounted center of the back board compartment.

R2 COMPARTMENT

1 Each R2 Compartment Curb Side Intermediate Compartment Dimensions: H24"x W20"x D20"

R1 COMPARTMENT

1 Each R1 Compartment Curb Side Forward Compartment Dimensions: H57"x W22"x D20"

1 Each ALS Access with Slide
Out & Battery Tray

Page 4 of 12

173

Item XI. 7.



1 Each R1 Battery Box
Compartment

Battery Box Compartment Dimensions: H13"x W22"x D20"

EMERGENCY LIGHT PACKAGE

1 Set Lights - M Series -
 Red & White LED

Warning w Clear Lens
(7 Front Wall R/W/R/
W/R/W/R) (Standard)

Whelen M9 LED warning lights shall be installed on the module
in the specified configuration. (7) front wall lights, (4) side

body lights, (3) rear upper, and (2) lower window level lights.

2 Each Lights - Rear Intersection
- M7 Red LED w Clear
Lens - Warning Light

Whelen M7 LED warning lights shall be
installed above both rear wheels on the module

NON-EMERGENCY LIGHTS - EXTERIOR

1 Each Lights - Compartment
- Single - LED Strip
Lights (Standard)

Each exterior compartment shall have one (1) strip LED
light installed full height on each side of the door opening.

6 Set Lights - Scene -
 M9 LED (Standard)

Whelen M Series LED Scene Lights shall be installed (2)
two on rear, (2) per side of the ambulance modular body.

2 Set Lights - Stop/Turn/Tail -
M6 Series LED (Standard)

Whelen M Series LED Brake, Back Up and Turn signals
with individual bezels installed on the rear of the module.

1 Set Lights - ICC Marker -
 Red & Amber LED

7 LED Red and & 7 LED Yellow ICC lights installed on
the upper module perimeter to meet DOT requirements.

1 Each Light - Stepwell - LED LED Stepwell light installed at the entry steps of the module.

1 Each Lights - Tag Bracket - LED LED lighting installed at the the tag bracket to meet DOT requirements.

Page 5 of 12

174

Item XI. 7.



2 Set Lights - Docking
- 6" Oval White

6" LED lights installed at the rear bumper to provide additional back up lighting.

MODULAR EXTERIOR

1 Each Shoreline - 30A/120V -
 Auto Eject - Blue Cover

A 30 amp automatic power line disconnect system
shall be furnished for the vehicle shoreline.

2 Set Fenderette -
 Aluminum (Standard)

Polished aluminum fender flair shall be
installed around the rear wheel well openings.

1 Each Window - Side - Sliding
- Dark Tint (Standard)

Tinted high black aluminum framed sliding
window is to be centered on the side entry door.

2 Each Window - Rear - Fixed
- Dark Tint (Standard)

Tinted high black aluminum framed fixed window
is to be centered on each rear entry door.

1 System Door Locks - Power
- 6 Compartments
& 2 Entry Doors w

Hidden Stealth Switch

Install Power Door locks on all Compartments and Patient
Entry Side and Rear Doors. Lock/unlock can be initiated by

key fob, remote switch or by Cab & Driver's Side electric locks.

MODULAR EXTERIOR - COMPARTMENT
DETAIL

1 Set Compartments - Scorpion
- Gray (Standard)

Scorpion coated finish on all exterior compartments.

1 Set Drip Rails - Aluminum

Page 6 of 12

175

Item XI. 7.



PAINT

1 Each Paint Type - Modular
Body - 1 Color

The module shall be a single tone paint to match
the OEM chassis or customer specified paint code.

1 Each Paint Type - Chassis
- OEM (Standard)

Chassis shall be painted OEM one color to match fleet.

VINYL GRAPHICS

1 Set Door Panels -
 Chevron (Standard)

Aluminum plate door panels on all exterior doors with 12" of reflective chevron.

1 Set Vinyl Graphics - Star of
Life Reflective Package

KKK-Spec reflective SOL package provided with the graphics package.
*Exact color and location to be determined at the pre-construction meeting*

1 Set Vinyl Graphics -
 Lettering & Decals

Lettering and department decals designed and printed on 3M 680CR
reflective material and laminated with UV protective laminate.

1 Each Rear Chevron - Reflective Printed rear chevrons that meets the existing fleet/
customer specifications. Printed on 3M IJ680CR

reflective material. **Color to be determined at Precon**

1 Each Vinyl Graphics -
 Star of Life (Large)

Large printed Star of Life, installed on the front or rear
of module. Printed on 3M IJ680CR reflective material.

**Color and location to be determined at Precon**

Custom swoosh and SOL to match existing units

MODULAR INTERIOR

1 Each Panel - Power - Location
- Interior (Standard)

A printed circuit board shall be installed in the
interior electrical cabinet behind attendant seat.

Page 7 of 12

176

Item XI. 7.



1 Each Flooring - Gun Metal Gray
- Lonplate 3" (Standard)

Lonplate heavy duty floor covering installed above
the PVC sub floor, rolled up on each side 3".

1 Each Flooring - Composite
PVC Sub Flooring

PVC composite sub flooring shall be installed above the aluminum sub floor.

1 System Insulation -
 Polyfiber (Standard)

The modular ambulance body shall be insulated
with a non-flammable Polyfiber insulation.

1 Each Mount - Defibrillator for
Lifepak 12/15- Ferno

A Ferno Life Pack 12/15 monitor mount shall be supplied and installed at
delivery. Customer location determined during the pre-build conference.

1 Each Heater - Aux 110 - 1500W A 110v auxiliary heater shall be supplied and installed.
Location shall be determined during the pre-build conference.

Mounted above CPR seat

6 Each Emergency Release Latch Curb and Rear entry doors shall come with upper and lower
emergency release latches, in the event of failure to exit the module.

MODULAR INTERIOR - CABINET DETAIL

1 Set Cabinets - Plywood
- 1 Tone - Matte
Gray (Standard)

Cabinets shall be constructed of ¾” plywood with
a high-pressure plastic matte Gray laminate finish.

1 Set Windows - Life Defender
- Fixed (Standard)

Austin Hardware Gen II Life Defender cabinets,
with clear plexi and fixed sliding windows.

1 Each Seat - CPR

Page 8 of 12

177

Item XI. 7.



1 Each Countertops - Gray - Soft
Edge Trim (Standard)

Solid Surface material counter tops at the
action and telemetry areas. Gray in color.

1 Each Cabinet - Plywood
- Over Rear Door

Cabinet located over the rear entry door, providing one storage section.

1 Each Cabinet - Plywood -
 Squad Bench Overhead

Cabinet located over the squad bench,
divided into two separate storage sections.

1 Each Cabinet - Plywood
- Glove Box

Cabinet located over the side entry door,
providing storage for three glove boxes.

1 Each Cabinet Add On #1 Non Standard Additional Cabinet Add On

Add 110V in overhead cabinet closest to curbside entry door

1 Each Cabinet Add On #2 Non Standard Additional Cabinet Add On

Cabinet above pass thru

1 Each Cabinet Add On #3 Non Standard Additional Cabinet Add On

cabinet below pass thru

MODULAR INTERIOR - ELECTRICAL

2 Set Antenna - Coax Two [2] 10-gauge power and two [2] ground wires, two
[2] RG58U coax cables, and two [2} PL259 connectors.

3 Each Outlet - 12V 12 Volt DC 20 Amp cigar style outlets will be located in the
action area and in the advanced life support cabinet. *Exact

location & quantity can be changed at pre-construction meeting*

Page 9 of 12

178

Item XI. 7.



6 Each Outlet - 110V - Lighted 110 Volt AC GFI duplex lighted outlets will be located in the action
area, the telemety, as well as the advanced life support cabinet. *Exact

location & quantity can be changed at pre-construction meeting*

1 Each Outlet - Oxygen - Single A single O2 outlet provided at the head end of the squad wall. *Exact
location & quantity can be changed at pre-construction meeting*

1 Set Outlet - Oxygen - Dual Dual O2 outlets shall be provided in the action area. *Exact
location & quantity can be changed at pre-construction meeting*

1 Each Outlet - Vacuum Ohio style quick disconnect vacuum outlet provided in the action area wall.

1 Each Electrical System -
RCTronics 12V (Standard)

12v RC Tronics switch panel electrical system shall be provided
in the cab console and in the action area of the module.

2 Each Pre Wire - 12V Radio 12v radio pre-wires at the front console and rear action area. *Exact
location and quantity can be changed at the pre-construction meeting*

1 Each Vacuum Pump Electric vacuum pump installed in the L-2 exterior compartment,
plumbed to the vacuum outlet on the rear action area wall.

1 Each Timer - 15 Minute Delay A 15-minute mechanical timer shall be provided and
installed at the head of squad bench adjacent to the side

entry door. Timer to control the curb side dome lights.

1 Each Clock - Digital -
 Intellitec (Standard)

A digital EMS clock shall be provided at the Action Area wall.

MODULAR INTERIOR DETAILS

1 Each Suction - Rico - Action
Area (Standard)

A RICO RS4X disposable aspirator will be installed in the action
area and connected to the vacuum inlet by a quick connect coupler.

Page 10 of 12

179

Item XI. 7.



2 Set IV Hanger - Ceiling
Mount (Standard)

IV Hangers will be recessed in the ceiling
over the head and foot end of the primary cot.

1 System Upholstery - Vinyl -
Gunmetal Gray (Standard)

Seamless vacuum formed vinyl material, gun metal gray, provided
on the attendant seat, squad bench cushions and CPR cushions.

1 System Cot Fastener - Floor Plate
w Power Source - Stryker

A cot fastener Floor Plate with Power Source shall
be center mounted on the floor of the module.

Customer supplied floor plate and power load

1 System Cot Fastener Mount
- Center (Standard)

The cot fastener shall be center mounted in the patient module.

1 Set Seat - Attendant Child 3
Point Safety - Gunmetal

Gray w Swivel Base
- Wise (Standard)

Attendant seat with child safety seat, 3 point harness and
swivel base shall be located at the head end of the primary cot.

1 System Riser - Stainless
Steel - Interior

HVAC SYSTEM

1 System AC - 12 Volt - Ducted
with Bottom Mount

Condenser (Standard)

Hoseline brushless 12VDC HVAC system located on the front bulkhead
and shall be ducted down the ceiling of the patient compartment.

1 Each Exhaust Fan The patient compartment shall be ventilated with fresh outside
air via one (1) static intake vent and one (1) power exhaust vent.

2 Each Cowl Vent An aluminum cowl vent shall be provided
on the exterior to cover the intake vent.

Page 11 of 12

180

Item XI. 7.



1 Each Filter - Hepa A hepa filter shall be installed in the HVAC intake.

WE LOOK FORWARD TO BUILDING THIS AMAZING VEHICLE FOR YOUR DEPARTMENT!

Page 12 of 12

181

Item XI. 7.



Staff Report 

 
Subject: Consideration to approve Amendment 2 for the agreement with The City of Pooler for 
the use of an inmate work detail  
Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent. 
Department: Purchasing and Prison 
Meeting Date: June 20, 2023 
Item Description: Inmate Work Detail Agreement with the City of Pooler 
 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of Amendment 2 for the Agreement 
between the City of Pooler and Effingham County for the use of an inmate work detail 
 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 The County currently has an Agreement in place with the City of Pooler for the use of an 
inmate work detail.  The term of the Agreement is July 1, 2017 to June 30, 2018 with 
additional one-year renewals at the end of each term unless otherwise cancelled. 

 Effingham County provides a Correctional Supervisor to supervise the work crew.  The City 
of Pooler will reimburse the County for the cost of employing the Correctional Supervisor. 

 The City of Pooler supplies the ride vehicle and the tools required to perform the 
maintenance activities. 

 The City of Pooler pays for fuel to run the vehicle and equipment. 

 The City of Pooler pays for the maintenance of the vehicle and equipment. 

 The City of Pooler provides all equipment and tools, including safety equipment. 

 The cost of the agreement to the City of Pooler is $75,000.00 per year, which includes the 
cost of employing the Correctional Supervisor. Amendment 1 increases this fee to 
$80,000.00 due to the increased average in the CO salary, and Amendment 2 increases this 
fee to $85,000.  

 The Agreement can be terminated at any time, by either party with 90 days written notice to 
the other party. 

 The City Manager of Pooler has confirmed that the City would like to renew the Agreement 
for an additional one year term. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Consideration to approve Amendment 2 for the agreement with The City of Pooler for the 
use of an inmate work detail.  

2. Cancel the Agreement between the City of Pooler and Effingham County for an inmate work 
detail. 

  

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: Purchasing & Prison 

Funding Source: All costs to administer the Agreement are paid by the City of Pooler. 
 

Attachments:  
1. Work detail Agreement 
2. Amendment 1 and 2 

 
 

182

Item XI. 8.



183

Item XI. 8.



184

Item XI. 8.



185

Item XI. 8.

fcharleton
Sticky Note
Annual renewal on July 1st each year with BOC approval



186

Item XI. 8.



187

Item XI. 8.



 
Amendment No. _2_to the 
Inmate Labor Agreement 
Executed May 16th, 2017 

between 
Board of Commissioners of Effingham County 

and 
The City of Pooler, Georgia 

 

 
THIS AMENDMENT NO.  __2__ (the "Amendment") is entered into this ____ day of _____________ , 2023 by and 

between the County of Effingham (“COUNTY”) with offices at 804 S Laurel Street, Springfield, GA 31329 and The City 

of Pooler, Georgia (“CITY OF POOLER”) with offices at 100 US-80, Pooler, GA. 31322. 

 

WHEREAS, THE COUNTY and the CITY OF POOLER entered into an Agreement dated May 16, 2017 for Inmate Labor 

(as amended, the “Agreement”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the parties desire to amend the provisions of the Agreement; and 

 

NOW, THERFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and of the mutual promises in the Agreement, and for other good 

and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as set 

forth below.   

1. Term: This Amendment allows for the Contract to renew for one (1) additional year commencing upon completion 
of the current term, July 1, 2023 and ending on June 30, 2024. 
 

2. Fee:  This Amendment allows for an increase of five thousand dollars ($5,000), bringing the agreement total to 
eighty-five thousand dollars ($85,000) for FY24.  

 

3. Except as specifically set forth herein, all other terms and provisions of the Agreement shall remain unaffected 
by this Amendment and continue in full force and effect. 

 

 

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment No. __2___ to be signed by their duly 

authorized representatives the day and year first written above. 
 

 
      The City of Pooler, Georgia                      Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

 
 

By: __________________________________   By: __________________________________ 
  

 
      Printed Name: _________________________         Printed Name: Wesley Corbitt____________ 

 
 

Title: ________________________________    Title: Chairman_________________________ 
 
 

Dated: _______________________________    Dated:_______________________________ 

 

188

Item XI. 8.



Staff Report 

 
Subject: Approval of Amendment 2 to the agreement with The City of Guyton for the use of an 
inmate work detail 
Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 
Department: Purchasing / Prison 
Meeting Date: June 20, 2023 
Item Description: Approval of Amendment 2 to the agreement with The City of Guyton for the 
use of an inmate work detail 
 
Summary Recommendation: Staff recommend Approval of Amendment 2 to the agreement 
with The City of Guyton for the use of an inmate work detail. 
 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 The County currently has an Agreement in place with the City of Guyton for the use of 
an inmate work detail.   

 Effingham County provides a Correctional Supervisor to supervise the work crew.  Per 
Amendment 2, the City of Guyton will reimburse the County $65,565 for the cost of 
employing the Correctional Supervisor. The City was given a 3% discount per the 
Service Delivery Strategy, with the full average salary/benefits being $64,500. 

 The City of Guyton supplies the ride vehicle and the tools required to perform the 
maintenance activities. 

 The City of Guyton pays for fuel to run the vehicle and equipment. 

 The City of Guyton pays for the maintenance of the vehicle and equipment. 

 The Agreement can be terminated at any time with 90 days’ written notice to The City of 
Guyton. 

 The County Attorney has previously reviewed and approved to form the agreement. 
 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Board approval of Amendment 2 for the Agreement between the City of Guyton and 
Effingham County for the use of an inmate work detail  

2. Do not approve Amendment 2 for the Agreement between the City of Guyton and Effingham 
County for the use of an inmate work detail  

  
Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: Purchasing & Prison 

Funding Source: All costs to administer the Agreement are paid by the City of Guyton. 
 
Attachments:  
Work Detail Agreement. 

 

189

Item XI. 9.



190

Item XI. 9.



191

Item XI. 9.



192

Item XI. 9.



193

Item XI. 9.



194

Item XI. 9.



195

Item XI. 9.



196

Item XI. 9.



197

Item XI. 9.



 
Amendment No. _2_to the 
Inmate Labor Agreement 

Executed December 1, 2020 
between 

Board of Commissioners of Effingham County 
and 

The City of Guyton, Georgia 
 

 
THIS AMENDMENT NO.  __2_ (the "Amendment") is entered into this ____ day of _____________ , 2023 by and 

between the County of Effingham (“COUNTY”) with offices at 804 S Laurel Street, Guyton, GA 31329 and The City of 

Guyton, Georgia (“CITY OF GUYTON”) with offices at 310 Central Blvd, Guyton, GA 31312. 

 

WHEREAS, THE COUNTY and the CITY OF GUYTON entered into an Agreement dated December 1, 2020 for Inmate 

Labor (as amended, the “Agreement”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the parties desire to amend the provisions of the Agreement; and 

 

NOW, THERFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and of the mutual promises in the Agreement, and for other good 

and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as set 

forth below.   

1. Term: This Amendment allows for the Contract to renew for one (1) additional year commencing upon completion 
of the current term, July 1, 2023 and ending on June 30, 2024. 
 

2. Fee:  The salaries for Correctional Officers have increased. The average salary/benefits (as defined in the 
Inmate Agreement) is currently $64,500. Based on the Service Delivery Strategy, Guyton will receive a 3% credit 
against that total, bringing the amount to $62,565.00.  

 

3. Except as specifically set forth herein, all other terms and provisions of the Agreement shall remain unaffected 
by this Amendment and continue in full force and effect. 

 

 

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment No. __2___ to be signed by their duly 

authorized representatives the day and year first written above. 
 

 
      The City of Guyton, Georgia                      Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

 
 

By: __________________________________   By: __________________________________ 
  

 
      Printed Name: _________________________         Printed Name: Wesley Corbitt____________ 

 
 

Title: ________________________________    Title: Chairman_________________________ 
 
 

Dated: _______________________________    Dated:_______________________________ 

 

198

Item XI. 9.



Staff Report 

 
Subject: Consideration to approve Amendment 2 for the agreement with The City of Rincon for 
the use of an inmate work detail. 
Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 
Department: Purchasing / Prison 
Meeting Date: June 20, 2023 
Item Description: Amendment 2 for the agreement with The City of Rincon for the use of an 
inmate work detail 
 
Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends to approve Amendment 2 for the agreement 
with The City of Rincon for the use of an inmate work detail. 
 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 The County currently has an Agreement in place with the City of Rincon for the use of an 
inmate work detail.  The term of the Agreement is July 1 2016 to June 30 2017 with 
additional one-year renewals at the end of each term unless otherwise cancelled. 

 Effingham County provides a Correctional to supervise the work crew.  Per Amendment 
2, The City of Rincon will reimburse the County $54,825 for the cost of employing the 
Correctional Supervisor, which includes a 15% credit against the average salary per the 
Service Deliver Strategy.   

 The City of Rincon supplies the ride vehicle and the tools required to perform the 
maintenance activities. 

 The City of Rincon pays for fuel to run the vehicle and equipment. 

 The City of Rincon pays for the maintenance of the vehicle and equipment. 

 The Agreement can be terminated at any time with 90 days written notice to The City of 
Rincon. 

 The County Attorney has previously reviewed and approved to form the agreement. 
 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Board approval of Amendment 2 for the agreement with The City of Rincon for the use of an 
inmate work detail.  

2. Do not approve Amendment 2 for the agreement with The City of Rincon for the use of an 
inmate work detail and terminate agreement. 

  
Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: Purchasing & Prison 

Funding Source: All costs to administer the Agreement are paid by the City of Rincon. 
 
Attachments:  
Work Detail Agreement. 

 

199

Item XI. 10.



200

Item XI. 10.



201

Item XI. 10.



202

Item XI. 10.

fcharleton
Sticky Note
Check this salary annually



203

Item XI. 10.

fcharleton
Sticky Note
Can be renwed annually



204

Item XI. 10.



 
Amendment No. _2_to the 
Inmate Labor Agreement 
Executed June 21, 2016 

between 
Board of Commissioners of Effingham County 

and 
The City of Rincon, Georgia 

 

 
THIS AMENDMENT NO.  __2__ (the "Amendment") is entered into this ____ day of _____________ , 2023 by and 

between the County of Effingham (“COUNTY”) with offices at 804 S Laurel Street, Springfield, GA 31329 and The City 

of Rincon, Georgia (“CITY OF RINCON”) with offices at 302 S Columbia Ave, Rincon, GA 31326. 

 

WHEREAS, THE COUNTY and the CITY OF RINCON entered into an Agreement dated June 21, 2016 for Inmate Labor 

(as amended, the “Agreement”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the parties desire to amend the provisions of the Agreement; and 

 

NOW, THERFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and of the mutual promises in the Agreement, and for other good 

and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as set 

forth below.   

1. Term: This Amendment allows for the Contract to renew for one (1) additional year commencing upon completion 
of the current term, July 1, 2023 and ending on June 30, 2024. 
 

2. Fee:  The salaries for Correctional Officers have increased. The average salary/benefits (as defined in the 
Inmate Agreement) is currently $64,500. Based on the Service Delivery Strategy, Rincon will receive a 15% 
credit against that total, bringing the amount to $54,825.00  

 

3. Except as specifically set forth herein, all other terms and provisions of the Agreement shall remain unaffected 
by this Amendment and continue in full force and effect. 

 

 

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment No. __2___ to be signed by their duly 

authorized representatives the day and year first written above. 
 

 
      The City of Rincon, Georgia                      Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

 
 

By: __________________________________   By: __________________________________ 
  

 
      Printed Name: _________________________         Printed Name: Wesley Corbitt____________ 

 
 

Title: ________________________________    Title: Chairman_________________________ 
 
 

Dated: _______________________________    Dated:_______________________________ 

 

205

Item XI. 10.



Staff Report 

 
Subject: Approval of Amendment 2 to the agreement with The City of Springfield for the use of 
an inmate work detail 
Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 
Department: Purchasing / Prison 
Meeting Date: June 20, 2023 
Item Description: Approval of Amendment 2 to the agreement with The City of Springfield for 
the use of an inmate work detail 
 
Summary Recommendation: Staff recommend Approval of Amendment 2 to the agreement 
with The City of Springfield for the use of an inmate work detail. 
 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 The County currently has an Agreement in place with the City of Springfield for the use 
of an inmate work detail.  The term of the Agreement is April 1 2017 to June 30 2017 
with additional one-year renewals at the end of each term unless otherwise cancelled. 

 Effingham County provides a Correctional Supervisor to supervise the work crew.  Per 
Amendment 2, the City of Springfield will reimburse the County $62,565 for the cost of 
employing the Correctional Supervisor. The City was given a 3% discount per the 
Service Delivery Strategy, with the full average salary/benefits being $64,500. 

 The City of Springfield supplies the ride vehicle and the tools required to perform the 
maintenance activities. 

 The City of Springfield pays for fuel to run the vehicle and equipment. 

 The City of Springfield pays for the maintenance of the vehicle and equipment. 

 The Agreement can be terminated at any time with 90 days written notice to The City of 
Springfield. 

 The County Attorney has previously reviewed and approved to form the agreement. 
 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Board approval of Amendment 2 for the Agreement between the City of Springfield and 
Effingham County for the use of an inmate work detail  

2. Do not approve Amendment 2 for the Agreement between the City of Springfield and 
Effingham County for the use of an inmate work detail  

  
Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: Purchasing & Prison 

Funding Source: All costs to administer the Agreement are paid by the City of Springfield. 
 
Attachments:  
Work Detail Agreement. 

 

206

Item XI. 11.



207

Item XI. 11.



208

Item XI. 11.



209

Item XI. 11.



210

Item XI. 11.



211

Item XI. 11.

fcharleton
Sticky Note
Annual renewals at City's request with BOC approval



212

Item XI. 11.



213

Item XI. 11.



 
Amendment No. _2_to the 
Inmate Labor Agreement 

Executed February 21, 2017 
between 

Board of Commissioners of Effingham County 
and 

The City of Springfield, Georgia 
 

 
THIS AMENDMENT NO.  __2__ (the "Amendment") is entered into this ____ day of _____________ , 2023 by and 

between the County of Effingham (“COUNTY”) with offices at 804 S Laurel Street, Springfield, GA 31329 and The City 

of Springfield, Georgia (“CITY OF SPRINGFIELD”) with offices at 130 S. Laurel Street, Springfield, GA 31329. 

 

WHEREAS, THE COUNTY and the CITY OF SPRINGFIELD entered into an Agreement dated February 21, 2017 for 

Inmate Labor (as amended, the “Agreement”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the parties desire to amend the provisions of the Agreement; and 

 

NOW, THERFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and of the mutual promises in the Agreement, and for other good 

and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as set 

forth below.   

1. Term: This Amendment allows for the Contract to renew for one (1) additional year commencing upon completion 
of the current term, July 1, 2023 and ending on June 30, 2024. 
 

2. Fee:  The salaries for Correctional Officers have increased. The average salary/benefits (as defined in the 
Inmate Agreement) is currently $64,500. Based on the Service Delivery Strategy, Springfield will receive a 3% 
credit against that total, bringing the amount to $62,565.00 

 

3. Except as specifically set forth herein, all other terms and provisions of the Agreement shall remain unaffected 
by this Amendment and continue in full force and effect. 

 

 

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment No. __2___ to be signed by their duly 

authorized representatives the day and year first written above. 
 

 
      The City of Springfield, Georgia                      Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

 
 

By: __________________________________   By: __________________________________ 
  

 
      Printed Name: _________________________         Printed Name: Wesley Corbitt____________ 

 
 

Title: ________________________________    Title: Chairman_________________________ 
 
 

Dated: _______________________________    Dated:_______________________________ 

 

214

Item XI. 11.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of Amendment 1 to the Old Augusta Road Water and Sewer 

Development Agreement between Effingham County and Cowan Investments, LLC 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department:  

Meeting Date: June 20, 2023  

Item Description: Amendment 1 to the Old Augusta Road Water and Sewer 

Development Agreement between Effingham County and Cowan Investments, LLC 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends Approval of the Amendment to the 

Old Augusta Road Water and Sewer Development Agreement  

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 In February 2022, the Board approved the Old Augusta Road Water and Sewer 

Development Agreement with Cowan Investments to allow for a cost-share on 

the design and construction to extend water and sanitary sewer service to their 

site on Old Augusta Road.  

 Cowan Investments has provided an updated budget for construction which 

increases the County share from $700,500.00 to $1,333,195.42.  

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of Amendment 1 to the Old Augusta Road Water and Sewer 

Development Agreement between Effingham County and Cowan Investments, 

LLC 

2. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: County Manager 

Funding Source: Water/Sewer Operating Fund 

Attachments:  

1. Old Augusta Road Water and Sewer Development Agreement 

2. Updated Budget  

3. Amendment 

 

 

 

 

215

Item XI. 12.



216

Item XI. 12.



217

Item XI. 12.



218

Item XI. 12.



219

Item XI. 12.



220

Item XI. 12.



221

Item XI. 12.



222

Item XI. 12.



223

Item XI. 12.



224

Item XI. 12.



225

Item XI. 12.



226

Item XI. 12.



227

Item XI. 12.



Qty Unit Unit Price Total

33 Utilities

Within 1,000'

* Fire Water Credit - Original Budgeted Scope -1 LS $178,960.00 -$178,960.00

* Sanitary Sewer Credit - Original Budgeted Scope -1 LS $361,775.00 -$361,775.00

* Building 1 & 2 Wetwell 1 EA $221,900.00 $221,900.00

* Utility Pipe Backfill 153 TN $121.93 $18,655.29

* Shared 25% - Mobilization, Supervision, Survey, Traffic Control, ETC 0.25 LS $323,333.53 $80,833.38

* Erosion Control Logs 4,000 LF $9.77 $39,080.00

* Temp Seeding & Mulch 2 AC $2,051.54 $4,103.08

* Perm. Grassing (Seed) 2 AC $3,363.03 $6,726.06

* 12" C900 DR18 Water 176 LF $136.42 $24,009.92

* 12" Ductile 100 LF $163.16 $16,316.00

* 24" Jack & Bore Steel Case (0.375) 55 LF $1,007.12 $55,391.60

* 16" C905 DR18 Water 1,000 LF $225.45 $225,450.00

* 16" Butterfly Valve in Manhole 2 EA $23,595.13 $47,190.26

* 16" Cap (End of Main) 1 EA $2,407.29 $2,407.29

* 16x12 Tee 1 EA $4,197.21 $4,197.21

* 12" Gate Valve in Manhole 1 EA $17,081.90 $17,081.90

* 12" Cap (at ROW Line) 1 EA $1,824.61 $1,824.61

* Fire Hydrant 2 EA $15,032.51 $30,065.02

* Testing 1 LS $14,322.78 $14,322.78

* 4" C900 SDR 21 Sanitary Force Main 1,000 LF $42.25 $42,250.00

* 4" 22.5 Bend Sanitary 4 EA $885.75 $3,543.00

* Testing Sanitary 1 EA $2,500.00 $2,500.00

* Sub Bond 1% EA $496,072.40 $4,960.72

Subtotal: $322,073.13 

Fee/Insurance: 5.15% $16,586.77 

Budget Total: $338,659.89 

Outside 1,000'

* Utility Pipe Backfill 548 TN $121.93 $66,817.64

* Shared 75% - Mobilization, Supervision, Survey, Traffic Control, ETC 0.75 LS $323,333.53 $242,500.15

* Erosion Control Logs 10,220 LF $9.77 $99,849.40

* Temp Seeding & Mulch 3 AC $2,051.54 $6,154.62

* Perm Grassing (Seed) 3 AC $3,363.03 $10,089.09

* Asphalt Pvmt Removal 3" 515 SY $17.31 $8,914.65

* Remove 30" Curb 20 LF $41.74 $834.80

* Sawcut Asphalt Pavement 886 LF $5.47 $4,846.42

* 16" C-905 DR18 Water 1,300 LF $225.45 $293,085.00

* Connect to Existing 1 EA $8,428.56 $8,428.56

* 16" Butterfly Valve in Manhole 2 EA $23,595.13 $47,190.26

* 16" 22.5 Bend 2 EA $2,987.63 $5,975.26

* 16" 11.5 Bend 9 EA $3,047.49 $27,427.41

* Fire Hydrant 1 EA $15,032.51 $15,032.51

* ARV in Manhole 2 EA $14,407.85 $28,815.70

* Testing 1 EA $18,986.02 $18,986.02

* 4" C-900 SDR 21 Sanitary Force Main 5,851 LF $42.25 $247,204.75

* Connect to Existing Sanitary 1 EA $3,779.87 $3,779.87

* Check Valve in Manhole 1 EA $14,244.26 $14,244.26

* 4" 22.5 Bend 9 EA $885.75 $7,971.75

* 4" 11.5 Bend 2 EA $878.76 $1,757.52

* 4" Vertical Offset 2 EA $12,808.71 $25,617.42

* 4" 45 Bend 2 EA $850.47 $1,700.94

* 4" Cap (At ROW Line) 1 EA $477.14 $477.14

* Testing 1 EA $9,503.55 $9,503.55

* Repair Driveways 7"GABC/2" Asph 460 SY $88.02 $40,489.20

* Repair Abercorn Rd. 6" Concr. 1.5" Asph Srf. 55 SY $123.37 $6,785.35

* Replace 30" Curb & Gutter 20 LF $170.97 $3,419.40

* Sub Bond 1 LS $20,000.00 $20,000.00

Subtotal: $1,267,898.64 

Fee/Insurance: 5.15% $65,296.78 

Budget Total: $1,333,195.42 

OFFSITE CHANGES

Old Augusta Rd - Cowan Investments

Rincon GA 31326

10.5.22

228

Item XI. 12.



 
Amendment No. _1_to the 

Old Augusta Road Water and Sewer Development Agreement 
Executed February 16th, 2022 

between 
Board of Commissioners of Effingham County 

and 
Cowan Investments, LLC 

 

 
THIS AMENDMENT NO.  __1__ (the "Amendment") is entered into this ____ day of _____________ , 2023 by and 

between the County of Effingham (“COUNTY”) with offices at 804 S Laurel Street, Springfield, GA 31329 and 

Cowan Investments, LLC. 

 

WHEREAS, THE COUNTY and Cowan Investments, LLC entered into a Contract dated February 16th, 2022 for the 

Old Augusta Road Water and Sewer Development Agreement (as amended, the “Contract”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the parties desire to amend the provisions of the Contract; and 

 

NOW, THERFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and of the mutual promises in the Contract, and for other good 

and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as set 

forth below.    

 

1. Fee: The construction cost has increased from $700,500.00 to $1,333,195.42 (an increase of $632,695.42). 
 
 

2. Except as specifically set forth herein, all other terms and provisions of the Agreement shall remain unaffected 
by this Amendment and continue in full force and effect. 

 

 

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment No. __1___ to be signed by their duly 

authorized representatives the day and year first written above. 
 

 
      Cowan Investments, LLC                         Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

 
 

By: __________________________________   By: __________________________________ 
  

 
      Printed Name: _________________________         Printed Name: Wesley Corbitt____________ 

 
 

Title: ________________________________    Title: Chairman_________________________ 
 
 

Dated: _______________________________    Dated:_______________________________ 

 

229

Item XI. 12.



 

 

Staff Report 
Subject:    City of Rincon Annexation - Map# 475 Parcel# 57A 

Author:  Stephanie Johnson, County Clerk 

Department:  Administration 

Meeting Date: June 20, 2023 

Item Description: Consideration to approve a petition requesting Annexation as submitted 

by the City of Rincon for a property located along Old Augusta Road South Map# 475 Parcel# 

57A 

 

Summary Recommendation: 

According to an aerial photography provided by Effingham County GIS data, there are other 

contiguous properties to the parcel noted in the petition. 

 

Executive Summary: 

As required under state law O.C.G.A §36-36-6 upon accepting an application for annexation 

or a petition for annexation, the governing authority of the annexing municipality shall provide 

written notice to the governing authority of the county where the proposed annexation is 

located.  

 

Background: 

Annexation documentation was received via certified mail from the City of Rincon.  This parcel 

identified as Map# 475 Parcel# 57A consisting of 5.08 acres is located off of Old Augusta Road 

South and is owned by Mahanaim Shipping Line, LLC 

1. This property lies within the Rincon water and sewer service area. 
2. The parcel is currently zoned B-3, it proposed zoning if annexed will be LN (Light 

Industrial).   
 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Approve the Petition Requesting Annexation as presented by the City of Rincon.  
2. Do not approve the Petition Requesting Annexation. 

 
Recommended Alternative: Staff recommends Alternative 1  

 

Other Alternatives: N/A Department Review: Administration  

 

Funding Source: No funding is required related to this request.  

 

Attachments: 

1. Petition for Annexation 
2. Aerial Map (depicting city boundary) 

 

230

Item XI. 13.



231

Item XI. 13.



232

Item XI. 13.



233

Item XI. 13.



234

Item XI. 13.



235

Item XI. 13.



236

Item XI. 13.



237

Item XI. 13.



475-21

475-23
475-25A

475-19

R276-1

475-55
475-53

475-54

475-28

475-20

475-27A
475-27B475-27

475-57

475-26
475-70

475-58B03 475-58A

475-58B01

475-59

GRACE LN

FT
HO

WAR
D RD

OLD AUGUSTA RD S

475-57A

ECBOC
0 500 1,000 1,500 2,000250

Feet

1 inch = 250 feet

Legend
Road Centerlines

Interstate
Arterial
Collector
Local
County Parcels
Municipal Boundary

Proposed Parcel Annexation 
475-57A

FT
HO

WAR
D RD

OLD AUGUSTA RD S

Vicinity Map

³

238

Item XI. 13.


	Top
	Item IX. 1.	SRO IGA Renewal
	1.  Staff Report - School Resource Officers - 2023-2024
	2.  Intergovernmental Agreement - ECBOE Resource Officer 10-2-2018

	Item IX. 2.	Fire Agreement - Springfield
	1.  Staff Report (NEW) - 2021 - City of Springfield - Fire Protection UPDATED
	2.  Springfield Fire Agreement_05052015

	Item IX. 3.	Fire Services - Guyton
	1. Staff Report- City of Guyton Fire Services
	2. Guyton Fire Services 9-17-2019

	Item IX. 4.	Termination Letter for Lease with City of Guyton
	1. Staff Report Guyton Fire Lease
	4. Termination of Lease Letter - Guyton

	Item IX. 5.	EMS Billing Renewal
	1 Staff Report EMS Billing
	1 Tarheel Medical Billing - Fully Executed Contract

	Item IX. 6.	Inmate Agreement - City of Port Wentworth
	1. Staff Report - City of Port Wentworth Inmate Detail
	2. Signed Effingham Inmate Agreement 7.12.22 (COPW Signatures)

	Item IX. 7.	T&H Renewal
	1. Staff Report Template
	2. 2023-060_Thomas & Hutton TO_02072023
	4. Amendment 1 - TH Program Management_kms

	Item IX. 8.	Approval of New Job Title and Job Description for EMS
	New Job Description_Emergency Medical Services_June 2023
	Field Training Officer

	Item IX. 9.	CRC Appointment
	CRC Council_sr
	Effingham Non Public 2023
	CRC Board Member Application

	Item IX. 10.	DFCS Board
	DFCS_sr
	DFCS Board

	Item IX. 11.	DPH_Board of Health appointment
	DPH_sr
	DPH Reappointment Letter_Nease

	Item X. 1.	2nd Reading - Hwy 80 Warehouse
	2nd Reading - Hwy 80 Warehouse
	10b

	Item X. 2.	Highway 80 Warehouse - Sketch Plan
	Highway 80 Warehouse Sketch Plan Application
	Highway 80 Warehouse - Sketch Plan

	Item X. 3.	2nd Reading - Jay Maupin - Conditional Use
	2nd Reading - Jay Maupin Conditional Use
	Jay Maupin - Conditional Use

	Item X. 4.	2nd Reading - Jay Maupin - Variance
	2nd Reading - Jay Maupin Variance
	Jay Maupin - Variance

	Item X. 5.	Jay Maupin - "Dickey Tract" - Sketch Plan
	Dickey Tract - Sketch Plan Application
	Dickey Tract - Sketch Plan

	Item XI. 1.	Timber Operations Ordinance
	ARTICLE_VIII.___TIMBER_OPERATIONS_current version
	Chapter 30 Article VIII - Timber Operations Ordinance
	A RESOLUTION AND ORDINANCE BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF EFFINGHAM CO...

	Item XI. 2.	Ordinance Amendment_Appendix C
	ARTICLE XI - Appeal of Zoning Decision
	ARTICLE II - Definitions - revised
	ARTICLE IX - 9.4 - procedure for conducting a public hearing - revisions

	Item XI. 3.	Resolution to amend the Schedule of Fees - big update with many changes
	staff report - schedule of fees update 2023
	Schedule of Fees proposed changes 6-20-23

	Item XI. 4.	Resolution to set the sanitation fee - contains a wording change but no dollar change
	staff report -sanitation fee resolution 2023
	Resolution - Sanitation Fee Resolution 2023

	Item XI. 5.	Resolution to adopt the 2023 fire fees - contains dollar changes
	staff report - fire fee resolution 2023
	Resolution - Fire Fees 2023

	Item XI. 6.	EMS Expansion/Prison Maintenance Construction
	1. Staff Report Template
	2. McWright Contract (1)
	3. Bid Tabulation

	Item XI. 7.	Type III Ambulance
	1. Staff Report Template
	2. PO Q-00445-1

	Item XI. 8.	Inmate Agreement - City of Pooler
	1. Staff Report (NEW) - City of Pooler Inmate Detail
	2.  City of Pooler Inmate Agreement 05162017 - FULLY EXECUTED
	3. 2022-295_City of Pooler inmate work detail_Amendement 1_06072022
	4. Amendment 2

	Item XI. 9.	Inmate Agreement - City of Guyton
	1.  Staff Report (NEW) - 2021 - City of Guyton - Inmate Work Crew UPDATED
	2. Guyton Inmate Labor Agreement 12-01-2020
	2022-297_City of Guyton inmate work detail_06072022
	Amendment 2 - Guyton Inmate Agreement

	Item XI. 10.	Inmate Agreement - City of Rincon
	1.  Staff Report (NEW) - 2020 - City of Rincon - Inmate Work Crew CORRECT
	2.  City of Rincon Inmate Agreement  - FULLY EXECUTED
	3. 2022-296_City of Rincon inmate work detail_Amendment 1_06072022
	3. Amendment 2 - Rincon Inmate Agreement

	Item XI. 11.	Inmate Agreement - City of Springfield
	1.  Staff Report (NEW) - 2021 - City of Springfield - Inmate Work Crew UPDATED
	2.  City of Springfield Inmate Agreement - Fully Executed
	3. 2022-06-07_ Amendment to Inmate Labor Agreement with Effingham County
	4. Amendment 2 - Springfield Inmate Agreement

	Item XI. 12.	OAR - Cowan
	1. Staff Report Template
	2. Old Augusta Road WS Development Agreement
	3. OAR - Budget Update Offsite 12.1.22
	4. Amendment Template

	Item XI. 13.	City of Rincon Annexation
	Annexation sr_
	City of Rincon_Annexation 475-57A
	Parcel 475-57A Vicinity Map

	Bottom

